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NOTES 
  

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Report”), and unless the context otherwise requires, “Fathom,” “we,” 
“us,” “our,” “the Company,” “our Company” and “our business” refer to Fathom Holdings Inc. and its direct and indirect 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020, taken as a whole. 
  

We have a registered trademark with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) for the name and 
logo of “intelliAgent” and “Fathom Realty”, as they relate to real estate and associated industries. All other trade names, 
trademarks and service marks appearing in this Report are the property of their respective owners. We have assumed that the 
reader understands that all such terms are source-indicating. Accordingly, such terms, when first mentioned in this Report, 
appear with the trade name, trademark or service mark notice and then throughout the remainder of this Report without trade 
name, trademark or service mark notices for convenience only and should not be construed as being used in a descriptive or 
generic sense. 
   

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
  

 This Report contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements, other 
than statements of historical facts, included in this Report regarding our strategy, future operations, future product research or 
development, future financial position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management, are 
forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “goals,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” 
“plan,” “predict,” “project,” “target,” “potential,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue,” “forecast” and similar 
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these 
identifying words. Forward-looking statements in this Report include, but are not limited to, statements about: 

  
 · our ability to remain an innovative leader in the real estate industry; 
     
 · whether or not we are able to effectively manage rapid growth in our business; 
    
 · the risks associated with the COVID-19 pandemic; 
     
 · our ability to grow in the various local markets that we serve; 
     
 · whether or not we are successful in identifying and pursuing new business opportunities; 
     
 · our value proposition for agents, including allowing them to keep more of their commissions than traditional 

companies do, and receive equity in our Company; 
    
 · our ability to make sure agents understand our value proposition so that we are able to attract, retain and 

incentivize agents; 
    
 · our ability to attract and retain additional qualified agents and other personnel; 
     
 · the risks associated with making meaningful comparisons of successive quarters; 
     
 · our ability to protect the privacy of employees, independent contractors, or consumers or personal information 

that they share with us so that we do not harm our reputation and business; 
     
 · our ability to be able to expand, maintain and improve the systems and technologies upon which we rely on to 

operate; 
    
 · our ability to prevent security breaches, cybersecurity incidents, and interruptions, delays and failures in our 

systems and operations; 
     
 · if we fail to maintain compliance with the law and regulations of federal, state, foreign, county governmental 

authorities, or private associations and governing boards; 
     
 · our ability to remediate the material weaknesses identified in our internal controls over financial reporting; 
     
 · the risks associated with the loss of our current executive officers or other key management; 
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 · the risks associated with employee or agent litigation and unfavorable publicity; 
     
 · our ability to protect intellectual property rights; 
    
 · our ability to be able to evaluate potential vendors, suppliers and other business partners for acquisition in order 

to accelerate growth; 
    
 · our future revenues and growth prospects and our dependence on other contractors; 
    
 · our non-GAAP operating performance, as reported using Adjusted EBITDA, which is not equivalent to net 

income (loss) from operations as determined under GAAP; 
  
 · the risks associated with litigation filed by or against us, and adverse results therefrom; 
     
 · our ability to manage technology that is currently being developed in foreign countries, including Brazil, which 

makes us subject to certain risks associated with foreign laws and regulations; and 
     
 · other forward-looking statements discussed elsewhere in this Report. 
  

We might not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you 
should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the 
plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking statements we make. We have included important factors 
in the cautionary statements included in this Report, particularly in the section titled “Risk Factors” included in Item 1A of 
Part I of this Report, that we believe could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking 
statements that we make. The environment in which we operate is highly competitive and rapidly changing and it is not 
possible for our management to predict all risks, as new risks emerge from time to time, such as the rapidly evolving 
environment and uncertainties relating to the outbreak of a novel strain of coronavirus that causes COVID-19. The 
coronavirus continues to spread globally and was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020. 
Given the volatility of the global environment as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the effect of COVID-19 will 
not be fully reflected in our results of operations and financial performance until future periods. 

  
Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect new 

information or future events or developments. You should therefore not rely on these forward-looking statements as 
representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Report. You also should not assume that our silence over 
time means that actual events are bearing out as expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements. 
  

SUMMARY OF RISK FACTORS 
  

Our business is subject to significant risks and uncertainties that make an investment in us speculative and risky. 
Below we summarize what we believe are the principal risk factors, but these risk factors are not the only ones we face, and 
you should carefully review and consider the full discussion of our risk factors in the section titled “Risk Factors” included in 
Item 1A of Part I of this Report, together with the other information in this Report. If any of the following risks actually 
occurs (or if any of those listed elsewhere in this Report occur), our business, reputation, financial conditions, results of 
operations, revenue, and future prospects could be seriously harmed. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware 
of, or that we currently believe are not material, might also become important factors that adversely affect our business. 

  
Risks Related to Our Business 
  
 · If we do not remain an innovative leader in the real estate industry, we might not be able to grow our business and 

leverage our costs to achieve profitability; 
      
 · We might not be able to effectively manage rapid growth in our business; 
    
 · The COVID-19 pandemic might have a material adverse effect on our businesses, financial condition, results of 

operations, and liquidity; 
      
 · If we fail to grow in the various local markets that we serve or are unsuccessful in identifying and pursuing new 

business opportunities our long-term prospects and profitability will be harmed; 
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 · Our value proposition for agents includes allowing them to keep more of their commissions than traditional 

companies do, and receive equity in our Company, which is not typical in the real estate industry. If agents do not 
understand our value proposition, we might not be able to attract, retain and incentivize agents; 

    
 · We might not be able to attract and retain additional qualified agents and other personnel; 
    
 · We might be unable to maintain our agent growth rate, which would adversely affect our revenue growth and results 

of operations; 
    
 · If we fail to expand effectively into adjacent markets, our growth prospects could be harmed; 
    
 · We have a history of losses, and we might not be able to achieve or sustain profitability; 
    
 · Our recent revenue growth rates might not be indicative of our future growth, and we might not continue to grow at 

our recent pace, or at all; 
    
 · We currently are using and intend to continue to use Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, in 

reporting our annual and quarterly results of operations; however, Adjusted EBITDA is not equivalent to net income 
(loss) from operation as determined under GAAP, and shareholders may consider GAAP measures to be more 
relevant to our operating performance; 

    
 · We participate in a highly competitive market, and pressure from existing and new companies might adversely 

affect our business and operating results; 
    
 · Our operating results are subject to seasonality and vary significantly among quarters during each calendar year, 

making meaningful comparisons of successive quarters difficult; 
    
 · If we fail to protect the privacy of employees, independent contractors, or consumers or personal information that 

they share with us, our reputation and business could be significantly harmed; 
  
 · Our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to expand, maintain and improve the systems and 

technologies upon which we rely to operate; 
      
 · Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt our business operations, result in the loss of critical and confidential 

information, adversely impact our reputation and harm our business; 
    
 · Our business, financial condition and reputation may be substantially harmed by security breaches, interruptions, 

delays and failures in our systems and operations; 
    
 · We face significant risk to our brand and revenue if we fail to maintain compliance with the law and regulations of 

federal, state, foreign, or county governmental authorities, or private associations and governing boards; 
      
 · We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and we may identify additional 

material weaknesses in the future that may cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material 
misstatements of our financial statements. If we fail to remediate any material weaknesses or if we otherwise fail to 
establish and maintain effective control over financial reporting, our ability to accurately and timely report our 
financial results could be adversely affected; 

  
 · We are an “emerging growth company,” and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced reporting 

and disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive 
to investors; 

      
 · Loss of our current executive officers or other key management could significantly harm our business; 
    
 · Employee or agent litigation and unfavorable publicity could negatively affect our future business; 
      
 · Failure to protect intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business; 
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 · We may evaluate potential vendors, suppliers and other business partners for acquisition to accelerate growth but 
might not succeed in identifying suitable candidates or may acquire businesses that negatively impact us; 

      
 · Our future revenues and growth prospects could be adversely affected by our dependence on other contractors; 
    
 · We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available on acceptable 

terms, if at all; 
    
 · Growth might place significant demands on our management and our infrastructure; 
    
 · We are subject to certain risks related to litigation filed by or against us, and adverse results may harm our business 

and financial condition; 
    
 · Part of our technology is currently being developed in foreign countries, including Brazil, which makes us subject to 

certain risks associated with foreign laws and regulations. 
  
Risks Related to Our Industry 
  
 · Our results are tied to the residential real estate market and we may be negatively impacted by downturns in this 

market and general global economic conditions; 
      
 · A lack of financing for homebuyers in the U.S. residential real estate market at favorable rates and on favorable 

terms could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance and results of operations; 
      
 · The occurrence of natural or man-made disasters could adversely affect our operations, results of operations and 

financial condition. 
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Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock 
  
 · The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention, and affect our 

ability to attract and retain qualified board of director members; 
    
 · We might have contingent liability arising out of a possible violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act in connection 

with our use of the free-writing Prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 1, 2020; 
    
 · Our common stock price might fluctuate significantly, and the price of our common stock may be negatively 

impacted by factors which are unrelated to our operations; 
    
 · Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing, North Carolina state court is, to the 

fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our 
shareholders. These choice of forum provisions could limit the ability of shareholders to obtain a favorable judicial 
forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees; 

    
 · Because we do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our shares of common stock in the near future, our 

shareholders will not be able to receive a return on their shares unless they sell them; 
      
 · Future sales of shares of our common stock by existing shareholders could depress the market price of our common 

stock; 
    
 · Joshua Harley, our Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman of the Board, together with Marco Fregenal, 

our President and Chief Financial Officer, and a director, and Glenn Sampson, a significant shareholder and director, 
own a significant percentage of our stock, and as a result, they can take actions that may be adverse to the interests 
of the other shareholders and the trading price for our common stock may be depressed. 

      
 · If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our 

market, or if they change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely, our stock price and trading volume 
could decline. 

  
PART I 

Item 1. Business.  
  
Overview  
  

Fathom Holdings Inc. was incorporated in the state of North Carolina on May 5, 2017. We are a cloud-based, 
technology-driven platform-as-a-service company operating in the real estate industry. Our low-overhead business model 
leverages our proprietary software platform for management of real estate brokerage back-office functions, without the cost 
of physical brick and mortar offices or of redundant personnel. As a result, we are able to offer our agents the ability to keep 
significantly more of their commissions compared to traditional real estate brokerage firms. We believe we offer our agents 
some of the best technology, training, and support available in the industry. We also offer our agents valuable benefits, 
including equity in our Company if they achieve revenue and growth goals, as well as what we believe is relatively broad and 
affordable healthcare coverage. We believe our commission structure, business model and our focus on treating our agents 
well attract more agents and higher producing agents to join and stay with our Company. 

  
Our commission model is designed to empower real estate agents to build a more profitable business by allowing them to 

keep a high percentage of their commission without sacrificing support, technology, or training. We believe that by simply 
joining our company, agents from traditional model brokerages can increase their income by over 25% on average. More 
importantly, agents are able to take that increase and reinvest it into their marketing thereby increasing their number of 
transactions and revenue. 

  
Generally speaking, there are only two ways to make more money in real estate: increase revenue or decrease expenses. 

In a slowing housing market, it’s difficult to increase revenue when agents are fighting over a piece of a smaller pie. Our low 
flat transaction fee provides agents money to outspend their competition on marketing while netting the same amount of 
money as an agent at a traditional brokerage. With our low flat transaction fee, even during a decline in the housing market 
where home sales decline by 20%, we believe most real estate agents can net as much income as they did the year before at a 
traditional brokerage. In other words, they may close 20% fewer homes but could earn the same income as before. 
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Traditional brokerage companies retain between 20% and 50% in commission splits from their agents. Below is an 
example of a traditional brokerage company’s commission model assuming a 30% split, versus our commission model. This 
is an example of potential commission savings, and results similar to the example below are not guaranteed. 

  

  
  

We believe our commission model also allows agents to directly compete against discount brokerages and other 
disruptive new competitors. The flat transaction fee that we charge to our agents allows our agents to charge whatever 
commission they need to be highly competitive. 

  
We recognize revenue primarily through the commissions that our agents charge their clients. From the gross 

commission revenue, we keep a flat transaction fee of $450 and the remainder is paid to the agent. Annually for each agent, 
this $450 transaction fee is charged for the agent’s first 12 sales per agent’s anniversary year and then $99 per sale for the rest 
of their anniversary year. For leases, we recognize revenue through lease commissions negotiated between our agents and 
landlords, and we retain $85 per transaction and the remainder is paid to the agent. Each year, every agent also pays a fee of 
$500 on their first sale (recognized in Cost of Revenue over the year), which helps cover our operating costs such as 
technology, errors and omissions insurance, training, and oversight. In 2020, our average cost to recruit a new agent was 
$926 and our annual costs associated with each agent was $300, so we break even in an agent’s first year if he or she makes 
just two sales. 
  

In just nine years since we launched our company, we have grown rapidly with operations in 27 states or districts. We 
achieved gross revenue of approximately $177 million in 2020 in sales volume of real estate transactions of over $6.9 billion. 
As of December 31, 2020, we had 5,471 agents working for us. We have been named to the Inc. 500 list of fastest growing 
businesses in the United States each year from 2014 through 2017, and the Inc. 5000 for 2018 and 2019. 

  
In March of 2020, we were ranked the #11 largest independent real estate brokerage firm and the #20 overall largest 

brokerage firm in the United States. These rankings were published by The Real Trends Five Hundred based on several 
criteria including transaction sides, sales volume, affiliation, top movers, core services, and others. Fathom also was listed as 
the #2 Top Place to Work in Dallas Fort Worth in 2020 by the Dallas Morning News. 

  
In November of 2020, we finalized our acquisition of Verus Title Inc., a technology-based provider of title insurance 

services for the residential real estate market (“Verus”). Verus currently operates in 17 states, utilizing a virtual model with 
minimal offices, with plans for a full U.S. rollout over the long-term. We believe this acquisition has the potential to increase 
our revenue per agent and per transaction as we integrate Verus into our various markets across the United States. 

  
In March of 2021 we, through our wholly owned subsidiary IntelliAgent, LLC, completed the acquisition of technology 

platform Naberly Solutions to reduce Fathom’s reliance on third-party technology providers and offer more robust 
technology to agents to help them grow their businesses. 

  
In March of 2021, we also finalized the acquisition of Red Barn Real Estate, an approximately 230 agent real estate 

brokerage located in the Atlanta, Georgia market. 
  
Industry Background  
  
We primarily operate in the U.S. residential real estate industry, which is approximately a $2 trillion industry based on 

2020 transaction volume (i.e. average home sale price times number of new and existing home sale transactions). Our agents 
also opportunistically engage in commercial real estate transactions. We derive substantially all of our revenues from serving 
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buyers and sellers of existing homes. According to the National Association of Realtors, or NAR, existing home sales 
represent approximately 83% of the overall market by number of transactions. 

  
The U.S. residential real estate industry has a long history of growth over time, despite periodical downturns. The 

following information is based on data published by NAR. This data includes the significant and lengthy downturn from the 
second half of 2005 through 2011, and in that time frame, the number of annual U.S. existing home sale transactions declined 
by approximately 39%. Beginning in 2012, the U.S. residential real estate industry began its recovery, and the number of 
annual U.S. existing home sale units improved by approximately 32% by 2020. 

  
However, we believe that many traditional real estate brokerage companies have business models and practices that 

hinder their growth and profitability. They often have numerous physical offices throughout the territories they cover, with 
the associated personnel overhead costs, and have been slow to adopt cost-saving technology in an increasingly price-
sensitive and competitive environment. In addition, residential real estate brokerage companies typically realize revenues in 
the form of a commission that is based on a percentage of the price of each home sold. As a result, while the traditional real 
estate brokerage companies generally benefit from rising home prices and increasing home sale transactions, they can be 
seriously adversely impacted by falling home prices. 

  
Industry Trends  
  

We believe the following trends have impacted the U.S. real estate market and that their impact will continue to 
accelerate: 

  
 · according to NAR, 97% of homebuyers use the Internet to search for homes, up from 93% the year prior, 

illustrating the importance of technology and lack of importance of expensive brick and mortar offices to the 
industry, while only 1% found their agent though the agent’s office as shown in the graphic below; 

  

  
  
 · nevertheless, according to NAR, 88% of home buyers and 91% of home sellers still used an agent or broker in 

2020, up from 88% and 89% in 2019, for various reasons, including the relative size, importance and 
infrequency of a home sale for any individual; 

    
 · the complexity of the home sale process continues to require the best personal service possible, while 

technology can make the process and business more efficient; 
     
 · downturns are inevitable, favoring companies with lower cost business models that also pay agents higher 

commissions; and 
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 · demographics would indicate continued long-term growth, with household growth expected to average about 
1.36 million annually from 2015-2025 and about 1.15 million annually from 2025-2035, according to the 2017 
State of the Nation’s Housing Report compiled by the Harvard Joint Center for Housing Studies. 

  
Our Strategy  
  

Our goal is to be one of the leading 100% commission real estate brokerages in the United States while offering superior 
customer service, state of the art technology, and a great company culture. We have grown rapidly since inception, and plan 
to accelerate our growth through the following aspects of our vision: 

  
 · offer full brokerage services via our technology-enabled, low-overhead business model; 
    
 · attract and retain high-producing agents by offering high compensation per transaction and industry-leading 

benefits; 
     
 · use our publicly traded stock to further incentivize agents; 
    
 · continue to enhance and develop our proprietary software platform to facilitate our own business and potentially 

increase our revenue by licensing it to others; and 
     
 · pursue further growth through potential acquisitions, including using our publicly traded stock as consideration. 
  
Technology  
  

We operate as a cloud-based real estate brokerage by utilizing our consumer-facing website, 
https://www.FathomRealty.com, and our internal proprietary technology, intelliAgent®, to manage our brokerage operations. 
Through our website, we provide buyers, sellers, landlords, and tenants with access to all of the available properties for sale 
or lease on the multiple listing service, or MLS, in each of the markets in which we operate. We provide each of our agents 
their own personal website that they can modify to match their personal branding. Our website also gives consumers access 
to our network of professional real estate agents and vendors. Through a combination of our proprietary technology platform 
and third-party systems, we provide our agents with marketing, training, and other support services, as well as client and 
transaction management. Our technology, services, data, lead generation, and marketing tools are designed to allow our 
agents to leverage them to represent their real estate clients with best-in-class service. 

  
Internally, we use our technology to provide agents with opportunities to increase their profitability, reduce risk, and 

develop professionally, while fostering a culture that values collaboration, strength of community, and commitment to 
serving the consumer’s best interests. We provide our agents with the systems, support, professional development and 
infrastructure designed to help them succeed in unpredictable, and often challenging, economic conditions. This includes 
delivering 24/7 access to collaborative tools and training for real estate agents. 

  
Specifically, using advanced Internet-based software, we can improve compliance and oversight while providing, at no 

cost to our agents, technology tools and services to our agents and their customers, including: 
  

 · a robust, mobile-friendly, customer-facing corporate website providing access to view all homes for sale and 
lease in the markets that we serve, with the ability to search and save favorite properties and receive alerts for 
new properties that fit their criteria; 

     
 · a customizable, mobile-friendly, agent website with home search, lead capture, and blogging capabilities; 
     
 · an advanced customer relationship management system, with visitor tracking, property alerts, and customer 

communication, all designed to help convert leads into customers; 
     
 · social media tools to enhance agent marketing and visibility; 
    
 · streamlined solicitation, collection, verification and posting of customer testimonials; 
     
 · single property websites for our agents’ listings; 
     
 · a wide array of on-demand training modules for the professional development of agents at all levels of 
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experience; and 
     
 · agent access to intelliAgent®, which is described in more detail below. 

  
Our proprietary intelliAgent® real estate technology platform is designed to provide a suite of brokerage and agent level 

tools, technology, business processes, business intelligence and reporting, training, customer relationship management, social 
media marketing, marketing repository, and marketing, along with a marketplace for add-on services and third-party 
technology. Our intelliAgent rollout strategy began with the core technology needed by every real estate brokerage to manage 
its agents, its agents’ transactions, commission structures, payments, and compliance, as well as the ability to gain a better 
understanding as to what is happening in the business through business intelligence and robust reporting. Our technology 
roadmap for intelliAgent includes brokerage and agent level websites, content creation and management, customer 
relationship management, social media marketing, agent reviews, goal setting, accountability, expense tracking, training 
platform, marketing repository, and APIs for integration with third-party tools. We intend for intelliAgent to be more than 
just a technology platform for Fathom; we might someday use a simplified version of intelliAgent as a platform to unify 
independent brokerages through a smarter broker network allowing them to effectively compete against larger regional and 
national brands. This should allow us to monetize a portion of our technology and generate revenue from small to medium 
sized brokerages and agents who would not otherwise join our company. We believe that intelliAgent also provides us with 
the platform needed to more fully integrate services companies that are, or become, part of the Fathom Holdings network. 
This deeper integration is designed to encourage a higher level of agent adoption of our various services companies and 
therefore create a better agent experience, customer experience, and generate higher revenues for our company and add value 
for our shareholders. 

  
In addition to building intelliAgent internally, in March 2021 we acquired Naberly Solutions (“Naberly”), a home search 

website and customer relationship management technology company, to help us achieve technology independence, which 
should further enhance our proprietary intelliAgent platform to give us a stronger competitive advantage. Naberly should also 
allow us to further improve our operational efficiency while reducing costs over time. Providing even more robust technology 
to help our agents grow their businesses is a key strategy to continuing our solid agent growth trajectory, and we believe that 
Naberly will help us achieve that goal, while also potentially providing new opportunities to generate additional SaaS 
revenue. With this acquisition, we also intend to roll out an enhanced version of the Naberly platform to launch a national 
real estate portal to help generate leads for our Fathom agents, as well as non-Fathom agents, in the markets in which we are 
not currently operating. 

  
In order to develop and accelerate the growth of agents joining Fathom, we developed the Fathom Talent Acquisition 

Platform. The Fathom Talent Acquisition Platform combines people, technology and process. Fathom has built an extensive 
database of potential agents who we believe would fit the Fathom culture and benefit from joining the Company. A content 
marketing strategy keeps these candidates up to date on the latest developments and offers that may be of interest to them in 
growing their business. Additionally, a team of experienced recruiters focuses on personally introducing and sharing the 
Fathom brands value proposition with real estate professionals across the country. The team works within a customer 
relationship management system to nurture longer term opportunities, as well as convert immediate hires. These elements are 
designed to build brand awareness and position Fathom as the brokerage of choice for agents when making career choices. 

  
Our Focus on Agents 
  

We believe that agents deliver unique value to the specific customers they serve in different ways depending upon the 
knowledge, skills or niche of the agent and the needs and desires of the customers. We also believe that customers work with 
agents because of the agent’s skills and service individually and generally place greater weight on those individual skill sets, 
service levels and style than they do on the brokerage brand with which the agent is affiliated. Therefore, we focus to a great 
degree on serving our agents, so that we attract and retain the best in the industry. 
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In a recent study by NAR, only 1% of home sellers choose their agent because of the brand they are with, down from 2% 
in 2019. We believe home buyers and sellers choose the agent because of their individual marketing prowess, 
professionalism, and personality. To capitalize on this, we focus on helping our agents improve professionally and increase 
their financial ability to invest in their personal marketing, and therefore capture a greater percentage of customers. We 
believe our business model is particularly attractive to productive agents, as illustrated by the following chart: 

  

  
  

Cost Structure 
  

The lower overall cost of operating our business virtually has enabled us to offer our agents a 100% commission model. 
Consequently, this higher commission paid to our agents combined with our unique delivery of support services and the 
flexibility it provides for agents has facilitated our growth over the past several years. We also differentiate ourselves by not 
charging our agents royalties or franchise fees. A commission calculator on our website allows agents to determine how 
much money they could make if they join our company. 

  
We believe we offer agents further opportunity to increase their overall revenue and income, because they can invest the 

additional income earned under our fee structure in incremental marketing. 
  

Our Markets  
  

Currently, our primary market is the United States. We currently operate in approximately 113 local markets which are 
located in the following 27 states or districts: 

  
Alabama Indiana Ohio 
     

Arizona Kentucky Oklahoma 
     

Arkansas Louisiana Oregon 
     

California Maryland South Carolina 
     

Colorado Michigan Tennessee 
     

District of Columbia Missouri Texas 
     

Florida Nevada Virginia 
     

Georgia New Jersey Washington 
     

Illinois North Carolina West Virginia 
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We target urban or suburban cities or regions with populations of at least 50,000, of which there are approximately 775 
in the United States. We believe this provides us opportunity for continued growth. We have expanded rapidly since our 
inception nine years ago. As we continue to expand, we might also plan to target smaller rural markets as well as move into 
Canada. 

  
Competition  
  

The residential real estate brokerage industry is highly competitive with low barriers to entry for new participants. We 
believe that recruitment and retention of independent sales agents and independent sales agent teams are critical to the 
business and financial results of a brokerage. Competition for independent sales agents in our industry is high and has 
intensified particularly for the more productive independent sales agents. Competition for independent sales agents is 
generally subject to numerous factors, including remuneration and benefits, other expenses borne by independent sales 
agents, leads or business opportunities generated for the independent sales agent from the brokerage, independent sales 
agents’ perception of the value of the broker’s brand affiliation, marketing and advertising efforts by the brokerage or 
franchisor, technology, continuing professional education, and other services provided by the brokerage or franchisor. 

  
We compete with three major categories of competitors: 
  

 · national independent real estate brokerages, franchisees of national and regional real estate franchisors, regional 
independent real estate brokerages, and discount and limited-service brokerages; 

     
 · companies that employ technologies intended to disrupt the traditional brokerage model or eliminate agents 

from, or minimize the role they play in, the home sale transaction, such as through the reduction of brokerage 
commissions; and 

    
 · other non-traditional models that operate outside of the brokerage industry, such as companies that leverage 

capital to purchase homes directly from sellers. 
  

Many of our competitors are much larger than us, with more capital to fund growth and survive downturns, and greater 
brand awareness. Some of our competitors are also increasingly well-funded, which strengthens their competitive position 
and ability to offer aggressive compensation arrangements to top-performing sales agents. Moreover, a growing number of 
companies are competing in non-traditional ways for a portion of the gross commission income generated by home sale 
transactions. For example, listing aggregators and other web-based real estate service providers not only compete with our 
business by establishing relationships with independent sales agents and/or buyers and sellers of homes, they also 
increasingly charge brokerages and independent sales agents for advertising on their sites. 

  
Our ability to successfully compete is important to our prospects for growth. Our ability to compete may be affected by 

the recruitment, retention and performance of independent sales agents, the location of offices and target markets, the 
services provided to independent sales agents, the fees charged to independent sales agents, the number and nature of 
competing offices in the vicinity, affiliation with a recognized brand name, community reputation, technology and other 
factors. Our success may also be affected by national, regional and local economic conditions. 

  
Intellectual Property  
  

We have a registered trademark with the USPTO for the name and logo of “intelliAgent” and “Fathom Realty”, as they 
relate to real estate and associated industries. We also own the rights to the domain names FathomRealty.com, 
FathomCareers.com and intelliAgent.com. 

  
We have developed and own the intelliAgent software. We also license third-party software and other proprietary 

technology upon which we depend. While we currently depend on our relationship with these vendors to provide our services 
in the short-term, we believe other alternatives are available in the longer term, should they be needed, to license or develop 
replacement technology. 

  
If necessary, we will aggressively assert our rights under trade secret, unfair competition, trademark and copyright laws 

to protect our intellectual property. We protect these rights through trademark law, the maintenance of trade secrets, the 
development of trade dress, and, where appropriate, litigation against those who are, in our opinion, infringing these rights. 
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While there can be no assurance that we will be able to protect our proprietary rights and information, we intend to assert 
our intellectual property rights against any infringement. While an assertion of our rights could result in a substantial cost and 
diversion of management effort, we believe the protection and defense against infringement of our intellectual property rights 
are essential to our business. There is also risk that someone else will claim that we are violating their intellectual property 
rights, which could cost money and time to defend, even if successful. 

  
Seasonality of Business 
  

Seasons and weather traditionally impact the real estate industry. Continuous poor weather or natural disasters negatively 
impact listings and sales. Spring and summer seasons historically reflect greater sales periods in comparison to fall and 
winter seasons. The latter periods also tend to see greater agent attrition. We have historically experienced lower revenues 
during the fall and winter seasons, as well as during periods of unseasonable weather, which reduces our operating income, 
net income, operating margins and cash flow. 

  
Real estate listings precede sales and a period of poor listing activity will negatively impact revenue. Past performance in 

similar seasons or during similar weather events can provide no assurance of future or current performance, and 
macroeconomic shifts in the markets we serve can conceal the impact of poor weather and/or seasonality. 
  

Home sales in successive quarters can fluctuate widely due to a wide variety of factors, including holidays, national or 
international emergencies, the school year calendar’s impact on timing of family relocations, interest rate changes, 
speculation of pending interest rate changes and the overall macroeconomic market. Our revenue and operating margins each 
quarter will remain subject to seasonal fluctuations, poor weather and natural disasters and macroeconomic market changes 
that may make it difficult to compare or analyze our financial performance effectively across successive quarters. 

  
Furthermore, the residential real estate market and the real estate industry in general is often cyclical, characterized by 

protracted periods of depressed home values, lower buyer demand, inflated rates of foreclosure and often changing regulatory 
or underwriting standards applicable to mortgages. The best example of this was the significant downturn in the U.S. 
residential real estate market between 2005 and 2011. Such depressed real estate cycles are often followed by extended 
periods of higher buyer demand, lower available real estate supply and increasing home values. While we believe we are 
well-positioned to compete during a downturn, our business is affected by these cycles in the residential real estate market, 
which can make it difficult to compare or analyze our financial performance effectively across successive periods. 

  
Government Regulation  
  

We serve the residential real estate industry which is regulated by federal, state and local authorities as well as private 
associations or state sponsored associations or organizations. We are required to comply with federal, state, and local laws, as 
well as private governing bodies’ regulations, which, when combined, result in a highly-regulated industry. 

  
We are also subject to federal and state regulations relating to employment, contractor, and compensation practices. 

Except for our employed state agents, all agents in our brokerage operations have been retained as independent contractors, 
either directly or indirectly through third-party entities formed by these independent contractors for their business purposes. 
With respect to these independent contractors, like most brokerage firms, we are subject to the Internal Revenue Service 
regulations and applicable state law guidelines regarding independent contractor classification. These regulations and 
guidelines are subject to judicial and agency interpretation. 

  
Real Estate Regulation - Federal  
  
The Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act of 1974, as amended, or RESPA, became effective on June 20, 1975. RESPA 

requires lenders, mortgage agents, or servicers of home loans to provide borrowers with pertinent and timely disclosures 
regarding the nature and costs of the real estate settlement process. RESPA also protects borrowers against certain abusive 
practices, such as kickbacks, and places limitations upon the use of escrow accounts. RESPA also requires detailed 
disclosures concerning the transfer, sale, or assignment of mortgage servicing, as well as disclosures for mortgage escrow 
accounts. 

  
The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, moved authority to 

administer RESPA from the Department of Housing and Urban Development to the new Consumer Financial Protection 
Bureau, or the CFPB. The CFPB released a five-year strategic plan in February 2018 indicating that it intends to continue to 
focus on protecting consumer rights while engaging in rulemaking to address unwarranted regulatory burdens. As a result, 
the regulatory framework of RESPA applicable to our business may be subject to change. The Dodd-Frank Act also 
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increased regulation of the mortgage industry, including: (i) generally prohibiting lenders from making residential mortgage 
loans unless a good faith determination is made of a borrower’s creditworthiness based on verified and documented 
information; (ii) requiring the CFPB to enact regulations, to help assure that consumers are provided with timely and 
understandable information about residential mortgage loans that protect them against unfair, deceptive and abusive 
practices; and (iii) requiring federal regulators to establish minimum national underwriting guidelines for residential 
mortgages that lenders will be allowed to securitize without retaining any of the loans’ default risk. In addition, federal fair 
housing laws generally make it illegal to discriminate against protected classes of individuals in housing or brokerage 
services. Other federal laws and regulations applicable to our business include (i) the Federal Truth in Lending Act of 1969; 
(ii) the Federal Equal Credit Opportunity; (iii) the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act; (iv) the Fair Housing Act; (v) the Home 
Mortgage Disclosure Act; (vi) the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act; (vii) the Consumer Financial Protection Act; (viii) the Fair and 
Accurate Credit Transactions Act; and (ix) the Do Not Call/Do Not Fax Act and other federal and state laws pertaining to the 
privacy rights of consumers, which affects our opportunities to solicit new clients. 
  

Real Estate Regulation - State and Local Level 
  
Real estate and brokerage licensing laws and requirements vary from state to state. In general, all individuals and entities 

lawfully conducting businesses as real estate agents or sales associates must be licensed in the state in which they carry on 
business and must at all times be in compliance. 

  
States require a real estate broker to be employed by the brokerage firm or permit an independent contractor 

classification, and the broker may work for another broker conducting business on behalf of the sponsoring broker. 
  
States may require a person licensed as a real estate agent, sales associate or salesperson, to be affiliated with a broker in 

order to engage in licensed real estate brokerage activities or allow the agent, sales associate or salesperson to work for 
another agent, sales associate or salesperson conducting business on behalf of the sponsoring agent, sales associate or 
salesperson. Agents, sales associates or salespersons are generally classified as independent contractors; however, real estate 
firms can also offer employment. 

  
Engaging in the real estate brokerage business requires obtaining a real estate broker license (although in some states the 

licenses are personal to individual agents). In order to obtain this license, most jurisdictions require that a member or 
manager be licensed individually as a real estate broker in that jurisdiction. If applicable, this member or manager is 
responsible for supervising the entity’s licensees and real estate brokerage activities within the state. 

  
Real estate licensees, whether they are salespersons, individuals, agents or entities, must follow the state’s real estate 

licensing laws and regulations. These laws and regulations generally specify minimum duties and obligations of these 
licensees to their clients and the public, as well as standards for the conduct of business, including contract and disclosure 
requirements, record keeping requirements, requirements for local offices, escrow trust fund management, agency 
representation, advertising regulations and fair housing requirements. 

  
In each of the states where we have operations, we assign appropriate personnel to manage and comply with applicable 

laws and regulations. 
  
Most states have local regulations (city or county government) that govern the conduct of the real estate brokerage 

business. Local regulations generally require additional disclosures by the parties to a real estate transaction or their agents, 
or the receipt of reports or certifications, often from the local governmental authority, prior to the closing or settlement of a 
real estate transaction as well as prescribed review and approval periods for documentation and broker conditions for review 
and approval. 

  
Third-Party Rules 
  
Beyond federal, state and local governmental regulations, the real estate industry is subject to rules established by private 

real estate groups and/or trade organizations, including, among others, state Associations of REALTORS® (AOR), and local 
Associations of REALTORS® (AOR), the National Association of Realtors® (NAR), and local Multiple Listing Services 
(MLSs). “REALTOR” and “REALTORS” are registered trademarks of the National Association of REALTORS®. 

  
Each third-party organization generally has prescribed policies, bylaws, codes of ethics or conduct, and fees and rules 

governing the actions of members in dealings with other members, clients and the public, as well as how the third-party 
organization’s brand and services may or might not be deployed or displayed. 
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Employees 
  

As of December 31, 2020, we had 38 full-time employees. 
  
Our operations are overseen directly by management. Our management oversees all responsibilities in the areas of 

corporate administration, training, agent relations, business development, technology, and research. We intend to expand our 
current management to retain skilled employees with experience relevant to our business. Our management’s relationships 
with agents and technology providers should provide the foundation through which we can continue to grow our business in 
the future. 

  
Independent Contractors 
  

As of December 31, 2020, we had 5,471 agents whom we classify as independent contractors. None of our 
employees or agents are represented by unions, and we believe our employee and agent relations are good. 

  
Information about our Executive Officers 
  

The following table sets forth current information concerning our executive officers: 
  

Name   Age   Position 
Joshua Harley   44   Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Director 
         

Marco Fregenal   57   President and Chief Financial Officer, Director 
         

Samantha Giuggio   51   Chief Brokerage Operations Officer 
  
Joshua Harley – Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Director 
  

Joshua Harley, our founder, has been our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since 2009. From 2007 to 2009, 
Mr. Harley served as Chief Executive Officer and Founder of Texas Home Central. Prior to that, Mr. Harley was an Internet 
Manager at Highland Homes from 2005 to 2007. From 2003 to 2005, Mr. Harley served as Founder and President of 
Everdrive Solutions, assisting automotive dealerships with outsourced internet sales and training. From 1995 until 2003, Mr. 
Harley served in the United States Marine Corps as an Infantry Sergeant, Instructor at the School of Infantry, and a Hand-to-
Hand Combat Instructor. 

  
Marco Fregenal – President and Chief Financial Officer, Director 
  

Marco Fregenal has been our Chief Financial Officer since 2012. He has also served as our President since 
January 1, 2018. Prior to this, Mr. Fregenal served as our Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer from May 1, 
2012 to December 31, 2017. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Fregenal served as Chief Operating Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer of EvoApp Inc, a provider of social media business intelligence, from 2009 to 2012. He was also the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial officer of Carpio Solutions, an information technology solutions company, from 2007 
to 2009. Mr. Fregenal received a B.S. in economics from Rutgers University and a Masters in Econometrics and Operations 
Research from Monmouth University. 

  
Samantha Giuggio — Chief Broker Operations Officer 
  

Samantha Giuggio has served as our Chief Broker Operations Officer since June 2019. Prior to this, she served as 
Senior Vice President from October 2015 to June 2019. From April 2014 to October 2015, Ms. Giuggio served as our 
Regional Vice President and Vice President of Operations. She also served as our District Director RDU from February 2013 
to April 2014. She served as an Agent and Group Leader Training Coordinator with us prior to this. Ms. Giuggio received an 
associate’s degree in hospitality management from Holyoke Community College. 
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Other Information 
  

We make available, free of charge through our website, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as is reasonably practicable after such 
material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) pursuant to Section 
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The SEC maintains an Internet site 
that contains these reports at www.sec.gov. 
  

Our website address is www.fathomrealty.com. The information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our 
website is not part of this Report. 

  
Item 1A. Risk Factors.  
  

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties 
described below together with the other information included in this Report, including our consolidated financial statements 
and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Report. The occurrence of any of the following risks may materially 
and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, reputation and future prospects. In 
this event, the market price shares of our common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment. 

  
Risks Related to Our Business 
  
If we do not remain an innovative leader in the real estate industry, we might not be able to grow our business and 
leverage our costs to achieve profitability. 
  

Innovation has been critical to our ability to compete for clients and real estate agents. If competitors follow our practices 
or develop more innovative practices, our ability to achieve profitability may diminish or erode. For example, certain other 
brokerages could develop or license cloud-based office platforms that are equal to or superior to ours. If we do not remain on 
the forefront of innovation, we might not be able to achieve or sustain profitability. 

  
The market for Internet products and services is characterized by rapid technological developments, evolving industry 

standards and customer demands, and frequent new product introductions and enhancements. Our future success will depend 
in significant part on our ability to continually improve the performance, features and reliability of our technological 
developments in response to both evolving demands of the marketplace and competitive product offerings, and there can be 
no assurance that we will be successful in doing so. 

  
We might not be able to effectively manage rapid growth in our business. 
  

We might not be able to scale our business services and support quickly enough to meet the growing needs of our real 
estate agents. If we are not able to grow efficiently, our operating results could be harmed. As we add new agents, we will 
need to devote additional financial and human resources to improving our internal systems, integrating with third-party 
systems, and maintaining infrastructure performance. In addition, we will need to appropriately scale our internal business 
systems and our services organization, including support of our affiliated agents as our demographics expand over time. Any 
failure of, or delay in, these efforts could cause impaired system performance and reduced satisfaction from our agents. These 
issues could result in difficulty in both attracting and retaining agents. Even if we are able to upgrade our systems and expand 
our staff, such expansion may be expensive, complex, and place increasing demands on our management. We could also face 
inefficiencies or operational failures as a result of our efforts to scale our infrastructure and we might not be successful in 
maintaining adequate financial and operating systems and controls as we expand. Moreover, there are inherent risks 
associated with upgrading, improving and expanding our information technology systems. We cannot be sure that the 
expansion and improvements to our infrastructure and systems will be fully or effectively implemented on a timely basis, if at 
all. These efforts may reduce revenue and our margins and adversely impact our financial results. 

  
The COVID-19 pandemic might have a material adverse effect on our businesses, financial condition, results of 
operations, and liquidity. 
  

Since early 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound effect on the global economy and financial markets. In 
the United States and abroad, governments continue to react to this evolving public health crisis by, among other actions, 
recommending or requiring the avoidance of gatherings of people or significantly or entirely curtailing activities categorized 
as non-essential. This unprecedented situation has created considerable risks and uncertainties for the U.S. real estate services 
industry in general and for the Company in particular, including those arising from the potential adverse effects on the 
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economy as well as risks related to employees, independent agents, and consumers. The extent of the impact of the pandemic 
on our business and financial results will depend largely on future developments, including the extent and duration of the 
spread of the outbreak, the extent of governmental regulation (including, but not limited to, mandated “shelter in place” or 
other regulations that, for example, preclude or strictly limit open houses or in-person showings of properties), the impact on 
capital and financial markets and the related impact on consumer confidence and spending, and the magnitude of the financial 
and operational consequences to our agents and brokers, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. 
  
If we fail to grow in the various local markets that we serve or are unsuccessful in identifying and pursuing new business 
opportunities our long-term prospects and profitability will be harmed. 
  

To capture and retain market share in the various local markets that we serve, we must compete successfully against 
other brokerages for agents and for the consumer relationships that they bring. Our competitors could lower the fees that they 
charge to agents or could raise the compensation structure for those agents. Our competitors may have access to greater 
financial resources than us, allowing them to undertake expensive local advertising or marketing efforts. In addition, our 
competitors may be able to leverage local relationships, referral sources, and strong local brand and name recognition that we 
have not established. Our competitors could, as a result, have greater leverage in attracting both new and established agents in 
the market and in generating business among local consumers. Our ability to grow in the local markets that we serve will 
depend on our ability to compete with these local brokerages. 

  
We may implement changes to our business model and operations to improve revenues that cause a disproportionate 

increase in our expenses or reduce profit margins. For example, we may allocate resources to acquire lower margin brokerage 
models or develop a mortgage servicing division, a commercial real estate division, a title and escrow company or a 
continuing education division. These decisions could involve significant up-front costs that may only be recovered after 
lengthy periods of time. Any of these attempts to pursue new business opportunities could result in a disproportionate 
increase in our expenses and in reduced profit margins. In addition, any of these additional activities could expose us to 
additional compliance obligations and regulatory risks. 

  
If we fail to continue to grow in the local markets we serve or if we fail to successfully identify and pursue new business 

opportunities, our long-term prospects, financial condition and results of operations may be harmed, and our stock price may 
decline. 

  
Our value proposition for agents includes allowing them to keep more of their commissions than traditional companies 
do, and receive equity in our Company, which is not typical in the real estate industry. If agents do not understand our 
value proposition, we might not be able to attract, retain and incentivize agents. 
  

Participation in our commission plan represents a key component of our agent and broker value proposition. Agents 
might not understand or appreciate our value. In addition, agents might not appreciate other components of our value 
proposition including the systems and tools that we provide to agents, and the professional development opportunities we 
create and deliver. If agents do not understand the elements of our agent value proposition, or do not perceive it to be more 
valuable than the models used by most competitors, we might not be able to attract, retain and incentivize new and existing 
agents to grow our revenues. 

  
We might not be able to attract and retain additional qualified agents and other personnel. 
  

To execute our business strategy, we must attract and retain highly qualified agents and other personnel. In particular, we 
compete with many other real estate brokerages for qualified agents who manage our operations in each state. We must also 
compete with technology companies for developers with high levels of experience in designing, developing and managing 
cloud-based software, as well as for skilled service and operations professionals, and we might not be successful in attracting 
and retaining the professionals we need. We might have difficulty in hiring and difficulty in retaining highly skilled 
personnel with appropriate qualifications. Many of the companies that we compete with for experienced personnel have 
greater resources than we do. In addition, in making decisions about where to work, in addition to cash compensation, people 
often consider the value of the stock options or other equity incentives they receive. If the price of our stock declines or 
experiences significant volatility, our ability to attract or retain personnel may be adversely affected. If we fail to attract new 
personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our growth prospects could be severely harmed. 
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We might be unable to maintain our agent growth rate, which would adversely affect our revenue growth and results of 
operations. 
  

We have experienced rapid and accelerating growth in our agent base. During the year ended December 31, 2020, our 
net agent and broker base grew by approximately 36.6%, from 4,006 agents at December 31, 2019, to 5,471 agents and 
brokers at December 31, 2020. Because we derive revenue from real estate transactions in which our agents receive 
commissions, increases in our agent base correlate to increases in revenues, and the rate of growth of our revenue correlates 
to the rate of growth of our agent base. The rate of growth of our agent base cannot be predicted and is subject to many 
factors outside of our control, including actions taken by our competitors and macroeconomic factors affecting the real estate 
industry generally. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to maintain our recent agent growth rate or that our 
agent base will continue to expand in future periods. A slowdown in our agent growth rate would have a material adverse 
effect on revenue growth and could adversely affect our results of operations. 

  
If we fail to expand effectively into adjacent markets, our growth prospects could be harmed. 
  

We intend to expand our operations into adjacent markets, such as rentals, mortgages, and home improvement, and into 
international geographies. We may incur losses or otherwise fail to enter these markets successfully. Our expansion into these 
markets will place us in competitive environments with which we are unfamiliar and involves various risks, including the 
need to invest significant resources and the possibility that returns on such investments will not be achieved for several years, 
or at all. In attempting to establish a presence in new markets, we expect to incur significant expenses and face various other 
challenges, such as expanding our sales force and management personnel to cover these markets. 

  
We have a history of losses, and we might not be able to achieve or sustain profitability. 
  

We experienced net losses of approximately $1.3 million and $4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 
2019, respectively. We cannot predict if we will achieve sustained profitability in the near future or at all. We expect to make 
significant future expenditures to develop and expand our business. In addition, as a public company, we incur significant 
legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not have as a private company. These expenditures make it harder for us to 
achieve and maintain future profitability. Our recent growth in revenue might not be sustainable, and we might not achieve 
sufficient revenue to achieve or maintain profitability. We could incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, 
including the other risks described in this Report, and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and 
delays and other unknown events. Accordingly, we might not be able to achieve or maintain profitability and we may incur 
significant losses for the foreseeable future. 

  
Our recent revenue growth rates might not be indicative of our future growth, and we might not continue to grow at our 
recent pace, or at all. 
  

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, our revenue grew to $177 million from $111 million, which 
represents an annual growth rate of approximately 59%. In the future, our revenue might not grow as rapidly as it has over 
the past several years. We believe that our future revenue growth will depend, among other factors, on our ability to: 

  
 · acquire additional agents and collect additional commissions to existing agents; 
     
 · attract a growing number of agents to our website and other cloud-based applications; 
    
 · increase our brand awareness; 
     
 · successfully develop and deploy new products for the residential real estate industry; 
     
 · maximize our sales personnel’s productivity; 
     
 · respond effectively to competitive threats; 
     
 · successfully expand our business into adjacent markets; and 
    
 · successfully expand internationally. 
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We might not be successful in our efforts to do any of the foregoing, and any failure to be successful in these matters 
could materially and adversely affect our revenue growth. Our past revenue growth should not be considered to be indicative 
of our future growth. 

  
We currently are using and intend to continue to use Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, in reporting our 
annual and quarterly results of operations; however, Adjusted EBITDA is not equivalent to net income (loss) from 
operations as determined under GAAP, and shareholders may consider GAAP measures to be more relevant to our 
operating performance. 
  

As part of our reporting of our annual and quarterly results of operations, we publish and intend to continue to publish 
measures compiled in accordance with GAAP as well as non-GAAP financial measures, along with a reconciliation between 
the GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures. The reconciling items adjust amounts reported in accordance with GAAP for 
certain items which are described in detail in our published results of operations. Our financial statements themselves do not 
and will not contain any non-GAAP financial measures. 

  
Specifically, we use Adjusted EBITDA, which we use to mean net loss, excluding other income (expense), income taxes 

expense (benefit), depreciation and amortization, and stock-based compensation expense. In particular, we believe the 
exclusion of stock compensation expense related to restricted stock awards and stock options provides a useful supplemental 
measure in evaluating the performance of our operations and provides better transparency into our results of operations. We 
believe that our non-GAAP financial measures are meaningful to investors when analyzing our results of operations as this is 
a key metric used by our management for financial and operational decision-making. 

  
The market price of our stock may fluctuate based on future non-GAAP results if investors base their investment 

decisions on such non-GAAP financial measures. If we decide to alter or discontinue the use of non-GAAP financial 
measures in reporting our annual and quarterly results of operations, the market price of our stock could be adversely affected 
if investors analyze our performance in a different manner. 

  
We participate in a highly competitive market, and pressure from existing and new companies might adversely affect our 
business and operating results. 
  

The market to provide home listings and marketing services for the residential real estate industry is highly competitive 
and fragmented. Homes are not typically marketed exclusively through any single channel. Consumers can access home 
listings and related data through more than one source. Accordingly, current and potential competitors could aggregate a set 
of listings similar to ours. We compete with online real estate marketplaces, such as Zillow and Realtor.com, other real estate 
websites, and traditional offline media. We compete to attract consumers primarily on the basis of the number and quality of 
listings; user experience; the breadth, depth, and relevance of insights and other content on homes, neighborhoods, and 
professionals; brand and reputation; and the quality of mobile products. We compete to attract real estate professionals 
primarily on the basis of the quality of the website and mobile products, the size and attractiveness of the consumer audience, 
the quality and measurability of the leads we generate, the perceived return on investment we deliver, and the effectiveness of 
marketing and workflow tools. We also compete for advertisers against other media, including print media, television and 
radio, social networks, search engines, other websites, and email marketing. We compete primarily on the basis of the size 
and attractiveness of the audience; pricing; and the ability to target desired audiences. 

  
Many of our existing and potential competitors have substantial competitive advantages, such as: 
  

 · greater scale; 
     
 · stronger brands and greater name recognition; 
     
 · longer operating histories; 
     
 · more financial, research and development, sales and marketing, and other resources; 
    
 · more extensive relationships with participants in the residential real estate industry, such as brokers, agents, and 

advertisers; 
    
 · strong relationships with third-party data providers, such as multiple listing services and listing aggregators; 
     
 · access to larger user bases; and 
     
 · larger intellectual property portfolios. 
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The success of our competitors could result in fewer users visiting our website and mobile applications, the loss of 

subscribers and advertisers, price reductions for our subscriptions and display advertising, weaker operating results, and loss 
of market share. Our competitors also might be able to provide users with products that are different from or superior to those 
we can provide, or to provide users with a broader range of products and prices. 
  

We expect increased competition if our market continues to expand. In addition, current or potential competitors might 
be acquired by third parties with greater resources than ours, which would further strengthen these current or potential 
competitors and enable them to compete more vigorously or broadly with us. If we are not able to compete effectively, our 
business and operating results will be materially and adversely affected. 

  
Our operating results are subject to seasonality and vary significantly among quarters during each calendar year, making 
meaningful comparisons of successive quarters difficult. 
  

Seasons and weather traditionally impact the real estate industry. Spring and summer seasons historically reflect greater 
sales activity in comparison to fall and winter seasons. We have historically experienced lower revenues during the fall and 
winter seasons, as well as during periods of unseasonable weather, which reduces our operating income, net income, 
operating margins and cash flow. Real estate listings precede sales and a period of poor listings activity will negatively 
impact revenue. Past performance in similar seasons or during similar weather events can provide no assurance of future or 
current performance, and macroeconomic shifts in the markets we serve can conceal the impact of seasonality. 

  
Home sales in successive quarters can fluctuate widely due to a wide variety of seasonal factors, including holidays, and 

the school year calendar’s impact on timing of family relocations. Our revenue and operating margins each quarter will 
remain subject to seasonal fluctuations, which may make it difficult to compare or analyze our financial performance 
effectively across successive quarters. 

  
If we fail to protect the privacy of employees, independent contractors, or consumers or personal information that they 
share with us, our reputation and business could be significantly harmed. 
  

Tens of thousands of consumers, independent contractors, and employees have shared personal information with us 
during the normal course of our business processing residential real estate transactions. This includes, but is not limited to, 
social security numbers, annual income amounts and sources, consumer names, addresses, telephone and cell phone numbers, 
and email addresses. 

  
The application, disclosure and safeguarding of this information is regulated by federal and state privacy laws. To 

comply with privacy laws, we invested resources and adopted a privacy policy outlining policies and procedures for the use 
of safeguarding personal information. This policy includes informing consumers, independent contractors and employees that 
we will not share their personal information with third parties without their consent unless required by law. 

  
Privacy policies and compliance with federal and state privacy laws presents risk and we could incur legal liability for 

failing to maintain compliance. We might not become aware of all privacy laws, changes to privacy laws, or third-party 
privacy regulations governing the real estate business or be unable to comply with all of these regulations, given the rate of 
regulatory changes, ambiguities in regulations, contradictions in regulations between jurisdictions, and the difficulties in 
achieving both company-wide and region-specific knowledge and compliance. 

  
Our policy and safeguards could be deemed insufficient if third parties with whom we have shared personal information 

fail to protect the privacy of that information. Our legal liability could include significant defense costs, settlement costs, 
damages and penalties, plus, damage our reputation with consumers, which could significantly damage our ability to attract 
and maintain customers. Any or all of these consequences would result in meaningful unfavorable impact on our brand, 
business model, revenue, expenses, income and margins. 

  
Our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to expand, maintain and improve the systems and technologies 
upon which we rely to operate. 
  

As the number of our agents grows, our success will depend on our ability to expand, maintain and improve the 
technology that supports our business operations, including, but not limited to, our cloud office platform. Loss of key 
personnel or the lack of adequate staffing with the requisite expertise and training could impede our efforts in this regard. If 
our systems and technologies lack capacity or quality sufficient to service agents and their clients, then the number of agents 
who wish to use our products could decrease, the level of client service and transaction volume afforded by our systems 
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could suffer, and our costs could increase. In addition, if our systems, procedures or controls are not adequate to provide 
reliable, accurate and timely financial and other reporting, we might not be able to satisfy regulatory scrutiny or contractual 
obligations with third parties and may suffer a loss of reputation. Any of these events could negatively affect our financial 
position. 
  
Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt our business operations, result in the loss of critical and confidential information, 
adversely impact our reputation and harm our business. 
  

Cybersecurity threats and incidents directed at us could range from uncoordinated individual attempts to gain 
unauthorized access to information technology systems to sophisticated and targeted measures aimed at disrupting business 
or gathering personal data of customers. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including 
proprietary business information and personal information about our customers. Our business, and particularly our cloud-
based platform, is reliant on the uninterrupted functioning of our information technology systems. The secure processing, 
maintenance, and transmission of information are critical to our operations, especially the processing and closing of real 
estate transactions. Although we employ measures designed to prevent, detect, address, and mitigate these threats (including 
access controls, data encryption, vulnerability assessments, and maintenance of backup and protective systems), 
cybersecurity incidents, depending on their nature and scope, could potentially result in the misappropriation, destruction, 
corruption, or unavailability of critical data and confidential or proprietary information (our own or that of third parties, 
including potentially sensitive personal information of our customers) and the disruption of business operations. Any such 
compromises to our security could cause harm to our reputation, which could cause customers to lose trust and confidence in 
us or could cause agents to stop working for us. In addition, we may incur significant costs for remediation that may include 
liability for stolen assets or information, repair of system damage, and compensation to customers and business partners. We 
may also be subject to legal claims, government investigation, and additional state and federal statutory requirements. 

  
The potential consequences of a material cybersecurity incident include regulatory violations of applicable U.S. and 

international privacy and other laws, reputational damage, loss of market value, litigation with third parties (which could 
result in our exposure to material civil or criminal liability), diminution in the value of the services we provide to our 
customers, and increased cybersecurity protection and remediation costs (that may include liability for stolen assets or 
information), which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our competitiveness and results of operations. 

  
Our business, financial condition and reputation may be substantially harmed by security breaches, interruptions, delays 
and failures in our systems and operations. 
  

The performance and reliability of our systems and operations are critical to our reputation and ability to attract agents 
and teams of agents to join our Company as well as our ability to service home buyers and sellers. Our systems and 
operations are vulnerable to security breaches, interruption or malfunction due to certain events beyond our control, including 
natural disasters, such as earthquakes, fire and flood, power loss, telecommunication failures, break-ins, sabotage, computer 
viruses, intentional acts of vandalism and similar events. In addition, we rely on third-party vendors to provide the cloud 
office platform and to provide additional systems and related support. If we cannot continue to retain these services on 
acceptable terms, our access to these systems and services could be interrupted. Any security breach, interruption, delay or 
failure in our systems and operations could substantially reduce the transaction volume that can be processed with our 
systems, impair quality of service, increase costs, prompt litigation and other consumer claims, and damage our reputation, 
any of which could substantially harm our financial condition. 

  
We face significant risk to our brand and revenue if we fail to maintain compliance with the law and regulations of 
federal, state, foreign, or county governmental authorities, or private associations and governing boards. 
  

We operate in a heavily regulated industry with regulated labor classifications which present significant risk in general 
for each potential instance where we fail to maintain compliance. 

  
Our agents can be classified as either employees or independent contractors, and we could potentially misclassify or fail 

to consistently achieve compliance. Classifications and compliance are subject to the Internal Revenue Service regulations 
and applicable state law guidelines and penalties. 

  
Classifications, regulations and guidelines for agents are subject to judicial and agency interpretation as well as periodic 

changes. Changes, or any indication of changes, may adversely impact our workforce classifications, expenses, 
compensation, commission structure, roles and responsibilities and broker organization. 
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Beyond workforce regulations and classifications, there exist complex, heavily regulated federal, state and local 
authority laws, regulations and policies governing our real estate business. 

  
In general, the laws, rules and regulations that apply to our business practices include, without limitation, the federal 

Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act, or RESPA, the federal Fair Housing Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, and federal advertising 
and other laws, as well as comparable state statutes; rules of trade organization such as NAR, local MLSs, and state and local 
AORs; licensing requirements and related obligations that could arise from our business practices relating to the provision of 
services other than real estate brokerage services; privacy regulations relating to our use of personal information collected 
from the registered users of our websites; laws relating to the use and publication of information through the Internet; and 
state real estate brokerage licensing requirements, as well as statutory due diligence, disclosure, record keeping and standard-
of-care obligations relating to these licenses. The U.S. Department of Justice has opened an anti-trust investigation of some 
of our biggest competitors, and they are defendants in related lawsuits that could negatively impact our industry. 

  
Additionally, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act contains the Mortgage Reform and 

Anti-Predatory Lending Act, or the Mortgage Act, which imposes a number of additional requirements on lenders and 
servicers of residential mortgage loans, by amending certain existing provisions and adding new sections to RESPA and other 
federal laws. It also broadly prohibits unfair, deceptive or abusive acts and practices, and knowingly or recklessly providing 
substantial assistance to a covered person in violation of that prohibition. The penalties for noncompliance with these laws 
are also significantly increased by the Mortgage Act, which could lead to an increase in lawsuits against mortgage lenders 
and servicers. 

  
Maintaining legal compliance is challenging and increases our costs due to resources required to continually monitor 

business practices for compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to monitor changes in the applicable laws 
themselves. 

  
We might not be aware of all the laws, rules and regulations that govern our business, or be able to comply with all of 

them, given the rate of regulatory changes, ambiguities in regulations, contradictions in laws and regulations between 
jurisdictions, and the difficulties in achieving both company-wide and region-specific knowledge and compliance. 

  
If we fail, or we have been alleged to have failed, to comply with any existing or future applicable laws, rules and 

regulations, we could be subject to lawsuits and administrative complaints and proceedings, as well as criminal proceedings. 
Our noncompliance could result in significant defense costs, settlement costs, damages and penalties. 

  
Additionally, our business licenses could be suspended or revoked, our business practices enjoined, or we could be 

required to modify our business practices, which could materially impair, or even prevent, our ability to conduct all or any 
portion of our business. Any such events could also damage our reputation and impair our ability to attract and service home 
buyers, home sellers and agents, as well our ability to attract brokerages, teams of agents and individual agents to our 
Company, without increasing our costs. 

  
Further, if we lose our ability to obtain and maintain all of the regulatory approvals and licenses necessary to conduct 

business as we currently operate, our ability to conduct business may be harmed. Lastly, any lobbying or related activities we 
undertake in response to mitigate liability of current or new regulations could substantially increase our operating expenses. 

  
We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and we may identify additional 
material weaknesses in the future that may cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material 
misstatements of our financial statements. If we fail to remediate any material weaknesses or if we otherwise fail to 
establish and maintain effective control over financial reporting, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial 
results could be adversely affected. 
  

Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the 
framework in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Under auditing standards established by the U.S. Public Company Accounting Oversight 
Board, a material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be 
prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 
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In connection with the audit of our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we identified 
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we did not 
effectively apply the Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission, or the COSO framework, due primarily to an insufficient complement of personnel possessing 
the appropriate accounting and financial reporting knowledge and experience. Additionally, we did not maintain effective 
controls relating to reconciliation of and recording of revenue. 

  
Although management is working to remediate the material weakness by hiring additional qualified accounting and 

financial reporting personnel, and further evolving our accounting processes and systems, we cannot provide assurance that 
these measures will be sufficient to remediate the material weaknesses that have been identified or prevent future material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies from occurring. 

  
We may identify future material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting or fail to meet the demands 

that will be placed upon us as a public company, including the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and we may be 
unable to accurately report our financial results, or report them within the timeframes required by law or stock exchange 
regulations. We cannot provide assurance that our existing material weakness will be remediated or that additional material 
weaknesses will not exist or otherwise be discovered, any of which could adversely affect our reputation, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

  
We are an “emerging growth company,” and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced reporting and 
disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive to 
investors. 
  

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act enacted in April 2012, 
and, for as long as we continue to be an “emerging growth company,” we may choose to take advantage of exemptions from 
various reporting requirements applicable to other public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including, but 
not limited to, not being required to have our independent registered public accounting firm audit our internal control over 
financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive 
compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding 
advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously 
approved. We could be an “emerging growth company” for up to five years following the completion of our initial public 
offering (“IPO”) in 2020, although, if we have more than $1.07 billion in annual revenue, if the market value of our common 
stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of any year, or we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-
convertible debt over a three-year period before the end of that five-year period, we would cease to be an “emerging growth 
company” as of the following December 31. We cannot predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive if we 
choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any choices to 
reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more 
volatile. 

  
Under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised 

accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail 
ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards, and, therefore, we will be subject to the same new or 
revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. 

  
Loss of our current executive officers or other key management could significantly harm our business. 
  

We depend on the industry experience and talent of our current executives, including our Founder and Chief Executive 
Officer Joshua Harley, and President and Chief Financial Officer Marco Fregenal. We also rely on individuals in key 
management positions within our operations, finance, and technology teams. We believe that our future results will depend, 
in part, upon our ability to retain and attract highly skilled and qualified management. The loss of our executive officers or 
any key personnel could have a material adverse effect on our operations because other officers might not have the 
experience and expertise to readily replace these individuals. To the extent that one or more of our top executives or other 
key management personnel depart from our company, our operations and business prospects may be adversely affected. In 
addition, changes in executives and key personnel could be disruptive to our business. We do not have any key person 
insurance. 
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Employee or agent litigation and unfavorable publicity could negatively affect our future business. 
  

Our employees or agents may, from time to time, bring lawsuits against us alleging injury, creating a hostile work place, 
discrimination, wage and hour disputes, sexual harassment, or other employment issues. In recent years there has been an 
increase in the number of discrimination and harassment claims against companies generally. Coupled with the expansion of 
social media platforms and similar devices that allow individuals access to a broad audience, these claims can have a 
significant negative impact on some businesses. Certain companies that have faced such lawsuits have terminated 
management or other key personnel as a result and have suffered reputational harm that has negatively impacted their 
business. If we were to face any claims, our business could be negatively affected. 

  
Failure to protect intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business. 
  

Our intellectual property rights, including existing and future trademarks, trade secrets and copyrights, are important 
assets of the business. We have taken measures to protect our intellectual property, but these measures might not be sufficient 
or effective. We may bring lawsuits to protect against the potential infringement of our intellectual property rights and other 
companies, including our competitors, could make claims against us alleging our infringement of their intellectual property 
rights. There can be no assurance that we would prevail in such lawsuits. Any significant impairment of our intellectual 
property rights could harm our business. 

  
We may evaluate potential vendors, suppliers and other business partners for acquisition in order to accelerate growth but 
might not succeed in identifying suitable candidates or may acquire businesses that negatively impact us. 
  

As part of our growth strategy, we may evaluate the potential acquisition of businesses offering products or services that 
complement our services offerings. If we identify a business that we deem to be suitable for acquisition and complete an 
acquisition, our evaluation may prove faulty and the acquisition may prove unsuccessful. In addition, an acquisition may 
prove unsuccessful if we fail to effectively execute a post-acquisition integration strategy. We may be unable to successfully 
integrate the systems and personnel of the acquired businesses. An acquisition could negatively impact our culture or 
undermine its core values. Acquisitions could disrupt our existing operations or cause management to divert its focus from 
our core business. An acquisition could cause potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities, incurrence of debt, 
contingent liabilities or could cause us to assume or incur unknown or unforeseen liabilities. From time to time, we intend to 
evaluate other brokerages for acquisition in order to accelerate growth and might not succeed in identifying suitable 
candidates or we may acquire brokerages that negatively impact us. 

  
Our future revenues and growth prospects could be adversely affected by our dependence on other contractors. 
  

Our business is highly dependent on a few significant technology vendors. In the event we were to lose one of our 
significant vendor partners, our business could be adversely affected because we could be forced to move this technology to 
another vendor, which would take significant time away from management running our core business. Our business, results 
of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by the loss of one key relationship, as it would 
take a significant amount of time to replace this relationship with uncertain results. 

  
We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available on acceptable terms, 
if at all. 
  

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond 
to business challenges, including the need to develop new features and products or enhance our existing products, improve 
our operating infrastructure, or acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we might need to engage 
in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional funds through future issuances of equity or 
convertible debt securities, our existing shareholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue 
could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing we 
secure in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and 
operational matters, which might make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business 
opportunities, including potential acquisitions. We might not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, 
if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability 
to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be impaired, and our business might 
be harmed. 
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Growth might place significant demands on our management and our infrastructure. 
  

We have experienced substantial growth in our business that has placed, and might continue to place, significant 
demands on our management and our operational and financial infrastructure. As our operations grow in size, scope, and 
complexity, we will need to improve and upgrade our systems and infrastructure. The expansion of our systems and 
infrastructure will require us to commit substantial financial, operational, and technical resources in advance of an increase in 
the volume of business, with no assurance that the volume of business will increase. Continued growth could also strain our 
ability to maintain reliable service levels for our users and advertisers, develop and improve our operational, financial, and 
management controls, enhance our reporting systems and procedures, and recruit, train, and retain highly skilled personnel. 

  
Our products are accessed by a large number of users often at the same time. If the use of our marketplace continues to 

expand, we might not be able to scale our technology to accommodate increased capacity requirements, which might result in 
interruptions or delays in service. The failure of our systems and operations to meet our capacity requirements could result in 
interruptions or delays in service or impede our ability to scale our operations. 

  
Managing our growth will require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable management resources. If we fail 

to achieve the necessary level of efficiency in our organization as it grows, our business, operating results, and financial 
condition would be harmed. 

  
We are subject to certain risks related to litigation filed by or against us, and adverse results may harm our business and 
financial condition. 
  

The real estate industry often involves litigation, ranging from individual lawsuits by unhappy buyers or sellers to large 
class actions and government investigations, like those some of our biggest competitors are currently facing for alleged anti-
trust law violations. We often are involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of 
business. 

  
We cannot predict with certainty the cost of our defense, the cost of prosecution, insurance coverage, or the ultimate 

outcome of litigation and other proceedings filed by or against us, including remedies or damage awards. Adverse results in 
such litigation and other proceedings may harm our business and financial condition. Such litigation and other proceedings 
may include, but are not limited to, actions relating to intellectual property, commercial arrangements, negligence and 
fiduciary duty claims arising from our brokerage operations, actions against our title company alleging it knew or should 
have known others were committing mortgage fraud, standard brokerage disputes like the failure to disclose hidden defects in 
a property such as mold, vicarious liability based upon conduct of individuals or entities outside of our control, including our 
agents, third-party service or product providers, antitrust claims, general fraud claims, employment law claims, including 
claims challenging the classification of our agents as independent contractors and compliance with wage and hour 
regulations, and claims alleging violations of RESPA or state consumer fraud statutes. In addition, class action lawsuits can 
often be particularly burdensome given the breadth of claims, large potential damages and significant costs of defense. In the 
case of intellectual property litigation and proceedings, adverse outcomes could include the cancellation, invalidation or other 
loss of material intellectual property rights used in our business and injunctions prohibiting our use of business processes or 
technology that is subject to third-party patents or other third-party intellectual property rights. In addition, we may be 
required to enter into licensing agreements (if available on acceptable terms) and be required to pay royalties. 
  

The real estate industry generates a lot of litigation, which could harm our business, reputation, operating results, and 
liquidity. We have general liability and an errors and omissions insurance policy to help protect us against claims of 
inadequate work or negligent action. However, this insurance might not continue to be available to us on commercially 
reasonable terms or at all, or a claim otherwise covered by our insurance may exceed our coverage limits, or a claim might 
not be covered at all. We may be subject to errors or omissions claims that could have an adverse effect on us. Moreover, 
defending a suit, regardless of its merits, could entail substantial expense and require the time and attention of key 
management personnel. 

  
Part of our technology is currently being developed in foreign countries, including Brazil, which makes us subject to 
certain risks associated with foreign laws and regulations. 
  

We currently develop portions of our technology in Brazil and could in the future conduct operations in foreign 
jurisdictions. Conducting business in foreign countries involves inherent risks, including, but not limited to: difficulties in 
staffing, funding and managing foreign operations; unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; export restrictions; tariffs 
and other trade barriers; difficulties in protecting, acquiring, enforcing and litigating intellectual property rights; fluctuations 
in currency exchange rates; and potentially adverse tax consequences. 
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If we were to experience any of the difficulties listed above, or any other difficulties, any international development 

activities and our overall financial condition may suffer. 
  

Risks Related to Our Industry 
  
Our results are tied to the residential real estate market and we may be negatively impacted by downturns in this market 
and general global economic conditions. 
  

The residential real estate market tends to be cyclical and typically is affected by changes in general macroeconomic 
conditions which are beyond our control. These conditions include short-term and long-term interest rates, inflation, 
fluctuations in debt and equity capital markets, levels of unemployment, consumer confidence, geopolitical stability and the 
general condition of the U.S. and the global economy. The residential real estate market also depends upon the strength of 
financial institutions, which are sensitive to changes in the general macroeconomic and regulatory environment. Lack of 
available credit or lack of confidence in the financial sector could impact the residential real estate market, which in turn 
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

  
For example, the U.S. residential real estate market has steadily improved in recent years after a significant and 

prolonged downturn, which began in the second half of 2005 and continued through 2011. However, we cannot predict 
whether the market will continue to improve. If the residential real estate market or the economy as a whole does not 
continue to improve, we may experience adverse effects on our business, financial condition and liquidity, including our 
ability to access capital and grow our business. 

  
Any of the following could cause a decline in the housing or mortgage markets and have a material adverse effect on our 

business by causing periods of lower growth or a decline in the number of home sales or home prices which, in turn, could 
adversely affect our revenue and profitability: 

  
 · an increase in the unemployment rate; 
     
 · a decrease in the affordability of homes due to changes in interest rates, home prices, and rates of wage and job 

growth; 
     
 · slow economic growth or recessionary conditions; 
     
 · weak credit markets; 
     
 · low consumer confidence in the economy or the residential real estate market; 
    
 · instability of financial institutions; 
  
 · legislative, tax or regulatory changes that would adversely impact the residential real estate or mortgage 

markets, including but not limited to potential reform relating to Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and other 
government sponsored entities, or GSEs, that provide liquidity to the U.S. housing and mortgage markets; 

     
 · increasing mortgage rates and down payment requirements or constraints on the availability of mortgage 

financing, including but not limited to the potential impact of various provisions of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street 
Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or the Dodd-Frank Act, or other legislation and regulations that may be 
promulgated thereunder relating to mortgage financing, including restrictions imposed on mortgage originators, 
as well as retention levels required to be maintained by sponsors to securitize certain mortgages; 

    
 · excessive or insufficient home inventory levels on a regional level; 
     
 · high levels of foreclosure activity, including but not limited to the release of homes already held for sale by 

financial institutions; 
    
 · adverse changes in local or regional economic conditions, including potential impacts from the COVID-19 

pandemic; 
     
 · the inability or unwillingness of homeowners to enter into home sale transactions due to negative equity in their 
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existing homes; 
     
 · demographic changes, such as a decrease in household formations, lower turnover in the housing market due to 

homeowners staying in the same home longer than in the past, or slowing rate of immigration or population 
growth; 

    
 · decrease in home ownership rates, declining demand for real estate and changing social attitudes toward home 

ownership; 
     
 · changes in local, state and federal laws or regulations that affect residential real estate transactions or encourage 

ownership, including but not limited to changes in tax law in late 2017 that limit the deductibility of certain 
mortgage interest expense, the application of the alternative minimum tax, and real property taxes and employee 
relocation expense; or 

    
 · acts of nature, such as hurricanes, earthquakes and other natural disasters that disrupt local or regional real 

estate markets and which may, in some circumstances lead us to waive certain fees in impacted areas. 
  

A lack of financing for homebuyers in the U.S. residential real estate market at favorable rates and on favorable terms 
could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance and results of operations. 
  

Our business is significantly impacted by the availability of financing at favorable rates or on favorable terms for 
homebuyers, which may be affected by government regulations and policies. Certain potential reforms such as the U.S. 
federal government’s conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, proposals to reform the U.S. housing market, attempts 
to increase loan modifications for homeowners with negative equity, monetary policy of the U.S. government, increases in 
interest rates and the Dodd-Frank Act may adversely impact the housing industry, including homebuyers’ ability to finance 
and purchase homes. 

  
The monetary policy of the U.S. government, and particularly the Federal Reserve Board, which regulates the supply of 

money and credit in the U.S., significantly affects the availability of financing at favorable rates and on favorable terms, 
which in turn affects the domestic real estate market. Policies of the Federal Reserve Board can affect interest rates available 
to potential homebuyers. Further, we are affected by any rising interest rate environment. Changes in the Federal Reserve 
Board’s policies, the interest rate environment and mortgage market are beyond our control, are difficult to predict, and could 
restrict the availability of financing on reasonable terms for homebuyers, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations and financial condition. Since December 2015, the Federal Open Market Committee of the 
Federal Reserve Board has raised the target range for federal funds nine times, including three times in 2017 and four times 
in 2018, after leaving the federal funds interest rate near zero since late 2008. The pace of future increases in the federal 
funds rate is uncertain, although the Federal Open Market Committee has indicated it expects additional increases to occur. 
Historically, changes in the federal funds rate have led to changes in interest rates for other loans, but the extent of the impact 
on the future availability and price of mortgage financing cannot be predicted with certainty. 

  
In addition, a reduction in government support for home financing, including the possible winding down of GSEs could 

further reduce the availability of financing for homebuyers in the U.S. residential real estate market. In connection with the 
U.S. federal government’s conservatorship of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, it provided billions of dollars of funding to these 
entities during the real estate downturn, in the form of preferred stock investments to backstop shortfalls in their capital 
requirements. No consensus has emerged in Congress concerning potential reforms relating to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, 
so we cannot predict either the short- or long-term effects of such regulation and its impact on homebuyers’ ability to finance 
and purchase homes. 

  
Furthermore, many lenders significantly tightened their underwriting standards since the real estate downturn, and many 

subprime and other alternative mortgage products are no longer common in the marketplace. If these mortgage loans continue 
to be difficult to obtain, including in the jumbo mortgage markets, the ability and willingness of prospective buyers to finance 
home purchases or to sell their existing homes could be adversely affected, which would adversely affect our operating 
results. 

  
The Dodd-Frank Act, which was passed to more closely regulate the financial services industry, created the Consumer 

Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), an independent federal bureau, which enforces consumer protection laws, including 
various laws regulating mortgage finance. The Dodd-Frank Act also established new standards and practices for mortgage 
lending, including a requirement to determine a prospective borrower’s ability to repay a loan, removing incentives to 
originate higher cost mortgages, prohibiting prepayment penalties for non-qualified mortgages, prohibiting mandatory 
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arbitration clauses, requiring additional disclosures to potential borrowers and restricting the fees that mortgage originators 
may collect. Rules implementing many of these changes protect creditors from certain liabilities for loans that meet the 
requirements for “qualified mortgages.” The rules place several restrictions on qualified mortgages, including caps on certain 
closing costs. These and other rules promulgated by the CFPB could have a significant impact on the availability of home 
mortgages and how mortgage agents and lenders transact business. In addition, the Dodd-Frank Act contained provisions that 
require GSEs, including Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, to retain an interest in the credit risk arising from the assets they 
securitize. This may serve to reduce GSEs’ demand for mortgage loans, which could have a material adverse effect on the 
mortgage industry, and may reduce the availability of mortgages to certain borrowers. 

  
While we are continuing to evaluate all aspects of legislation, regulations and policies affecting the domestic real estate 

market, we cannot predict whether or not such legislation, regulation and policies may increase down payment requirements, 
increase mortgage costs, or result in increased costs and potential litigation for housing market participants, any of which 
could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. 

  
The occurrence of natural or man-made disasters could adversely affect our operations, results of operations and 
financial condition. 
  

The occurrence of natural disasters, including hurricanes, floods, earthquakes, tsunamis, tornadoes, fires, explosions, 
pandemic disease, such as the current coronavirus pandemic, and man-made disasters, including acts of terrorism and 
military actions, could adversely affect our operations, results of operations or financial condition, even if home values and 
buyers’ access to financing has not been affected. 

  
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock 
  
The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention, and affect our 
ability to attract and retain qualified board of director members. 
  

As a new public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 
and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations, even as a “smaller 
reporting company,” will increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-
consuming, or costly, and increase demand on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires, among other things, 
that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial 
reporting. In order to maintain and, if required, improve our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over 
financial reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight may be required. As a result, 
management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business and operating results. 
Although we have already hired additional employees to comply with these requirements, we may need to hire more 
resources in the future, which will increase our costs and expenses. 
  

In addition, changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure create 
uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making some activities more time 
consuming. These laws, regulations, and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of 
specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and 
governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by 
ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest resources to comply with evolving laws, 
regulations, and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of 
management’s time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with 
new laws, regulations, and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities 
related to practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us, and our business may be harmed. 

  
Being a new public company combined with these new rules and regulations makes it more expensive for us to obtain 

director and officer liability insurance, and, in the future, we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur 
substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors also could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain 
qualified management and members of our board of directors (the “Board”), particularly to serve on our audit committee and 
compensation committee. 
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As a result of filings required of a public company, our business and financial condition is now more visible, which we 
believe may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are 
successful, our business and operating results could be harmed. Even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in 
our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management 
and materially harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. 

  
We might have contingent liability arising out of a possible violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act in connection with 
our use of the free-writing Prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 1, 2020. 
  

Rule 433(b)(2) of the Securities Act requires that an unseasoned issuer (such as the Company) disseminating a free-
writing prospectus must accompany or precede such free-writing prospectus with the most recent statutory prospectus (unless 
there have been no changes to a previously provided prospectus), and failure to do so could result in a violation of Section 5 
of the Securities Act. On July 1, 2020, after filing Amendment No. 3 to the registration statement, we filed a free-writing 
prospectus with the SEC (the “FWP”). Amendment No. 3 did not include the volume or number of shares being offered. Our 
use of the FWP could be challenged as a violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act, which could result in us having a 
contingent liability. Any liability would depend upon the number of shares purchased by the ‘recipients’ of the FWP. If a 
claim were brought by any such ‘recipients’ and a court were to conclude that we violated Section 5 of the Securities Act, 
those ‘recipients’ might have rescission rights and we could be required to repurchase the shares sold to them, at the original 
purchase price, plus statutory interest from the date of purchase, for claims brought during a period of one year from the date 
of their purchase of shares. We could also incur considerable expense in contesting any such claims. Further, if our use of the 
FWP is deemed to be a violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act, the SEC and/or relevant state regulators could impose 
monetary fines or other sanctions under relevant federal and state securities laws. Such payments, expenses and fines, if 
required, could significantly reduce the amount of working capital we have available for our operations and business plan, 
delay or prevent us from completing our plan of operations, or force us to raise additional funding sooner than expected, 
which funding may not be available on favorable terms, if at all. Additionally, the trading price of our common stock might 
decline in value in the event we are deemed to have liability, are required to make payments or face sanctions in connection 
with the potential claim described above. 

  
Our common stock price might fluctuate significantly, and the price of our common stock may be negatively impacted by 
factors which are unrelated to our operations. 
  

Prior to our IPO, there was no market for shares of our common stock. An active trading market for our common stock 
might not be sustained, which could depress the market price of our common stock and affect your ability to sell our shares. 
The trading price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to 
various factors, some of which are beyond our control. These factors include: 
  
 · our operating performance and the operating performance of similar companies; 
    
 · our non-GAAP operating performance, as reported using Adjusted EBITDA, is not equivalent to net income 

(loss) from operations as determined under GAAP and shareholders may consider GAAP measures to be more 
relevant to our operating performance; 

     
 · the overall performance of the equity markets; 
     
 · announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, business plans, or commercial relationships; 
     
 · threatened or actual litigation; 
    
 · any major change in our board of directors or management; 
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 · publication of research reports or news stories about us, our competitors, or our industry, or positive or negative 
recommendations or withdrawal of research coverage by securities analysts; 

     
 · large volumes of sales of our shares of common stock by existing shareholders; and 
    
 · general political and economic conditions, including potential impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic. 

  
Securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the overall 

market and in the market price of a company’s securities. This litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial 
costs, divert our management’s attention and resources, and harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. 

  
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing, North Carolina state court is, to the fullest 
extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our shareholders. 
These choice of forum provisions could limit the ability of shareholders to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes 
with us or our directors, officers or employees. 
  

Unless we consent to the selection of an alternative forum, our amended and restated bylaws provide that North Carolina 
state courts will be, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or 
proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, 
officers or other employees to the Company or our shareholders; any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to 
the North Carolina Business Corporation Act, or our articles of incorporation or bylaws; or any action asserting a claim 
against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. Since the choice of forum provisions are only applicable to “the 
fullest extent permitted by law,” as provided in our bylaws, the provisions do not designate North Carolina courts as the 
exclusive forum for any derivative action or other claim for which the applicable statute creates exclusive jurisdiction in 
another forum. As such, the choice of forum provision does not apply to any actions arising under the Securities Act or the 
Exchange Act. 

  
These choice of forum provisions may limit a shareholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds 

favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us 
and our directors, officers and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provisions 
contained in our bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with 
resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and 
operating results. 

  
Because we do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our shares of common stock in the near future, our shareholders 
will not be able to receive a return on their shares unless they sell them. 
  

We intend to retain any future earnings to finance the development and expansion of our business. We do not anticipate 
paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the near future. The declaration, payment and amount of any future 
dividends will be made at the discretion of our Board, and will depend upon, among other things, the results of operations, 
cash flows and financial condition, operating and capital requirements, and other factors as our Board considers relevant. 
There is no assurance that future dividends will be paid, and if dividends are paid, there is no assurance with respect to the 
amount of any such dividend. Unless we pay dividends, our shareholders will not be able to receive a return on their shares 
unless they sell them. 

  
Future sales of shares of our common stock by existing shareholders could depress the market price of our common stock. 
  

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market by our shareholders might cause the market price 
of our common stock to decrease significantly. The perception that such sales could occur could also depress the market price 
of our common stock. Any such sales could also create public perception of difficulties or problems with our business and 
might also make it more difficult for us to raise capital through the sale of equity securities in the future at a time and price 
that we deem appropriate. 
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Joshua Harley, our Chief Executive Officer and Executive Chairman of the Board, together with Marco Fregenal, our 
President and Chief Financial Officer, and a director, and Glenn Sampson, a significant shareholder and director, own a 
significant percentage of our stock, and as a result, they can take actions that may be adverse to the interests of the other 
shareholders and the trading price for our common stock may be depressed. 
  

As of December 31, 2020, Joshua Harley, Marco Fregenal, and Glenn Sampson collectively beneficially owned 
approximately 36.1%, 10.6%, and 17.0% of our outstanding common stock, respectively. This significant concentration of 
share ownership may adversely affect the trading price for our common stock because investors may perceive disadvantages 
in owning stock in companies with controlling shareholders. The three shareholders voting together can significantly 
influence all matters requiring approval by our shareholders, including the election and removal of directors and any 
proposed merger, acquisition, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. In addition, due to his significant 
ownership stake and his service as our Executive Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Harley controls 
the management of our business and affairs. This concentration of ownership could have the effect of delaying, deferring or 
preventing a change in control, or impeding a merger or consolidation, takeover or other business combination that could be 
favorable to our other shareholders. 

  
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business or our 
market, or if they change their recommendations regarding our stock adversely, our stock price and trading volume could 
decline. 
  

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities 
analysts may publish about us, our business, our market, or our competitors. If any of the analysts who may cover us change 
their recommendation regarding our stock adversely, or provide more favorable recommendations about our competitors, our 
stock price would likely decline. If any analyst who may cover us were to cease coverage of the Company or fail to regularly 
publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading 
volume to decline. 

  
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. 
  
Not applicable. 
  
Item 2. Properties. 
  

Our principal executive office is located at 2000 Regency Parkway Drive, Suite 300 Cary, North Carolina, 27518. 
Our total office space at the principal executive office is approximately 12,000 square feet and has lease terms expiring in 
March 2028. We believe our office space is adequate for at least the next 12 months. 

  
We also lease office space located at 24800 Chrisanta Drive, Suite 140, Mission Viejo, California, 92691. This 

office space is approximately 1,980 square feet and is primarily for our accounting team. This office lease expired during 
December 2020 and the Company is currently renting this space on a month-to-month lease. 

  
In addition, we lease office space in Phoenix, Arizona; Rogers, Arkansas; Hollywood, Florida; Cumming, Georgia; 

Greenville, South Carolina; Morristown, New Jersey; Odenton, Maryland; Chesterfield, Missouri; and Laguna Hills, 
California. None of these leases are individually material to our business model and all have either an option to renew or are 
located in major markets with adequate opportunities to continue business operations at terms satisfactory to us. 

  
Item 3. Legal Proceedings. 
  

We are not involved in any litigation that we believe could have a material adverse effect on our financial position 
or results of operations. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation before or by any court, public board, 
government agency, self-regulatory organization or body pending or, to the knowledge of our executive officers, threatened 
against or affecting our Company or our officers or directors in their capacities as such. 

  
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures. 
  
Not applicable. 
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PART II 
  

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities. 
  

The information regarding our equity compensation plans required by this Item 5 is found in Part III, Item 12 of this 
Report. 
  
Market Information 
  

Our common stock trades on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “FTHM”. 
  
Holders of Common Stock 
  

As December 31, 2020, we had approximately 3,300 shareholders of record of our common stock. 
  
Dividends 
  

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock to date, and our Board intends to continue a policy of 
retaining earnings, if any, for use in our operations. We are organized under the North Carolina Business Corporation Act, 
which prohibits the payment of a dividend if, after giving it effect, we would not be able to pay our debts as they become due 
in the usual course of business or our total assets would be less than the sum of our total liabilities plus the amount that would 
be needed, if we were to be dissolved, to satisfy the preferential rights upon dissolution of any preferred shareholders. Any 
determination by our Board to pay dividends in the future to shareholders will be dependent upon our operational results, 
financial condition, capital requirements, business projections, general business conditions, statutory and regulatory 
restrictions and any other factors deemed appropriate by our Board. 
  
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 
  

The following list sets forth information as to all securities we have sold since May 5, 2017 (date of inception) up to 
the date of this document, which were not registered under the Securities Act. 

  
Exchange Transactions 
  

As part of a corporate reorganization, we restated our Articles of Incorporation on September 11, 2018 such that (i) 
each share of Series A common stock outstanding as of immediately prior to the filing of the Restated Articles of 
Incorporation was canceled and (ii) each two shares of Series B common stock outstanding as of immediately prior to the 
filing of the Restated Articles of Incorporation was converted and reclassified into one share of common stock. Pursuant to 
the Restated Articles of Incorporation, we also amended the number of authorized shares of the corporation to 100,000,000 
shares, no par value, all of one class designated common stock. We refer to these steps as the “Exchange Transactions.” 

  
The Exchange Transactions were exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to 

Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act, as an exchange of securities of the same issuer without cash consideration. 
  

Sales of Common Stock 
  

In January 2020, we issued and sold 15,726 shares of common stock for $5.28 per share to 4 investors in a private 
placement for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $83,000. 

  
In November 2020, we issued 46,577 shares of common stock to the equity holders of Verus Title Inc. (“Verus”) 

upon the acquisition of that company. 
  
In March 2021, we issued 26,644 shares of common stock to the equity holders of Red Barn Real Estate upon the 

acquisition of that company. 
  

Each of the foregoing issuances was made in a transaction not involving a public offering pursuant to an exemption 
from the registration requirements of the Securities Act in reliance upon Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, or 
Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act. 
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Plan-Related Issuances 
  

In January 2020, we sold shares of common stock to certain employees and agents under our 2019 Omnibus Stock 
Incentive Plan with gross proceeds totaling approximately $0.1 million. This issuance and sale was exempt from the 
registration requirements of the Securities Act pursuant to Rule 701 promulgated under Section 3(b) of the Securities Act as 
transactions by an issuer not involving any public offering or under benefit plans and contracts relating to compensation as 
provided under Rule 701. 

  
This issuance and sale did not involve any underwriters, underwriting discounts or commissions or any public 

offering. All recipients had adequate access, through their relationships with us, to information about us. The sales of these 
securities were made without any general solicitation or advertising. 
  
Use of Proceeds 
  

On June 30, 2020, the SEC declared effective our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-235972), as 
amended, filed in connection with the IPO of our common stock. Pursuant to the Registration Statement, we registered the 
offer and sale of up to approximately $40,000,000 of our common stock. On August 4, 2020, we issued and sold 3,430,000 
shares of our common stock at a price to the public of $10.00 per share. Roth Capital Partners acted as sole underwriter for 
the offering. 

  
As a result of the offering, we received net proceeds of approximately $31.3 million in the aggregate, which consists 

of gross proceeds of approximately $34.3 million, offset by underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $2.4 
million and other offering expenses of approximately $600,000. No payments for such expenses were made directly or 
indirectly to (i) any of our officers or directors or their associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our 
equity securities or (iii) any of our affiliates. The offering has terminated. 

  
There has been no material change in the expected use of the net proceeds from our IPO as described in our final 

prospectus, dated July 30, 2020, filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) relating to our Registration Statement on Form 
S-1. 
  
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
  

We did not make any purchases of our common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2020, which is 
the fourth quarter of our fiscal year. 
  
Item 6. Selected Financial Data. 
  

Item not required for smaller reporting companies. 
  
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. 
  

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in 
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements, the accompanying notes, and other financial information included 
elsewhere in this Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such as 
our plans, estimates, and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially from those forward-looking statements below. 
Factors that could cause or contribute to those differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those 
discussed under “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Report. 

  
Overview 
  

Fathom is a cloud-based, technology-driven platform-as-a-service company operating in the real estate industry. Our 
primary operation, Fathom Realty (as defined below), operates as a real estate brokerage company, working with real estate 
agents to help individuals purchase and sell residential and commercial properties, primarily in the South, Atlantic, 
Southwest, and Western parts of the United States, with the intention of expanding into all states. 
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Fathom Realty Holdings, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (“Fathom Realty”), is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Fathom Holdings Inc. that was formed on April 11, 2011 and is headquartered in Cary, North Carolina. Fathom Realty 
owns 100% of 28 subsidiaries, each an LLC representing the state in which the entity operates (e.g. Fathom Realty NJ, LLC). 

  
On August 4, 2020, the Company completed an IPO of its common stock, which resulted in the issuance and sale of 

3,430,000 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $10.00 per share, generating net proceeds of $31.1 million 
after deducting underwriting discounts and other offering costs. 

  
On November 24, 2020, the Company completed its acquisition of Verus. Verus partners with real estate brokerage 

firms and lender institutions to offer title and settlement solutions, as well as insurance premium services, associated with real 
estate transactions. Verus operates as a technology enabled title agency offering a client-focused approach to real estate 
transactions in the South, Atlantic and Northeast parts of the United States. The acquisition of Verus complements the 
Company's suite of services focused on title and settlement solutions, as well as insurance premium services, associated with 
real estate transaction in the residential real estate market, gives agents another distinct competitive advantage, and further 
positions the Company to continue on our growth trajectory. 

  
COVID-19 
  

Our business is dependent on the economic conditions within the markets in which we operate. Changes in these 
conditions can have a positive or negative impact on our business. The economic conditions influencing the housing markets 
primarily include economic growth, interest rates, unemployment, consumer confidence, mortgage availability, and supply 
and demand. 

  
In periods of economic growth, demand typically increases resulting in increasing home sales transactions and home 

sales prices. Similarly, a decline in economic growth, increasing interest rates and declining consumer confidence generally 
decreases demand. Additionally, regulations imposed by local, state, and federal government agencies, and geopolitical 
instability, can also negatively impact the housing markets in which we operate. 

  
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, was identified in Wuhan, China. This new coronavirus 

has caused a global health emergency and was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020 
(“COVID-19’’ or the “Pandemic”). In an effort to contain and slow the spread of COVID-19, governments implemented 
various measures, such as, ordering non-essential businesses to close, issuing travel advisories, cancelling large scale public 
events, ordering residents to shelter in place, and requiring the public to practice social distancing. In most states, real estate 
has been considered an essential business. 

  
We are continually monitoring the affects COVID-19 could have on our business. We believe that in the states and 

regions in which we operate the social and economic impacts, which include, but are not limited to, the following, could have 
a significant bearing on our future financial condition, liquidity, and results of operations: (i) restrictions on in-person 
activities associated with residential real estate transactions arising from shelter-in-place, or similar isolation orders; (ii) 
decline in consumer demand for in-person interactions and physical home tours; and (iii) deteriorating economic conditions, 
such as increased unemployment rates, recessionary conditions, lower yields on individual investment portfolios, and more 
stringent mortgage financing conditions. In response to COVID-19, the Company implemented cost-saving measures early 
on to include the elimination of non-essential travel and in-person training activities, and deferral of certain planned 
expenditures. 

  
COVID-19 has materially and adversely affected businesses worldwide. While the Federal Reserve’s quantitative 

easing and lowering of interest rates could offset some of the negative impacts on housing demand, it is too early to 
determine whether the lower interest rates can overcome the current economic concerns and rising uncertainty. According to 
the NAR housing statistics, existing home sales saw a seasonal decrease of 3.9% in December 2020 from the previous month, 
but actually increased 22.2% in December 2020 compared to the previous year. We believe these trends were driven by 
declining mortgage rates, a decline in inventory, and an increasing demand for remote workspace, among other factors. 

  
Despite the ongoing Pandemic, the Company’s transactions and base of agents increased during 2020. However, 

while the Company believes it is well positioned in times of economic uncertainty, it is not able to estimate the effects of 
COVID-19 on its results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity for the year ending December 31, 2020 and beyond. If 
the Pandemic continues, it might have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, liquidity, and future 
results of operations. 
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Agents 
  

Due to our low-overhead business model, which leverages our proprietary technology, we can offer our agents the 
ability to keep significantly more of their commissions compared to traditional real estate brokerage firms. We believe we 
offer our agents some of the best technology, training, and support available in the industry. We believe our business model 
and our focus on treating our agents well will attract more agents and higher-producing agents. 

  
We had the following number of agents as of: 
  

    
December 31,  

2020     
December 31,  

2019     Change   
Agents     5,471       4,006       37% 

  
Reportable Segments 
  

Historically, management has not made operating decisions nor assessed performance based on geographic 
locations. Rather, the chief operating decision maker makes operating decisions and assesses performance based on the 
services of identified operating segments. While management does consider real estate and brokerage services and affiliated 
services (e.g. title insurance) to be identified operating segments, the profits and losses and assets of the affiliated services 
segment are not material. The Company aggregates the identified operating segments for reporting purposes. 
  
Components of Our Results of Operations 
  
Revenue 
  

The Company’s revenue substantially consists of commissions generated from real estate brokerage services. 
  
We recognize commission-based revenue on the closing of a transaction, less the amount of any closing-cost 

reductions. Furthermore, in connection with our acquisition of Verus, we also recognized property settlement and title 
insurance revenue upon the closing of the transaction. Revenue is affected by the number of real estate transactions we close, 
the mix of transactions, home sale prices, and commission rates. 
  
Agent Equity Ownership 
  

Effective January 1, 2019, agents can receive stock grants, which vest in three years based on continued affiliation 
with the Company, in two ways: 1) when the agent closes a sale of a property for the Company; and 2) when the agent refers 
another agent to join the Company. These stock grants are granted quarterly. 
  
Cost of Revenue 
  

Cost of revenue consists primarily of agent commissions, less fees paid to us by our agents, order fulfillment, and 
title searches. We expect cost of revenue to continue to rise in proportion to the expected increase in revenue. 

  
Operating Expenses 
  
General and Administrative 
  

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, share-based compensation, and fees for 
professional services. Professional services principally consist of external legal, audit, and tax services. In the short term, we 
expect general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars due to the anticipated growth of our business and 
to meet the increased compliance requirements associated with our transition to, and operation as, a public company. 
However, in the long term, we anticipate general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue to decrease over 
time, if and as we are able to increase revenue. 
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Marketing 
  

Marketing expenses consist primarily of expenses for online and traditional advertising, as well as costs for 
marketing and promotional materials. Advertising costs are expensed as they are incurred. We expect marketing expenses to 
increase in absolute dollars as we use the proceeds of our IPO to expand advertising programs and we anticipate marketing 
expenses as a percentage of revenue to decrease over time, if and as we are able to increase revenue. 

  
Income Taxes 
  

We have not recorded any U.S. federal or state income tax benefits for the net losses we have incurred due to our 
uncertainty of realizing a benefit from those items. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had federal net operating loss 
carryforwards of $9.2 million and $6.2 million and state net operating loss carryforwards of $4.5 million and $3.0 million, 
respectively. Losses will begin to expire, if not utilized, in 2032. Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards may be 
subject to an annual limitation according to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended, and similar state 
law provisions. 
  
Results of Operations 
  
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
  
Revenue 

  
    Years Ended December 31,     Change   
    2020     2019     Dollars     Percentage   

Revenue   $176,784,060     $111,205,854     $ 65,578,206       59% 
  
For the year ended December 31, 2020, revenue increased by approximately $65.6 million or 59%, as compared 

with the year ended December 31, 2019. This was primarily due to an increase in transaction volume from approximately 
17,800 transactions for the year ended December 31, 2019 to approximately 25,700 transactions for the year ended December 
31, 2020, and revenue generated from property settlement and title insurance. Our transaction volume increased primarily due 
to the growth in the number of agents contracted with us. Furthermore, revenues from Verus totaled approximately $0.2 
million for the year ended December 31, 2020 post-acquisition closing. 

  
Cost of Revenue 
  

    Years Ended December 31,     Change   
    2020     2019     Dollars     Percentage   

Cost of revenue   $166,365,736     $105,256,810     $ 61,108,926       58% 
  

For the year ended December 31, 2020, cost of revenue increased by approximately $61.1 million, or 58%, as 
compared with the year ended December 31, 2019. Cost of revenue primarily includes costs related to agent commissions, 
net of fees paid to us by our agents. These costs are generally correlated with recognized revenues. As such, the increase in 
cost of revenue compared to the same period in 2019 was primarily attributable to an increase in agent commissions paid due 
to higher transaction volume and rising home prices. 
  
Operating Expenses 

  
    Years Ended December 31,     Change   
    2020     2019     Dollars     Percentage   

General and administrative   $ 10,723,222     $ 9,599,050     $ 1,124,172       12% 
Marketing     970,126       340,582       629,544       185% 

Total operating expenses   $ 11,693,348     $ 9,939,632     $ 1,753,716       18% 
  

For the year ended December 31, 2020, general and administrative expenses increased by approximately $1.1 
million, or 12%, as compared with the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to our growth 
and becoming a public company, including a $0.9 million increase in payroll salaries and benefits, a $0.5 million increase in 
professional fees, a $0.5 million increase in insurance expenses, a $0.4 million increase in recruiting and training expenses, a 
$0.2 million increase in technology expenses, a $0.1 million increase in office expenses, and a $0.1 million increase in Board 
expenses, offset by a $0.9 million decrease in share-based compensation expense, and a $0.7 million decrease in other 
general and administrative expenses. 
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For the year ended December 31, 2020, marketing expenses increased by approximately $0.6 million, or 185%, as 

compared with the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in direct advertising 
costs, which we expanded using proceeds from our IPO. 
  
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
  
Capital Resources 
  

    December 31,     Change   
    2020     2019     Dollars     Percentage   

Current assets   $ 32,856,453     $ 1,654,079     $ 31,202,374       1,886% 
Current liabilities     4,989,855       2,936,547       2,053,308       70% 

Net working capital   $ 27,866,598     $ (1,282,468 )   $ 29,149,066       2,273% 
  

On August 4, 2020 the Company completed its IPO, which resulted in the issuance and sale of 3,430,000 shares of 
its common stock at a public offering price of $10.00 per share, generating net proceeds of $31.1 million after deducting 
underwriting discounts and other offering costs. 

  
To date, our principal sources of liquidity have been the net proceeds we received through the IPO and, historically, 

private sales of our common stock, as well as proceeds from loans and operations. As of December 31, 2020, our available 
cash totaled $28.6 million, which represented an increase of $28.0 million compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. 
As of December 31, 2020, we had net working capital of $27.9 million, which represented an increase of $29.1 million 
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. We anticipate that our existing balances of cash and cash equivalents and 
future expected cash flows generated from our operations will be sufficient to satisfy our operating requirements for at least 
the next twelve months. 

  
Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including potential acquisitions, our level of investment in 

technology, and our rate of growth into new markets. Our capital requirements might also be affected by factors which we 
cannot control such as the residential real estate market, interest rates, and other monetary and fiscal policy changes to the 
manner in which we currently operate. Additionally, as the impact of COVID-19 on the economy and operations evolves, we 
will continuously assess our liquidity needs. In the event of a sustained market deterioration, we may need or seek 
advantageously to obtain additional funding through equity or debt financing, which might not be available on favorable 
terms or at all and could hinder our business and dilute our existing shareholders. 

  
Cash Flows 
  
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 
  

    Years Ended December 31,     Change   
    2020     2019     Dollars     Percentage   

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (1,214,252 )   $ (1,110,972 )   $ (103,280 )     (9)%
Net cash used in investing activities   $ (909,746 )   $ (372,816 )   $ (536,930 )     (144)%
Net cash provided by financing activities   $ 31,106,216     $ 1,054,666     $ 30,051,550       2,849% 
  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
  

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted of a net loss of $1.3 million, 
non-cash charges of $1.0 million, including $0.7 million of share-based compensation expense, $0.1 million of bad debt, and 
$0.2 million of depreciation and amortization. Changes in assets and liabilities were primarily driven by a $1.5 million 
increase in accounts payable due primarily to the increase in agent transaction volume, a $0.6 million increase in escrow 
liabilities, partially offset by a $1.3 million increase in accounts receivable, a $0.8 million increase in prepaid and other 
current assets, a $0.7 million decrease in accrued liabilities, and a $0.1 million increase in agent annual fees receivable due 
primarily to an increase in the number of agents. 
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Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 consisted of a net loss of $4.1 million, 
offset by non-cash charges of $1.9 million, including $1.6 million of share-based compensation expense, $0.2 million of bad 
debt expense, and $0.1 million of depreciation and amortization. Changes in assets and liabilities were primarily driven by a 
$1.2 million decrease in accounts receivable, a $0.3 million decrease in prepaid and other current assets, a $0.1 million 
increase in accounts payable, partially offset by a $0.3 million decrease in accrued liabilities, and a $0.2 million increase in 
annual fees due from agents. 
  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
  

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted of $0.5 million for purchases 
of capitalized software as well as computers and equipment, $0.3 million for the purchase of Verus, net of cash acquired, and 
$0.2 million for the issuance of a loan to Naberly. See Note 7-Loan Receivable and Note 18-Subsequent Events 

  
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 consisted of $0.4 million for purchases 

of capitalized software as well as computers and equipment. 
  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
  

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2020 consisted of $34.3 million of 
proceeds from the issuance of common stock in connection with the IPO, $0.5 million in proceeds from notes payable, and 
$0.1 million of proceeds from issuance of common stock, which was offset by $3.2 million in payments of offering costs in 
connection with issuance of common stock in connection with IPO, $0.5 million payments on the note payable, purchase of 
treasury stock, and our principal payments on an outstanding loan. 

  
Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 consisted of $1.1 million of 

proceeds from issuance of common stock and principal payments to the Company on an outstanding loan. 
  
NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURE 
  

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with U.S. 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”), we use Adjusted EBITDA, a non-GAAP financial measure, to 
understand and evaluate our core operating performance. This non-GAAP financial measure, which may be different than 
similarly titled measures used by other companies, is presented to enhance investors’ overall understanding of our financial 
performance and should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in 
accordance with GAAP. 

  
We define the non-GAAP financial measure of Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss), excluding other expense, 

income tax benefit, depreciation and amortization, and share-based compensation expense. 
  
We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information about our financial performance, enhances the 

overall understanding of our past performance and future prospects, and allows for greater transparency with respect to a key 
metric used by our management for financial and operational decision-making. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA helps 
identify underlying trends in our business that otherwise could be masked by the effect of the expenses that we exclude in 
Adjusted EBITDA. In particular, we believe the exclusion of share-based compensation expense related to restricted stock 
awards and stock options provides a useful supplemental measure in evaluating the performance of our operations and 
provides better transparency into our results of operations. 

  
We are presenting the non-GAAP measure of Adjusted EBITDA to assist investors in seeing our financial 

performance through the eyes of management, and because we believe this measure provides an additional tool for investors 
to use in comparing our core financial performance over multiple periods with other companies in our industry. 

  
Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared 

in accordance with GAAP. There are a number of limitations related to the use of Adjusted EBITDA compared to net income 
(loss), the closest comparable GAAP measure. Some of these limitations are that: 
  
 · Adjusted EBITDA excludes share-based compensation expense related to restricted stock awards and stock 

options, which have been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, significant recurring expenses in 
our business and an important part of our compensation strategy; and 
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 · Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain recurring, non-cash charges such as depreciation and amortization of 
property and equipment and capitalized software costs, however, the assets being depreciated and amortized 
may have to be replaced in the future. 

  
The following tables present a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss), the most comparable GAAP 

financial measure, for each of the periods presented: 
  

    
For the Years Ended 

December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Net loss   $ (1,340,584 )   $ (4,092,297) 
Other expense     74,031       109,709  
Income tax benefit     (8,471 )     (8,000) 
Depreciation & amortization     165,417       60,441  
Restricted stock award compensation expense     691,807       1,570,151  
Stock option compensation expense     36,636       59,453  
Adjusted EBITDA   $ (381,164 )   $ (2,300,543) 
  
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
  

Discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, 
which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). The preparation of 
these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, revenue, and expenses at the date of the financial 
statements. Generally, we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions in accordance with 
GAAP that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions. 

  
Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our 

financial condition and results of operations because they require our most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments, often 
as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. 

  
Revenue Recognition 
  

We apply the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification 
(“ASC”) Topic 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606”), and all related appropriate guidance. We 
recognize revenue under the core principle to depict the transfer of control to our customers in an amount reflecting the 
consideration to which we expect to be entitled. In order to achieve that core principle, we apply the following five step 
approach: (1) identify the contract with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the 
transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue 
when a performance obligation is satisfied. 

  
Our revenue consists of commissions charged to individual customers (i.e. the seller or buyer of a residential 

property) on each real estate transaction completed, net of any closing-cost reductions. We are contractually obligated to 
provide for the fulfillment of transfers of real estate between buyers and sellers. We provide these services ourselves and 
control the services of our agents necessary to legally transfer the real estate. As such, we are defined as the principal. As 
principal, we satisfy our obligation upon the closing of a real estate transaction. As principal, and upon satisfaction of our 
obligation, we recognize revenue in the gross amount of consideration we expect we are entitled to receive. We calculate the 
transaction price by applying the Company’s portion of the agreed upon commission rate to the property’s selling price. We 
may provide services to the buyer, seller, or both parties to a transaction. When we provide services to the seller in a 
transaction, we recognize revenue for our portion of the commission, which is calculated as the sales price multiplied by the 
commission rate less the commission separately distributed to the buyer’s agent, or the “sell” side portion of the commission. 
When we provide services to the buyer in a transaction, we recognize revenue in an amount equal to the sales price for the 
property multiplied by the commission rate for the “buy” side of the transaction. In instances in which we represent both the 
buyer and the seller in a transaction, we recognize the full commission on the transaction. Commissions revenue contains a 
single performance obligation that is satisfied upon the closing of a real estate transaction, at which point the entire 
transaction price is earned. We are not entitled to any commission until the performance obligation is satisfied and are not 
owed any commission for unsuccessful transactions, even if services have been provided.  

  



40 

The Company's revenue also consists of fees charged for title, property settlement and title insurance services 
provided in association with property acquisitions. We provide the title and property settlement services ourselves and 
control the services before they are transferred to our customers since we are primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise 
and also have full discretion in establishing the price for the services. As such, we are defined as the principal. As principal, 
we satisfy our obligation upon the closing of a real estate transaction. Upon satisfaction of our obligation, we recognize 
revenue in the gross amount of consideration we are entitled to receive. The transaction price for title and property settlement 
services is determined by the fixed fees we charge for our services. We provide our services to the buyers and sellers 
involved in the transaction. Title and property settlement revenue contains a single performance obligation that is satisfied 
upon the closing of a real estate transaction, at which point the entire transaction price is earned. The Company is not entitled 
to any title and property settlement revenue until the performance obligation is satisfied and is not owed any consideration for 
unsuccessful transactions, even if services have been provided. 

  
For title insurance services, we work in conjunction with insurance underwriters to perform these services, obtain 

the insurance policy premiums associated with title insurance on behalf of customers and remit the policy premium to the 
insurance underwriters. Since the insurance underwriter is ultimately providing the insurance policy to the borrower, we are 
not responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified services. Additionally, we do not have discretion in 
dictating the price for the insurance policy, which is set by each jurisdiction. Therefore, we do not control the specified 
service provided by the insurance underwriter. As such, in these circumstances, we act as an agent. As the agent, we satisfy 
our obligation upon the closing of a real estate transaction. Upon satisfaction of our obligation, we recognize revenue in the 
net amount of consideration we are entitled to receive, which is our fee for brokering the insurance policy less any 
consideration paid to the insurance underwriters. The transaction price for title insurance services is fixed, based on statutory 
rates depending on the jurisdiction. We negotiate with insurance underwriters the percentage they receive, and the rest is 
recognized as revenue. Title insurance revenue contains a single performance obligation that is satisfied upon the closing of a 
real estate transaction, at which point the entire transaction price is earned. The Company is not entitled to any title insurance 
revenue until the performance obligation is satisfied and is not owed any consideration for unsuccessful transactions, even if 
services have been provided. 

  
Business Combinations 
  

The Company accounts for its business combinations under the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification 
("ASC") Topic 805-10, Business Combinations ("ASC 805-10"), which requires that the purchase method of accounting be 
used for all business combinations. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at the date of acquisition at their 
respective fair values. For transactions that are business combinations, the Company evaluates the existence of goodwill. 
Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of the tangible net assets and intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination. ASC 805-10 also specifies criteria that intangible assets acquired in a business combination must meet 
to be recognized and reported apart from goodwill. Acquisition-related expenses are recognized separately from the business 
combinations and are expensed as incurred. 

  
The estimated fair value of net assets acquired, including the allocation of the fair value to identifiable assets and 

liabilities, was determined using established valuation techniques. A fair value measurement is determined as the price we 
would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. In the context of purchase accounting, the determination of fair value often involves significant judgments 
and estimates by management, including the selection of valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenues, costs and 
cash flows, discount rates, and selection of comparable companies.  The estimated fair values reflected in the purchase 
accounting rely on management’s judgment and the expertise of a third-party valuation firm engaged to assist in concluding 
on the fair value measurements. The estimated fair value of identifiable intangible assets, consisting of trade names acquired, 
was determined using relief from royalty method. 

  
The most significant assumptions under the relief from royalty method used to value trade names include estimated 

remaining useful life, expected revenue, royalty rate, tax rate, discount rate and tax amortization benefit. Management has 
developed these assumptions on the basis of historical knowledge of the business and projected financial information of the 
Company. These assumptions may vary based on future events, perceptions of different market participants and other factors 
outside the control of Management, and such variations may be significant to estimated values. 
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Goodwill  
  

Goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired, is carried at cost. 
Goodwill is not amortized; rather, it is subject to a periodic assessment for impairment by applying a fair value-based test. 
The Company is organized in one reporting unit and evaluates the goodwill for the Company as a whole. Goodwill is 
assessed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the asset 
might be impaired. Under the authoritative guidance issued by the FASB, the Company has the option to first assess the 
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its 
carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. If the 
Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then 
the goodwill impairment test is performed. The goodwill impairment test requires the Company to estimate the fair value of 
the reporting unit and to compare the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the fair value exceeds the 
carrying amount, then no impairment is recognized. If the carrying amount recorded exceeds the fair value calculated, then an 
impairment charge is recognized for the difference. The judgments made in determining the projected cash flows used to 
estimate the fair value can materially impact the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. There was no 
impairment of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

  
Share-based Compensation 

  
Share-based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as 

expense, over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. 
  

Valuation of Common Stock 
  
In order to determine the fair value of our common stock for stock option awards granted prior to our IPO, we 

considered, among other things, contemporaneous valuations of our common stock, our business, financial condition and 
results of operations, including related industry trends affecting our operations; the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, 
such as an initial public offering, or sale, given prevailing market conditions; the lack of marketability of our common stock; 
the market performance of comparable publicly traded companies; and U.S. and global economic and capital market 
conditions. The fair value of our other restricted stock awards has been based on sales of the Company’s common stock to 
third parties. Following the IPO, it is not necessary to estimate the fair value of our common stock, as our shares are traded in 
the public market. 
  
Income Taxes 

  
Income taxes are accounted for using an asset and liability approach that requires the recognition of deferred tax 

assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the combined financial 
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities at the applicable enacted tax rates. We establish a valuation allowance for 
deferred tax assets if it is probable that these items will expire before either we are able to realize their benefit or that future 
deductibility is uncertain. 

  
We believe that it is currently more likely than not that our deferred tax assets will not be realized and as such, we 

have recorded a full valuation allowance for these assets. We evaluate the likelihood of the ability to realize deferred tax 
assets in future periods on a quarterly basis, and when appropriate evidence indicates we will release our valuation allowance 
accordingly. The determination to provide a valuation allowance is dependent upon the assessment of whether it is more 
likely than not that sufficient taxable income will be generated to utilize the deferred tax assets. Based on the weight of the 
available evidence, which includes our historical operating losses, lack of taxable income, and accumulated deficit, we 
provided a full valuation allowance against our tax assets resulting from the tax losses and credits carried forward. 

  
Recent Accounting Standards 
  

For information on recent accounting standards, see Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this report. 
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JOBS Act Transition Period 
  
In April 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) was enacted. Section 107 of the 

JOBS Act provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in 
Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. Thus, an emerging growth 
company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private 
companies. We have irrevocably elected not to avail ourselves of this extended transition period and, as a result, we will 
adopt new or revised accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for other 
public companies. 

  
Subject to certain conditions, as an emerging growth company, we may rely on certain other exemptions and 

reduced reporting requirements under the JOBS Act. Certain of these exemptions are, including without limitation, from the 
requirements of (i) providing an auditor’s attestation report on our system of internal controls over financial reporting 
pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; and (ii) complying with any requirement that may be adopted by the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report 
providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements, known as the auditor discussion and analysis. 
We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier to occur of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the 
fifth anniversary of the effectiveness of this registration statement, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenues of at 
least $1.07 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” under the rules of the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission, which means the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 
million as of the prior June 30th, and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt 
during the prior three-year period. 
  
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. 
  

Item not required for smaller reporting companies. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
  

Shareholders and Board of Directors 
Fathom Holdings Inc. 
Cary, North Carolina 
  
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements  
  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fathom Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 
31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for 
each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
“consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
  
Basis for Opinion 
  
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm 
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit 
of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal 
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. 
  
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our 
audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 
  
/s/ BDO USA, LLP 
  
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018. 
  
Raleigh, North Carolina 
March 24, 2021 
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FATHOM HOLDINGS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

  
    December 31,   
    2020     2019   

ASSETS            
Current assets:                

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 28,577,396     $ 579,416  
Restricted cash     984,238       —  
Accounts receivable     1,595,444       304,769  
Agent annual fees receivable, net     284,725       356,131  
Loan receivable     165,000       —  
Prepaid and other current assets     1,249,650       413,763  

Total current assets     32,856,453       1,654,079  
Goodwill     799,058       —  
Property and equipment, net     154,599       105,972  
Intangible assets, net     922,147       464,842  
Lease right of use assets     437,421       265,140  
Other assets     55,301       —  

Total assets   $ 35,224,979     $ 2,490,033  
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)                

Current liabilities:                
Accounts payable   $ 2,596,206     $ 946,031  
Accrued liabilities     1,063,889       1,883,855  
Escrow liabilities     933,336       —  
Long-term debt - current portion     256,324       17,095  
Lease liability - current portion     140,100       89,566  

Total current liabilities     4,989,855       2,936,547  
Long-term debt, net of current portion     282,950       535,093  
Lease liability, net of current portion     301,429       177,578  

Total liabilities     5,574,234       3,649,218  
Commitments and contingencies                
Stockholders' equity (deficit):                

Common stock, no par value, 100,000,000 authorized and 13,830,351 and 
10,211,658 issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019     —      —  
Treasury Stock, at cost, 5,683 and 0 shares as of December 31, 2020 and 2019     (30,000 )     —  
Additional paid-in capital     37,168,896       4,988,382  
Accumulated deficit     (7,488,151 )     (6,147,567) 

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)     29,650,745       (1,159,185) 
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity   $ 35,224,979     $ 2,490,033  

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FATHOM HOLDINGS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

  
    Years Ended December 31,   
    2020     2019   

Revenue   $ 176,784,060     $111,205,854  
Cost of revenue     166,365,736       105,256,810  
Gross profit     10,418,324       5,949,044  
General and administrative     10,723,222       9,599,050  
Marketing     970,126       340,582  

Total operating expenses     11,693,348       9,939,632  
Loss from operations     (1,275,024 )     (3,990,588) 
Other expense (income), net                

Interest expense, net     84,031       109,709  
Other income, net     (10,000 )     —  

Other expense (income), net     74,031       109,709  
Loss from operations before income taxes     (1,349,055 )     (4,100,297) 
Income tax benefit     8,471     8,000  
Net loss   $ (1,340,584 )   $ (4,092,297) 
Net loss per share                

Basic and Diluted   $ (0.12 )   $ (0.42) 
Weighted average common shares outstanding                

Basic and Diluted     11,404,262       9,804,988  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FATHOM HOLDINGS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 and 2019  
  

    Common Stock     Treasury Stock     
Additional 

Paid in     Accumulated        
   Shares     Par Value     Shares     Amount     Capital     deficit     Total   

Balance at December 31, 2018   9,440,061    $ -       -     $ -   $ 2,287,312   $ (2,055,270)   $ 232,042  
Issuance of common stock   216,194      -       -      -    1,071,466    -      1,071,466  
Share-based compensation   555,403      -       -      -    1,629,604    -      1,629,604  
Net loss   -      -       -      -    -    (4,092,297)     (4,092,297) 

Balance at December 31, 2019    10,211,658    $ -       -     $ -    $ 4,988,382    $ (6,147,567)   $ (1,159,185) 
Issuance of common stock   15,726      -       -      -    83,014    -      83,014  
Issuance of common stock in 
connection with IPO    3,430,000      -       -      -     34,300,000     -      34,300,000  
Issuance of common stock for 
the purchase of Verus    12,662      -       -      -     252,341     -      252,341  
Purchase of treasury stock   (5,683)     -       5,683      (30,000 )   -    -      (30,000) 
Offering costs in connection 
with IPO   -      -       -      -    (3,183,284 )   -      (3,183,284) 
Share-based compensation   165,988      -       -      -    728,443    -      728,443  
Net loss    -      -       -      -     -     (1,340,584)     (1,340,584) 

Balance at December 31, 2020    13,830,351    $ -       5,683     $ (30,000 )   $ 37,168,896    $ (7,488,151)   $ 29,650,745  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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FATHOM HOLDINGS INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

  

    Years Ended December 31,   
    2020     2019   
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:                
Net loss   $ (1,340,584 )   $ (4,092,297) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:                
Depreciation and amortization     165,417       60,441  
Non-cash lease expense     (20,805)       (3,326)  
Bad debt expense     133,152       211,390  
Deferred income tax     (45,985 )     —  
Share-based compensation     728,443       1,629,604  
Change in operating assets and liabilities:                

Accounts receivable     (1,263,351 )     1,189,811  
Agent annual fees receivable     (61,746 )     (245,451) 
Prepaid and other assets     (816,919 )     336,749  
Accounts payable     1,467,841       118,153  
Accrued liabilities     (735,691 )     (321,376) 
Escrow liabilities     608,369       —  
Operating lease liabilities     22,908       5,330  
Other assets     (55,301 )     —  

Net cash used in operating activities     (1,214,252 )     (1,110,972) 
                 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:                

Purchase of property and equipment     (66,254 )     (41,336) 
Purchase of Verus, net of cash acquired of $464,095     (256,544 )     —  
Purchase of intangible assets     (421,948 )     (331,480) 
Issuance of loan receivable      (165,000 )     —  

Net cash used in investing activities     (909,746 )     (372,816) 
                 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:                

Principal payments on long-term debt     (17,095 )     (16,800) 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock     83,014       1,071,466  
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock in connection with IPO     34,300,000       —  
Payment of offering costs in connection with issuance of common stock in IPO     (3,183,284 )     —  
Purchase of treasury stock     (30,000 )     —  
Payment of note payable     (500,000 )     —  
Proceeds from debt     453,581       —  
Net cash provided by financing activities     31,106,216       1,054,666  

                 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash     28,982,218       (429,122) 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period     579,416       1,008,538  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period   $ 29,561,634     $ 579,416  
                 

Supplemental disclosure of cash and non-cash transactions:                
Cash paid for interest   $ 88,313     $ 109,856  
Income taxes paid   $ 22,775     $ 1,250  
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for lease liabilities   $ 159,891     $ 261,814  
Issuance of common stock warrants as offering costs in connection with IPO   $ 677,082     $ —  
Issuance of common stock for the purchase of Verus   $ 252,341     $ —  

                 

Reconciliation of cash and restricted cash                
Cash and cash equivalents     28,577,396       579,416  
Restricted cash     984,238       —  
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in statement of cash flows   $ 29,561,634     $ 579,416  

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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FATHOM HOLDINGS INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
  
Note 1. Description of Business and Nature of Operations 
  

Fathom Holdings Inc. (“Fathom Holdings,” and collectively with its consolidated subsidiaries and affiliates, the 
“Company”) is a cloud-based, technology-driven platform-as-a-service company, working with agents, to help individuals 
purchase and sell residential properties primarily in the South, Atlantic, Southwest and Western parts of the United States. 
The Company has operations located in multiple states nationwide. The Company is engaged by its customers to assist with 
buying, selling, or leasing property. In exchange for its services, the Company is compensated by commission income earned 
upon closing of the sale of a property or execution of a lease. Typically, within the brokerage industry, all brokers involved in 
a sale are compensated based on commission rates negotiated in a listing agreement. Agents on the “buy” and “sell” sides of 
each transaction share the total commission identified in the listing agreement. The Company may provide services to the 
buyer, seller, or both parties to a transaction. When the Company provides services to the seller in a transaction, it recognizes 
revenue for its portion of the commission, which is calculated as the sales price multiplied by the commission rate less the 
commission separately distributed to the buyer’s agent, or the “sell” side portion of the commission. When the Company 
provides services to the buyer in a transaction, the Company recognizes revenue in an amount equal to the sales price for the 
property multiplied by the commission rate for the “buy” side of the transaction. In instances in which the Company 
represents both the buyer and the seller in a transaction, it recognizes the full commission on the transaction. 

  
On July 10, 2020, in connection with its anticipated IPO, the Company approved a 4.71352-for-one reverse stock 

split of the Company’s common stock. No fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse stock split. All 
fractional shares as a result of the reverse stock split were rounded up to a full share. The par value and other terms of the 
common stock were not affected by the reverse stock split. 

  
On August 4, 2020, the Company completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”) of its common stock, which 

resulted in the issuance and sale of 3,430,000 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $10.00 per share, 
generating net proceeds of $31.1 million after deducting underwriting discounts and other offering costs. 

  
All share and per share amounts, including stock options, have been retroactively adjusted in these financial 

statements for all periods presented to reflect the 4.71352-for-one reverse stock split. Furthermore, exercise prices of stock 
options have been retroactively adjusted in these financial statements for all periods presented to reflect the 4.71352-for-one 
reverse stock split. 

  
On November 24, 2020, the Company completed its acquisition of Verus Title Inc. (“Verus”). Verus partners with 

real estate brokerage firms and lender institutions to offer title and settlement solutions, as well as insurance premium 
services, associated with real estate transactions. Verus operates as a technology enabled title agency offering a client-
focused approach to real estate transactions in South, Atlantic and Northeast parts of the United States. 

  
Historically, management has not made operating decisions nor assessed performance based on geographic 

locations. Rather, the chief operating decision maker makes operating decisions and assesses performance based on the 
services of identified operating segments. While management does consider real estate and brokerage services and affiliated 
services (e.g. title insurance) to be identified operating segments, the profits and losses and assets of the affiliated services 
segment are not material. The Company aggregates the identified operating segments for reporting purposes. 
  
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
  

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) as 
determined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) for 
financial information. All adjustments and disclosures necessary for a fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements have been included. 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Fathom Holdings’ wholly owned subsidiaries. All 
transactions and accounts between and among its subsidiaries have been eliminated. All adjustments and disclosures 
necessary for a fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements have been included. 
  

Certain Significant Risks and Business Uncertainties — The Company is subject to the risks and challenges 
associated with companies at a similar stage of development. These include dependence on key individuals, successful 
development and marketing of its offerings, and competition with larger companies with greater financial, technical, and 
marketing resources. Furthermore, during the period required to achieve substantially higher revenue in order to become 
consistently profitable, the Company may require additional funds that might not be readily available or might not be on 
terms that are acceptable to the Company. 

  
Liquidity — The Company has a history of negative cash flows from operations and operating losses. The Company 

generated net losses of approximately $1.3 million and $4.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. Additionally, the Company anticipates further expenditures associated with the process of expanding the 
business. Management believes that existing cash from the $31.1 million in net proceeds from its IPO completed on August 
4, 2020 along with its planned budget, which includes continued increases in the number of our agents and transactions at 
rates consistent with historical growth, and the expected ability to achieve sales volumes necessary to cover forecasted 
expenses, provide sufficient funding to continue as a going concern for a period of at least one year from the date of the 
issuance of the consolidated financial statements. 

  
COVID-19 Risks, Impacts and Uncertainties — On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO”) 

announced a global health emergency because of a new strain of coronavirus originating in Wuhan, China (“COVID-19”) 
and the risks to the international community as the virus spreads globally beyond its point of origin. In March 2020, the 
WHO classified COVID-19 as a pandemic, based on the rapid increase in exposure globally. 

  
We are subject to the risks arising from COVID-19 including its social and economic impacts on the residential real 

estate industry in the United States. Our management believes that these social and economic impacts, which to date have 
included but not been limited to the following, could have a significant impact on the Company's future financial condition, 
liquidity, and results of operations: (i) restrictions on in-person activities associated with residential real estate transactions 
arising from shelter-in-place, or similar isolation orders; (ii) decline in consumer demand for in-person interactions and 
physical home tours; and (iii) deteriorating economic conditions, such as increased unemployment rates, recessionary 
conditions, lower yields on individual investment portfolios, and more stringent mortgage financing conditions. 

  
In response to COVID-19, the Company has implemented cost-saving measures, including the elimination of non-

essential travel and in-person training activities, and deferral of certain planned expenditures. Additionally, our Chief 
Executive Officer, Joshua Harley, and our President and Chief Financial Officer, Marco Fregenal, voluntarily took no base 
salary for March and April 2020. In addition, our Chief Broker Operations Officer, Samantha Giuggio, and one other senior 
employee voluntarily took 50% reductions in their base salary for those months. Based in part on business operations and 
results through the end of April, the Company resumed paying all of these salaries in full in May. Given the daily evolution 
of COVID-19 and the global responses to curb its spread, the Company is not able to estimate the effects of COVID-19 on its 
results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity for the year ending December 31, 2020 and beyond. If COVID-19 
continues, it may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, liquidity, and future results of 
operations. 

  
Use of Estimates — The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in conformity with GAAP, requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. The Company regularly evaluates estimates and assumptions related to provisions for doubtful 
accounts, legal contingencies, income taxes, deferred tax asset valuation allowances, share-based compensation, goodwill, 
estimated lives of intangible assets, and intangible asset impairment. The Company bases its estimates and assumptions on 
current facts, historical experience and various other factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the accrual of 
costs and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. The actual results experienced by the Company might 
differ materially and adversely from the Company’s estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the 
estimates and the actual results, future results of operations will be affected. 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of money market 
instruments. From time to time, the Company’s cash deposits exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not 
experienced any losses resulting from these excess deposits. 

  
Restricted Cash — Restricted cash represents escrow funds held in bank accounts owned by the Company as part of 

facilitating the closing of real estate transactions, to which the Company does not have the right to use for any purposes, other 
than distributing upon close. Upon receiving escrow funds, the Company records a corresponding escrow liability. 

  
Fair Value Measurements — FASB ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, (“ASC 820”) defines fair value as the price 

that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the reporting date. The methodology establishes consistency and comparability by providing a fair value 
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques into three broad levels, which are described below: 
  
 · Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (these are observable 

market inputs). 
  

 · Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability (includes quoted market prices for similar assets or identical or similar assets in markets in which there are 
few transactions, prices that are not current or prices that vary substantially). 

  
 · Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs that reflect the entity’s own assumptions in pricing the asset or liability (used 

when little or no market data is available). 
  

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, agent annual fees receivable, net, 
prepaid and other current assets, due from affiliates, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and due to affiliates 
approximate their carrying value due to their short-term maturities. The loan and notes payable, and lease liability are 
presented at their carrying value, which based on borrowing rates currently available to the Company for loans and leases 
with similar terms, approximate their fair values. 

  
Nonfinancial assets, such as goodwill, are accounted for at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. Goodwill is tested for 

impairment upon the occurrence of a triggering event. We review goodwill for impairment on a reporting unit basis annually 
during the fourth quarter of each year and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of 
goodwill might not be recoverable. 

  
Accounts Receivable — Accounts receivable consist of balances due from customers. The Company records no 

allowances due to the Company's ability to collect substantially all receivables. In determining collectability, historical trends 
are evaluated, and specific customer issues are reviewed on a periodic basis to arrive at appropriate allowances. 

  
Agent Annual Fees Receivable — Agent annual fees receivable, net of estimated allowances for uncollectible 

accounts of approximately $203,000 and $349,000 as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, consist of a $500 fee 
agents pay on their first sale or their one-year anniversary date, which is recognized as a reduction to cost of revenue ratably 
over the year in which the fee pertains. The Company estimates the allowance for uncollectible accounts based on historical 
write-off experience each period. 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  
Property and Equipment — Property and equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Maintenance 

and repairs are charged to expense when incurred. Additions and improvements that extend the economic useful life of the 
asset are capitalized and depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the assets. The cost and accumulated depreciation of 
assets sold or retired are removed from the respective accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in current earnings. 
Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method in amounts considered to be sufficient to amortize the cost of the 
assets to operations over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

  
Asset category   Depreciable life 

Vehicles   7 years 
Computers and equipment   5 years 
Furniture and fixtures   7 years 
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Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of such assets might not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured first by a 
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If 
such assets were considered to be impaired, an impairment loss would be recognized as the difference between the fair value 
and carrying value when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset. To date, no such impairment has 
occurred. 

  
Business Combinations — The Company accounts for its business combinations under the provisions of Accounting 

Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 805-10, Business Combinations ("ASC 805-10"), which requires that the purchase 
method of accounting be used for all business combinations. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at the date 
of acquisition at their respective fair values. For transactions that are business combinations, the Company evaluates the 
existence of goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair value of the tangible net assets and 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination. ASC 805-10 also specifies criteria that intangible assets acquired in a 
business combination must meet to be recognized and reported apart from goodwill. Acquisition-related expenses are 
recognized separately from the business combinations and are expensed as incurred. 

  
The estimated fair value of net assets acquired, including the allocation of the fair value to identifiable assets and 

liabilities, was determined using established valuation techniques. A fair value measurement is determined as the price we 
would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. In the context of purchase accounting, the determination of fair value often involves significant judgments 
and estimates by management, including the selection of valuation methodologies, estimates of future revenues, costs and 
cash flows, discount rates, and selection of comparable companies.  The estimated fair values reflected in the purchase 
accounting rely on management’s judgment and the expertise of a third-party valuation firm engaged to assist in concluding 
on the fair value measurements. The estimated fair value of identifiable intangible assets, consisting of trade names acquired, 
was determined using relief from royalty method. 

  
The most significant assumptions under the relief from royalty method used to value trade names include estimated 

remaining useful life, expected revenue, royalty rate, tax rate, discount rate and tax amortization benefit. Management has 
developed these assumptions on the basis of historical knowledge of the business and projected financial information of the 
Company. These assumptions may vary based on future events, perceptions of different market participants and other factors 
outside the control of Management, and such variations may be significant to estimated values. 

  
Intangible Assets, Net — Intangible Assets, net is comprised of definite-lived intangibles and capitalized internal use 

software. 
  
Trade names: For definite-lived intangible assets, such as trade names and trademarks, whenever impairment 

indicators are present, the Company performs a review for impairment. The Company calculates the undiscounted value of 
the projected cash flows associated with the asset, or asset group, and compares this estimated amount to the carrying 
amount. If the carrying amount is found to be greater, the Company will record an impairment loss for the excess of book 
value over the fair value. In addition, in all cases of an impairment review, the Company will re-evaluate the remaining useful 
lives of the assets and modify them, as appropriate. The Company’s definite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of trade 
names acquired as part of the business acquisition of Verus. Currently, trade names have a useful life estimated at ten years. 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  
Capitalized internal use software: Costs incurred in the preliminary stages of website and software development are 

expensed as incurred. Once an application has reached the development stage, direct internal and external costs relating to 
upgrades or enhancements that meet the capitalization criteria are capitalized in capitalized software, net and amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Maintenance and enhancement costs (including those costs in the post-
implementation stages) are typically expensed as incurred, unless such costs relate to substantial upgrades and enhancements 
to the websites (or software) that result in added functionality, in which case the costs are capitalized as well. 

  
Capitalized software costs are amortized over the expected useful lives of the applicable software. Currently, 

capitalized software costs for internal use have a useful life estimated at five years. 
  
Estimated useful lives of website and software development activities are reviewed annually or whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that intangible assets may be impaired and adjusted as appropriate to reflect upcoming 
development activities that may include significant upgrades or enhancements to the existing functionality. 
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Goodwill - Goodwill, which represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired, is 
carried at cost. Goodwill is not amortized; rather, it is subject to a periodic assessment for impairment by applying a fair 
value-based test. The Company is organized in one reporting unit and evaluates the goodwill for the Company as a whole. 
Goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the asset might be impaired. Under the authoritative guidance issued by the FASB, the Company has the option to first assess 
the qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its 
carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. If the 
Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then 
the goodwill impairment test is performed. The goodwill impairment test requires the Company to estimate the fair value of 
the reporting unit and to compare the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount. If the fair value exceeds the 
carrying amount, then no impairment is recognized. If the carrying amount recorded exceeds the fair value calculated, then an 
impairment charge is recognized for the difference. The judgments made in determining the projected cash flows used to 
estimate the fair value can materially impact the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. There was no 
impairment of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

  
Revenue Recognition — We apply the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

(“ASC 606”), and all related appropriate guidance. The Company recognizes revenue under the core principle to depict the 
transfer of control to the Company’s customers in an amount reflecting the consideration to which the Company expects to be 
entitled. In order to achieve that core principle, the Company applies the following five-step approach: (1) identify the 
contract with a customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; 
(4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when a 
performance obligation is satisfied. 

  
The Company’s revenue substantially consists of commissions generated from real estate brokerage services. The 

Company is contractually obligated to provide for the fulfillment of transfers of real estate between buyers and sellers. The 
Company provides these services itself and controls the services of its agents necessary to legally transfer the real estate. 
Correspondingly, the Company is defined as the principal. The Company, as principal, satisfies its obligation upon the 
closing of a real estate transaction. The Company has concluded that agents are not employees of the Company, rather 
deemed to be independent contractors. Upon satisfaction of its obligation, the Company recognizes revenue in the gross 
amount of consideration it is entitled to receive. The transaction price is calculated by applying the Company’s portion of the 
agreed-upon commission rate to the property’s selling price. The Company may provide services to the buyer, seller, or both 
parties to a transaction. When the Company provides services to the seller in a transaction, it recognizes revenue for its 
portion of the commission, which is calculated as the sales price multiplied by the commission rate less the commission 
separately distributed to the buyer’s agent, or the “sell” side portion of the commission. When the Company provides services 
to the buyer in a transaction, the Company recognizes revenue in an amount equal to the sales price for the property 
multiplied by the commission rate for the “buy” side of the transaction. In instances in which the Company represents both 
the buyer and the seller in a transaction, it recognizes the full commission on the transaction. Commissions revenue contains 
a single performance obligation that is satisfied upon the closing of a real estate transaction, at which point the entire 
transaction price is earned. The Company’s customers remit payment for the Company’s services to the title company or 
attorney closing the sale of property at the time of closing. The Company receives payment upon close of property or within 
days of the closing of a transaction. The Company is not entitled to any commission until the performance obligation is 
satisfied and is not owed any commission for unsuccessful transactions, even if services have been provided. 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  
The Company's revenue also includes fees charged for title search & examination, property settlement and title 

insurance services provided in association with property acquisitions and refinance transactions. We provide the title search 
and property settlement services ourselves and control the services before they are transferred to our customers since we are 
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise and also have full discretion in establishing the price for the settlement 
services (except in states where fees are set statutorily). As such, we are defined as the principal. As principal, we satisfy our 
obligation upon the closing of a real estate transaction. Upon satisfaction of our obligation, we recognize revenue in the gross 
amount of consideration we are entitled to receive. The transaction price for title and property settlement services is 
determined by the fixed fees we charge for our services. We provide our services to the buyers and sellers involved in the 
purchase transaction, as well as to the borrower in a refinance transaction. Title and property settlement revenue contains a 
single performance obligation that is satisfied upon the closing of a real estate transaction, at which point the entire 
transaction price is earned. The Company is not entitled to any title and property settlement revenue until the performance 
obligation is satisfied and is not owed any consideration for unsuccessful transactions, even if services have been provided. 
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For title insurance services, we work in conjunction with insurance underwriters to perform these services, obtain 
the insurance policy premiums associated with title insurance on behalf of customers and remit the policy premium to the 
insurance underwriters. Since the insurance underwriter is ultimately providing the insurance policy to the borrower, we are 
not responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified services. Additionally, we do not have discretion in 
dictating the price for the insurance policy, which is set by each jurisdiction and is either filed by insurance underwriters or 
set by the state insurance commissioners. Therefore, we do not control the specified service provided by the insurance 
underwriter. As such, in these circumstances, we act as an agent. As the agent, we satisfy our obligation upon the closing of a 
real estate transaction. Upon satisfaction of our obligation, we recognize revenue in the net amount of consideration we are 
entitled to receive, which is our fee for brokering the insurance policy less any consideration paid to the insurance 
underwriters. The transaction price for title insurance services is fixed, based on statutory rates depending on the jurisdiction. 
We negotiate with insurance underwriters the percentage they receive, and the rest is recognized as revenue. Title insurance 
revenue contains a single performance obligation that is satisfied upon the closing of a real estate transaction, at which point 
the entire transaction price is earned. The Company is not entitled to any title insurance revenue until the performance 
obligation is satisfied and is not owed any consideration for unsuccessful transactions, even if services have been provided. 

  
The Company has utilized the practical expedient in ASC 606 and elected not to capitalize contract costs for 

contracts with customers with durations less than one year. The Company does not have significant remaining unfulfilled 
performance obligations or contract balances. 

  
Cost of Revenue — Cost of revenue consists primarily of agent commissions less fees paid to us by our agents, order 

fulfillment, and title searches. 
  
General and Administrative — General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, share-

based compensation, and fees for professional services. Professional services principally consist of external legal, audit, and 
tax services. 

  
Marketing Expenses — Marketing expenses consist primarily of marketing and promotional materials. Marketing 

costs are expensed as they are incurred. 
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
  

Leases — The Company adopted FASB ASC Topic 842, Leases, (“ASC 842”) on January 1, 2019. The Company 
categorizes leases at their inception as either operating or finance leases. On certain lease agreements, the Company may 
receive rent holidays and other incentives. The Company recognizes lease costs on a straight-line basis without regard to 
deferred payment terms, such as rent holidays, that defer the commencement date of required payments. 

  
Share-based Compensation — Share-based compensation for employees and non-employees (principally 

independent contractor agents) is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense 
over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective award. Forfeitures are recognized 
when they occur. Fully vested restricted stock awards are measured on grant date at fair value. 

  
Common Stock Warrant — The Company accounts for common stock warrants as either equity instruments or 

liabilities in accordance with ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity ("ASC 480"), depending on the specific terms 
of the warrant agreement. If warrants are issued in exchange for services the Company evaluates whether they should be 
accounted for in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”). Under ASC 718, the 
warrants shall be classified as a liability if 1) the underlying shares are classified as liabilities or 2) the entity can be required 
under any circumstances to settle the warrant by transferring cash or other assets. In accordance with ASU 2018-07, 
Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting, the measurement of equity-classified nonemployee share-
based payments is generally fixed on the grant date and are considered compensatory, as defined by ASC 718. For additional 
discussion on warrants, see Note 12 – Equity-classified Warrants. 

  
Income Taxes — Income taxes are accounted for using an asset and liability approach that requires the recognition 

of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the combined 
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities at the applicable enacted tax rates. The Company will establish a 
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that these items will expire before either the Company 
is able to realize their benefit or that future deductibility is uncertain. 
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The Company believes that it is currently more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will not be realized and as 
such, it has recorded a full valuation allowance for these assets. The Company evaluates the likelihood of the ability to realize 
deferred tax assets in future periods on a quarterly basis, and when appropriate evidence indicates it would release its 
valuation allowance accordingly. The determination to provide a valuation allowance is dependent upon the assessment of 
whether it is more likely than not that sufficient taxable income will be generated to utilize the deferred tax assets. Based on 
the weight of the available evidence, which includes the Company’s historical operating losses, lack of taxable income, and 
accumulated deficit, the Company provided a full valuation allowance against the U.S. tax assets resulting from the tax losses 
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

  
Deferred Offering Costs — Deferred offering costs, which consist of legal, accounting, underwriting fees and other 

costs incurred through the balance sheet date that are directly related to the IPO, were capitalized and offset against proceeds 
upon the closing of the IPO, which occurred on August 4, 2020. 

  
Revision of Prior Period Financial Statements — The line items “Revenue” and “Cost of revenue” in the 

accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2019 have each been increased in the 
amount of $1,583,911 to correct an immaterial error which included transactions related to 2019. This revision had no impact 
on the Company’s gross profit, net loss, or cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019. 
  
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards 
  

In February 2016, the FASB established Topic 842, Leases, by issuing ASU No. 2016-02 (“ASU 2016-02”), which 
requires lessees to recognize leases on balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The new 
standard establishes a right-of-use (“ROU”) model that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU asset and lease liability on the 
balance sheet for all leases with a term longer than 12 months. Leases are classified as finance or operating, with 
classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense recognition in the income statement. 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  
The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 effective January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective approach and 

elected the Comparatives Under 840 Option whereby the Company will continue to present prior period financial statements 
and disclosures under ASC 840. In addition, the Company elected the transition package of three practical expedients 
permitted within the standard, among other practical expedients which allowed the Company to carry forward prior 
conclusions about lease identification and classification, allows not separating lease and non-lease components, and allows 
not recording leases with an initial term of twelve months or less on the balance sheet across all existing asset classes. 

  
Adoption of the new standard resulted in the balance sheet recognition of additional ROU assets and lease liabilities 

of approximately $219,000; however, the adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
beginning retained earnings, results from operations or cash flows. For additional information regarding the Company’s lease 
arrangements, see Note 13 — Leases. 

  
In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other 

(Topic 350) ("ASU No. 2017-04") which became effective for SEC Filers with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2019. ASU No. 2017-04 eliminates step 2 from the annual goodwill impairment test. The annual, or interim, goodwill 
impairment test is performed by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An impairment charge 
should be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss 
recognized should not exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. In addition, income tax effects 
from any tax-deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the reporting unit should be considered when measuring the 
goodwill impairment loss, if applicable. Effective January 1, 2020, the Company adopted the provisions of ASU No. 2017-04 
on a prospective basis. No impairment of goodwill has occurred during the periods presented. 
  
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 
  

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of 
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, that changes the impairment model for most financial assets and certain other 
instruments. For receivables, loans and other instruments, entities will be required to use a new forward-looking “expected 
loss” model that generally will result in the earlier recognition of allowance for losses. In addition, an entity will have to 
disclose significantly more information about allowances and credit quality indicators. The new standard is effective for the 
Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the pending 
adoption of the new standard on its consolidated financial statements and intends to adopt the standard on January 1, 2023. 
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In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes ("ASU 2019-12"), 

which modifies ASC 740 to reduce complexity while maintaining or improving the usefulness of the information provided to 
users of financial statements. ASU 2019-12 is effective for the Company for interim and annual reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2021. The Company is currently assessing the impact of ASU 2019-12, but it is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
  
Note 3. Acquisition of Verus Title Inc. 
  

On November 24, 2020 the Company purchased 100% of outstanding capital stock of Verus. 
  
The Company accounted for the Verus acquisition as a business combination. The purchase price consisted of 

$720,639 cash consideration and $252,341 common stock consideration for a total purchase price of $972,980. The aggregate 
purchase price exceeded the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired, and accordingly the Company 
recorded goodwill of approximately $799,058. Furthermore, the Company issued 33,915 restricted stock awards to the 
former founder of Verus, who is now an employee of the Company. The restricted stock awards will vest ratably over 18 
months from the grant date and will be recognized as a post-combination compensation expense. 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  
The total purchase consideration and the fair values of the assets and liabilities at the acquisition date were as 

follows: 
  

Consideration:       
Cash Consideration   $ 720,639  
Stock Consideration     252,341  

Fair Value of Total Consideration Transferred   $ 972,980  
         
Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed        
Cash   $ 88,228  
Restricted cash     375,867  
Due from Fathom Holdings Inc. on behalf of Seller     84,275  
Accounts receivable     27,324  
Prepaid and other current assets     14,068  
Property & equipment     17,147  
Trade names      166,000  
Lease right of use assets     151,476  
Other long-term assets     4,900  

Total identifiable assets acquired     929,285   
         
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities     98,059  
Escrow liabilities     324,967  
Income tax payable     84,275  
Notes payable     50,600  
Lease liability     151,477  
Deferred tax liabilities     45,985  

Total liabilities assumed     755,363   
         

Total identifiable net assets     173,922  
         
Goodwill     799,058  

Net assets acquired   $ 972,980  
  

The Company recognized approximately $117,000 of acquisition related costs that were expensed in the current 
period and are included in general and administrative expenses. 

  
Goodwill was assigned to the affiliated reporting unit and is attributable primarily to the real estate agent and 

attorney relationships that Verus brings. 
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None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes. 
  
The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 include the results of 

operations of Verus since November 24, 2020 during which period Verus contributed approximately $153,000 and $26,000 
of revenues and net loss, respectively. 

  
On an unaudited pro forma basis, the revenues and net income of the Company assuming the acquisition had 

occurred on January 1, 2019, are shown below. The unaudited pro forma information does not purport to present what the 
Company’s actual results would have been had the acquisition occurred on January 1, 2019, nor is the financial information 
indicative of the results of future operations. The unaudited pro forma financial information includes the estimated 
amortization expense based on the fair value and estimated useful lives of intangible assets and reflects share-based 
compensation expense related to restricted shares issued as part of the acquisition of Verus. 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

  
    December 31,   
Unaudited   2020     2019   
Revenue   $ 177,976,532     $111,739,816  
Net loss   $ (1,216,996 )   $ (4,737,258) 

  
Note 4. Goodwill 
  

The Company recorded goodwill in connection with the acquisition of Verus, which closed on November 24, 2020. 
The changes in the carrying value of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2020 are as noted in the table below: 
  

    
Carrying 

Value  
Balance at December 31, 2019   $ —  

Goodwill acquired during the period     799,058  
Impairment losses     —  

Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 799,058  
  

Note 5. Property and Equipment, Net 
  

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following at the dates indicated: 
  
    December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Vehicles   $ 119,324     $ 119,324  
Computers and equipment     138,842       73,115  
Furniture and fixtures     44,330       30,058  
Leasehold improvements     3,402       —  

Total property and equipment     305,898       222,497  
Accumulated depreciation     (151,299 )     (116,525) 

Total property and equipment, net   $ 154,599     $ 105,972  
  

Depreciation expense for property and equipment was approximately $35,000 and $26,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
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Note 6. Intangible Assets, Net 
  

Intangible assets, net consisted of the following at the dates indicated: 
  
    December 31, 2020   

    

Gross  
Carrying 
Amount     Additions     

Accumulated 
Amortization     

Net 
Carrying 

Value   
Trade names   $ —    $ 166,000     $ (1,383 )   $ 164,617  
Software development     499,300      391,948       (163,718 )     727,530  
Other     —      30,000       —       30,000  
    $ 499,300    $ 587,948     $ (165,101 )   $ 922,147  
  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
  
    December 31, 2019   

    

Gross  
Carrying 
Amount     Additions     

Accumulated 
Amortization     

Net 
Carrying 

Value   
Software development   $ 167,820     $ 331,480     $ (34,458 )   $ 464,842  
    $ 167,820     $ 331,480     $ (34,458 )   $ 464,842  
  

As of December 31,2020, the estimated future amortization expense for definite-lived intangible assets will be: 
  
Years Ended December 31,       
2021   $ 204,850  
2022     204,850  
2023     204,850  
2024     194,850  
2025 and thereafter     112,747  

Total   $ 922,147  
  

Amortization expense for capitalized software was approximately $131,000 and $34,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Currently, trade names have a useful life estimated at ten years. Capitalized 
software costs are amortized over the expected useful lives of the applicable software, which is estimated at five years. 

  
Note 7. Loan Receivable  
  

In connection with the planned asset purchase agreement to acquire the assets of Naberly, Inc. (“Naberly”), the 
Company issued to Naberly, an unsecured loan (the "Loan") in the principal amount of up to $165,000 with an interest rate of 
two percent (2%) per annum, compounded annually, and a maturity date of February 28, 2021. As of December 31, 2020, the 
outstanding principal totaled $165,000, which was loaned to Naberly in three equal installments of $55,000 on October 16, 
2020, November 1, 2020, and December 1, 2020, respectively. The unpaid principal balance of the Loan, plus all accrued and 
unpaid interest, shall be due and payable on February 28, 2021 (the “Maturity Date”). As of December 31, 2020, accrued 
interest receivable related to the note totaled $232. See Note 18. Subsequent Events. 
  
Note 8. Accrued Liabilities 
  

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following at the dates indicated: 
  

    December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Deferred annual fee   $ 292,696     $ 463,667  
Accrued compensation     201,587       196,948  
Credit card liability     177,986       70,431  
Other accrued liabilities     157,925       72,836  
Accrued tax liabilities     104,275       —  
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    December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Accrued legal fees     75,000       71,724  
Accrued professional fees     54,420       601,797  
Accrued commissions      —      261,161  
Insurance premium liabilities     —      139,891  
Accrued bonuses     —      5,400  

Total accrued liabilities   $ 1,063,889     $ 1,883,855  
  
Note 9. Debt 
  
Loan Payable 
  

The Company obtained a loan for an automobile used by the Chief Executive Officer. The term of the loan is from 
July 2016 through December 2022 with an annual interest rate of 1.74%. The components of the loan payable were as 
follows: 
  
    December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Loan payable - Automobile loan   $ 35,093     $ 52,188  
Less current portion     (17,394 )     (17,095) 
Loan payable, net of current portion   $ 17,699     $ 35,093  
  

Maturities of the loan payable obligation as of December 31, 2020 are as follows: 
  

Years Ended December 31,   
Maturities of Loan 

Payable   
2021   $ 17,394  
2022     17,699  
    $ 35,093  
  
Notes Payable 
  
    December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Quail Point Corp.   $ —    $ 500,000  
Paycheck Protection Program Loan     354,281       —  
Small Business Administration Loan     149,900       —  
Note payable     504,181       500,000  
Less current portion of the Paycheck Protection Program Loan     (237,182 )     —  
Less current portion of the Small Business Administration Loan     (1,748 )     —  
Note payable, net of current portion   $ 265,251     $ 500,000  
  
Note Payable – Quail Point Corp. 

  
On April 14, 2017, Fathom Realty entered into a Loan Agreement with Quail Point Corp. (the “Lender”) whereby 

Fathom Realty borrowed $400,000 from the Lender. Interest was payable each month at 1.6675% (20% annually) and the 
note was due to mature on March 1, 2037 with the principal due at that time. The Loan Agreement allowed for principal 
payments at any time without pre-payment penalty. 

  
On February 6, 2018, Fathom Realty entered into a new Loan Agreement (‘New Loan Agreement”) for $500,000 

with the Lender. The New Loan Agreement extinguished the original loan and established a new loan. The fair value of the 
New Loan Agreement equaled the carrying value. Interest was payable each month at 1.6675% (20% annually) and the note 
was due to mature on March 1, 2023 with the principal due at that time. The New Loan Agreement allowed for principal 
payments at any time without pre-payment penalty. On August 13, 2020, the Company repaid the note in full. 
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Note Payable – Paycheck Protection Program Loan  
  

On May 5, 2020, the Company received $303,681 in loan funding from the Paycheck Protection Program (the 
“PPP”), established pursuant to the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”) and 
administered by the U.S. Small Business Administration (“SBA”). The application for these funds requires the Company to, 
in good faith, certify that the current economic uncertainty made the loan request necessary to support the ongoing operations 
of the Company. This certification further requires the Company to take into account current business activity and ability to 
access other sources of liquidity sufficient to support ongoing operations in a manner that is not significantly detrimental to 
the business. The unsecured loan (the “PPP Loan”) is evidenced by a promissory note of the Company dated May 5, 2020 
(the “PPP Note”) in the principal amount of $303,681, to Bank of America (the “Bank”), the lender. Under the terms of the 
PPP Note and the PPP Loan, interest accrues on the outstanding principal at the rate of 1% per annum, and there is a 
deferment period until equal installment payments of $17,090 of principal and interest are due. The term of the PPP Note is 
two years, though payments greater than the monthly payment or additional payments may be made at any time without 
prepayment penalty but shall not relieve the Company of its obligations to pay the next succeeding monthly payment. The 
deferment period generally lasts until the SBA remits the loan forgiveness amount to the Bank. If we do not apply for loan 
forgiveness, then payments will become due. 

  
The CARES Act and the PPP provide a mechanism for forgiveness of up to the full amount borrowed. Under the 

PPP, the Company may apply for and be granted forgiveness for all or part of the PPP Loan. The amount of loan proceeds 
eligible for forgiveness is based on a formula that takes into account a number of factors, including the amount of loan 
proceeds used by the Company during the 24-week period after the loan origination for certain purposes including payroll 
costs, rent payments on certain leases, and certain qualified utility payments, provided that at least 60% of the loan amount is 
used for eligible payroll costs; the employer maintaining or rehiring employees and maintaining salaries at certain levels; and 
other factors. Subject to the other requirements and limitations on loan forgiveness, only loan proceeds spent on payroll and 
other eligible costs during the covered twenty-four-week period will qualify for forgiveness. Forgiveness of the loan is 
dependent on the Company having initially qualified for the loan and qualifying for the forgiveness of such loan based on 
future adherence to the forgiveness criteria. The Company intends to use the entire PPP Loan for qualifying expense, though 
no assurance is provided that the Company will obtain forgiveness of the PPP Loan in whole or in part. On January 6, 2021, 
the BankUnited PPP Loan for $50,600 was fully forgiven by the SBA. 

  
Additionally, in connection with the acquisition of Verus (See Note 3), the Company assumed $50,600 in loan 

funding from the PPP. The loan was forgiven in January 2021. 
  
Note Payable – Small Business Administration Loan 
  

On June 5, 2020, the Company received $150,000 in loan funding from the SBA (the “SBA Note”) under the 
Economic Injury Disaster Loan program. The Company will use all the proceeds of this secured SBA Note solely as working 
capital to alleviate economic injury caused by COVID-19. The SBA Note is evidenced by a promissory note of the Company 
dated June 5, 2020 in the principal amount of $150,000, to the SBA, the lender. Debt issuance costs incurred in connection 
with the SBA Note of $100 were expensed. Under the terms of the SBA Note, interest accrues on the outstanding principal at 
a rate of 3.75% per annum, and installment payments, including principal and interest, of $731 monthly, will begin twelve 
months from the date of the SBA Note. All remaining principal and accrued interest is due and payable thirty years from the 
date of the SBA Note. In connection with the SBA Note, the Company received a $10,000 grant, which does not need to be 
repaid, and is recorded as other income. 
  

 
Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity 
  

On July 10, 2020, the Company approved a 4.71352-for-one reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock. 
No fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse stock split. All fractional shares as a result of the reverse 
stock split were rounded up to a full share. The par value and other terms of the common stock were not affected by the 
reverse stock split. 

  
All share and per share amounts, including stock options, have been retroactively adjusted in these financial 

statements for all periods presented to reflect the 4.71352-for-one reverse stock split. Furthermore, exercise prices of stock 
options have been retroactively adjusted in these financial statements for all periods presented to reflect the 4.71352-for-one 
reverse stock split. 
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Common Stock 
  
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company sold, in aggregate, 122,202 shares of common stock for 

gross proceeds of $576,000. The Company also sold 109,718 shares of common stock to certain of its agents and third parties 
under the Fathom Holdings Inc. 2019 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (“2019 Plan”) for gross proceeds of $578,480, of which 
$83,014, representing 15,726 shares of common stock, was received in January 2020. 

  
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company sold 3,430,000 shares of common stock in connection with 

the IPO for $31.1 million, net of offering costs. 
  

Treasury Stock 
  

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company repurchased, in aggregate, 5,683 shares of common stock 
from agents and employees whose relationship with the Company was terminated for a total of $30,000. 
  
Note 11. Share-based Compensation 
  

The Company’s 2017 Stock Plan (the “Plan”) provides for granting stock options and restricted stock awards to 
employees, directors, contractors and consultants of the Company. A total of 3,182,335 shares of common stock are 
authorized to be issued pursuant to the Plan. As of December 31, 2020, there were 2,739,261 shares available for future 
grants under the Plan. 

  
The Company’s 2019 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the “2019 Plan”) provides for granting stock options and 

restricted stock awards to employees, directors, contractors and consultants of the Company. A total of 1,060,778 shares of 
common stock are authorized to be issued pursuant to the 2019 Plan. As of December 31, 2020, there were 586,604 shares 
available for future grants under the 2019 Plan. 

  
Determining the appropriate fair value of share-based awards requires the input of subjective assumptions, including 

the fair value of the Company’s common stock, and, for stock options, the expected life of the option, and expected stock 
price volatility. The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based awards represent management’s best 
estimates and involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if factors change and 
management uses different assumptions, share-based compensation expense could be materially different for future awards. 

  
Restricted Stock Awards 
  

    Shares     

Weighted 
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value   

Nonvested at December 31, 2018     —    $ —  
Granted     555,403      4.95  
Vested     (327,422)     (4.71) 
Forfeited     —      —   

Nonvested at December 31, 2019     227,981    $ 5.28  
Granted     193,828      23.42  
Vested     (15,844)     (21.82) 
Forfeited     (15,178)     (6.39)  

Nonvested at December 31, 2020     390,787    $ 13.56  
  

In January 2019, pursuant to the Plan, the Company granted 193,081 fully vested restricted stock awards to certain 
employees and agents. During June 2019, pursuant to the Plan, the Company granted 134,341 fully vested restricted stock 
awards to certain employees and agents. The fair value of the Company’s restricted stock awards granted in January 2019 and 
during June 2019 was determined to be $4.71 based on the Company’s sales of common stock to agents and third parties in 
March 2019. 

  
In September 2019, pursuant to the 2019 Plan, the Company granted 23,793 restricted stock awards to certain 

employees and agents, which will vest two years from the grant date subject to continuous service with the Company. The 
fair value of the Company’s restricted stock awards granted in September 2019 was estimated to be $5.28. In order to 
determine the fair value of the Company’s common stock, the Company considered, among other things, contemporaneous 

F-19 

valuations of the Company’s common stock, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations, including 
related industry trends affecting its operations; the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public offering, 
or IPO, or sale, given prevailing market conditions; the lack of marketability of the Company’s common stock; the market 
performance of comparable publicly traded companies; and U.S. and global economic and capital market conditions. In 
November and December 2019, pursuant to the 2019 Plan, the Company granted 204,188 restricted stock awards for 
common stock to certain employees and agents, which will vest three years from the grant date subject to continuous service 
with the Company. The fair value of the Company’s restricted stock awards was determined to be $5.28 based on the 
Company’s sales of common stock to agents and third parties in December 2019. 

  
In October 2020, pursuant to the 2019 Plan, the Company granted 124,418 restricted stock awards to certain 

employees and agents, of which 3,182 awards vested immediately and the remaining 121,236 awards will vest three years 
from the grant date subject to continuous service with the Company. The fair value of the Company’s restricted stock awards 
granted in October 2020 was $21.51 based on the Company’s closing stock price on the grant date. 

  
In November 2020, in connection with the acquisition of Verus (See Note 3), the Company granted 33,915 restricted 

stock awards to the former founder of Verus, who is now an employee of the Company, that will vest 18 months from the 
grant date. The fair value of the Company’s restricted stock awards granted in November 2020 was $21.90 based on the 
Company’s closing stock price on the grant date. 

  
In December 2020, pursuant to the 2019 Plan, the Company granted 22,833 restricted stock awards to certain 

employees and agents, which will vest three years from the grant date subject to continuous service with the Company. The 
fair value of the Company’s restricted stock awards granted in December 2020 was $36.92 based on the Company’s closing 
stock prices on the grant date. 

  
The Company recognized stock compensation expense for restricted stock awards of $691,807, net of forfeitures of 

$29,108, and $1,570,151, net of forfeitures of $0, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, which is 
included in general and administrative expense. At December 31, 2020, the total unrecognized compensation expense related 
to unvested restricted stock awards granted was $4,657,892, which the Company expects to recognize over a period of 
approximately 2.18 years. 
  
Stock Option Awards 

  
The following significant assumptions were used in the option pricing model: 

  

    
For the Years Ended 

December 31,   
    2020     2019   

Annual dividend yield     —      —  
Expected life (years)     5.0       5.5  
Risk-free interest rate     0.3 %     2.43% 
Expected volatility     45 %     45% 

  
A summary of stock option activity under the Plans are as follows: 

  

    
Options 

Outstanding     

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price     

Weighted Average  
Remaining Contractual 

Term in Years   

Aggregate 
intrinsic 

value   
Balance at December 31, 2018     —    $ —       —  $ —  

Granted     41,370      4.71       10.0   23,581  
Forfeited     (4,240 )     (4.71)     —   —  

Balance at December 31, 2019     37,130    $ 4.71       9.4  $ 21,164  
Granted     10,202      20.10       10.0   —  
Forfeited     —      —       —   —  

Balance at December 31, 2020     47,332    $ 8.03       8.8  $ 1,325,903  
Options exercisable at December 31, 2020     37,130    $ 4.71       8.3  $ 1,163,283  
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In April 2019, pursuant to the Plan, the Board granted stock option awards to the independent directors to acquire 
32,884 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $4.71 per share. In May 2019, the Board granted stock option 
awards to the independent directors to acquire 8,486 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $4.71 per share. 
Additionally, in May 2019, 4,240 stock option awards were forfeited, and 4,246 stock option awards vested immediately, for 
a total of 37,130 stock option awards outstanding at December 31, 2019. The exercise price of these stock option awards was 
established at the fair value of the Company’s common stock which was determined based on sales of common stock to 
agents and third parties that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2019. The stock options will vest on the earlier of (a) 
one year from the date of grant and (b) the next annual stockholder meeting, subject to the director’s continued service on the 
Board. 

  
In November 2020, pursuant to the 2019 Plan, the Board granted stock option awards to the independent directors to 

acquire 10,202 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $20.10 per share. The exercise price of these stock option 
awards was established at the fair value of the Company’s common stock based on the Company's closing stock price on the 
date of grant. The stock options will vest on the earlier of (a) one year from the date of grant and (b) the next annual 
stockholder meeting, subject to the director’s continued service on the Board. 

  
For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $36,636 and $59,453, respectively, of 

share-based compensation expense in general and administrative expense. At December 31, 2020, the total unrecognized 
compensation related to unvested stock option awards granted was $67,542, which the Company expects to recognize over a 
period of approximately 0.84 years. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, was $7.84 and $2.08, respectively. 

  
Note 12. Equity-classified Warrants 
  

On August 4, 2020, the Company issued a warrant to an underwriter (the “Underwriter Warrant”) to purchase 
240,100 shares of common stock. The Underwriter Warrant is exercisable at a per share exercise price of $11.00, and is 
exercisable at any time from and after January 31, 2021 through August 4, 2025. 

  
Upon the issuance of these warrants as partial compensation for its services as an underwriter, the fair value of 

approximately $677,082 was recorded as equity issuance costs. 
  
The assumptions in the table below were used to estimate the fair value of the warrants granted using the Black-

Scholes option pricing method at August 4, 2020. The risk-free rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is 
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The expected term of the warrant issued represents the 
period of time that the warrants issued are expected to be outstanding. Expected volatility is based on implied volatilities 
based on an analysis of historical volatilities of selected guideline public companies and other factors. 
  
Estimated fair value of common stock   $ 8.80  
Strike price   $ 11.00  
Risk-free interest rate     0.1% 
Expected term (in years)     2.5  
Expected volatility     64.0% 
Expected dividend yield     —% 
  

  
The details of the outstanding warrants are as follows: 

  

    
Number of 

Shares   
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price     

Remaining 
Contractual 
Term (years)   

Average  
Intrinsic Value   

Outstanding at December 31, 2019     —   $ —       —  $ —  
Granted     240,100     11.00       5.00     —  
Outstanding at December 31, 2020     240,100   $ 11.00       4.59   $ 6,012,104  
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Note 13. Leases 
  
Operating Leases 
  

The Company has operating leases primarily consisting of office space with remaining lease terms of 1 to 7 years, 
subject to certain renewal options as applicable. 

  
Leases with an initial term of twelve months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet, and the Company does 

not separate lease and non-lease components of contracts. There are no material residual guarantees associated with any of 
the Company’s leases, and there are no significant restrictions or covenants included in the Company’s lease agreements. 
Certain leases include variable payments related to common area maintenance and property taxes, which are billed by the 
landlord, as is customary with these types of charges for office space. 
  

Our lease agreements generally do not provide an implicit borrowing rate. Therefore, the Company used a 
benchmark approach to derive an appropriate imputed discount rate. The Company benchmarked itself against other 
companies of similar credit ratings and comparable quality and derived an imputed rate, which was used in a portfolio 
approach to discount its real estate lease liabilities. We used estimated incremental borrowing rates for all active leases. 

  
There was no sublease rental income for the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company is not the lessor in any 

lease arrangement, and no related party transactions for lease arrangements have occurred. 
  
Lease Costs 
  

The table below presents certain information related to the lease costs for the Company’s operating leases for the 
periods indicated: 
  
    December 31,   
Components of total lease cost:   2020     2019   
Operating lease expense   $ 167,729     $ 104,794  
Short-term lease expense     66,025       38,414  

Total lease cost   $ 233,754     $ 143,208  
  
Lease Position as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 
  

Right of use lease assets and lease liabilities for our operating leases were recorded in the consolidated balance sheet 
as follows: 

  
    December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Assets             
Lease right of use assets   $ 437,421     $ 265,140  

Total lease assets   $ 437,421     $ 265,140  
                 
Liabilities                
Current liabilities:                
Lease liability - current portion   $ 140,100     $ 89,566  
Noncurrent liabilities:                
Lease liability, net of current portion     301,429       177,578  

Total lease liability   $ 441,529     $ 267,144  
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Lease Terms and Discount Rate 
  
The table below presents certain information related to the weighted average remaining lease term and the weighted 

average discount rate for the Company’s operating leases as of: 
  
    December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) - operating leases     3.37       4.51  
Weighted average discount rate - operating leases     7.67 %     8% 
  
Undiscounted Cash Flows 
  

Future lease payments included in the measurement of lease liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheet 
as of December 31, 2020, for the following five fiscal years and thereafter were as follows: 

  
Years Ended December 31,  Operating Leases  

2021    168,650  
2022     147,507  
2023     105,106  
2024     43,243  
2025     37,353  

Total Minimum Lease Payments   $ 501,859  
Less effects of discounting    (60,330)
Present value of future minimum lease payments   $ 441,529  
  
Note 14. Related Party Transactions 
  

Included in revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $467,000 and $287,000, 
respectively from a related party in exchange for the Company providing lead generation services. 

  
Included in cost of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $63,000 and 

$37,000, respectively, from related parties in exchange for the Company receiving lead generation services. 
  
Included in marketing expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $235,000 and 

$69,000, respectively, from related parties in exchange for the Company receiving marketing services. 
  

Note 15. Net Loss per Share Attributable to Common Stock 
  

Basic loss per share of common stock is computed by dividing net loss attributable to common stockholders by the 
weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted net loss per share is calculated by 
adjusting the weighted-average number of shares outstanding for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents outstanding 
for the period, determined using the treasury-stock method. Diluted loss per share excludes, when applicable, the potential 
impact of stock options, unvested shares of restricted stock awards, and common stock warrants because their effect would be 
anti-dilutive due to our net loss. Since the Company had a net loss in each of the periods presented, basic and diluted net loss 
per common share are the same. 

  
The calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stock was as follows: 

  
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Numerator:            
Net loss attributable to common stock—basic and diluted   $ (1,340,584 )   $ (4,092,297) 

                 
Denominator:                

Weighted average shares—basic and diluted     11,404,262       9,804,988  
Net loss per share attributable to common stock—basic and diluted   $ (0.12 )   $ (0.42) 
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The following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of the diluted 
net loss per share attributable to common stock for the periods presented because their effect would have been anti-dilutive. 

  
    Year Ended December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Stock options     47,332       37,130  
Unvested restricted stock awards     390,787       227,981  
Common stock warrants     240,100       —  
  
Note 16. Income Taxes 

  
The provision for income taxes consists of the following: 

  
    December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Current (provision) benefit:                
Federal   $ -     $ -  
State     37,514       8,000  
Total Current     37,514       8,000  
Deferred provision benefit:                
Federal     (37,580 )     -  
State     (8,405 )     -  
Total deferred     (45,985 )     -  
Income tax benefit   $ 8,471     $ 8,000  
  

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal rate to the Company’s effective tax rate consists of the following: 
  
    For the Years Ended December 31,   
    2020     2019   
Provision for federal income taxes at statutory rates     283,974       (21 )%     861,062       (21)%
Provision for state income taxes, net of federal benefit     (186 )     - %     79,435       (2)%
Change in valuation allowance     (271,799 )     20 %     (926,681 )     23% 
Nondeductible expenses     (4,199 )     - %     (7,437 )     -% 
Return to provision adjustments     740       - %     2,172       -% 
Other     (59 )     - %     (551 )     -% 
Income tax benefit     8,471       1 %     8,000       -% 
Effective Tax Rate     0.63 %             0.20 %        

  
The tax effects of the temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to the deferred tax assets consist of the 

following: 
  
    December 31,   
    2020     2019   

Deferred tax assets                
Net Operating Loss Carryforward   $ 2,103,091     $ 1,469,052  
Property and equipment     6,207       430  
Intangibles     (38,952 )     -  
Reserves     14,859       -  
Interest Expense Carryforward     52,965       33,741  
Lease liability     100,705       60,843  
Charitable Contributions Carryover     5,197       5,189  
Total deferred tax assets     2,244,072       1,569,255  

Deferred tax liabilities                
Internally Developed Software     (172,780 )     (105,869) 
Stock Compensation     (125,670 )     (19,093) 
Right-of-Use Assets     (99,768 )     (60,386) 
Prepaid Expenses     (197,599 )     (7,453) 
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    December 31,   
    2020     2019   

Total deferred tax liabilities     (595,817 )     (192,801) 
Valuation Allowance     (1,648,255 )     (1,376,454) 
Deferred tax asset, net   $ -     $ -  

  
As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of 

approximately $9.2 million and $6.2 million and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $4.5 million and 
$3.0 million, respectively. Losses will begin to expire, if not utilized, in 2032. Utilization of the net operating loss 
carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation according to Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as 
amended, and similar provisions. 

  
The Company applies the standards on uncertainty in income taxes contained in ASC Topic 740, Accounting for 

Income Taxes. The adoption of this interpretation did not have any impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements, as the Company did not have any significant unrecognized tax benefits during the years ended December 31, 
2020 and 2019. Currently, the statute of limitations remains open subsequent to and including the year ended December 31, 
2016. 

  
Note 17. Legal Proceedings 
  

From time to time the Company is involved in litigation, claims, and other proceedings arising in the ordinary 
course of business. Such litigation and other proceedings may include, but are not limited to, actions relating to employment 
law and misclassification, intellectual property, commercial or contractual claims, brokerage or real estate disputes, or other 
consumer protection statutes, ordinary-course brokerage disputes like the failure to disclose property defects, commission 
disputes, and vicarious liability based upon conduct of individuals or entities outside of the Company’s control, including 
agents and third-party contractor agents. Litigation and other disputes are inherently unpredictable and subject to substantial 
uncertainties and unfavorable resolutions could occur. As of December 31, 2020, there was no material litigation against the 
Company. 
  
Note 18. Subsequent Events 

  
On March 1, 2021, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary IntelliAgent, LLC, acquired substantially all 

of the assets of the Naberly Solutions (“Naberly”) business for cash consideration of $2,665,000. The $165,000 due from 
Naberly to the Company as of December 31, 2020 was netted against the Company’s purchase price payment made to 
Naberly at the acquisition closing. See Note 7 – Loan Receivable. 

  
We believe the acquisition will help to expand and further develop our proprietary intelliAgent platform and 

improve operational efficiency. Determination of the final fair value and purchase price allocation have not been completed 
as of the financial statement filing date. The Company has not presented unaudited pro forma combined results of operations 
as if Naberly was acquired as of the beginning of fiscal year 2019 because it is impracticable to do so. However, once the 
valuation and purchase price allocation are completed, the impact of such valuations might be material. 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 
  

None. 
  
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. 
  
Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
  

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required 
to be disclosed in reports filed under the Exchange Act recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the specified 
time periods and accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal 
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure. 
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Our Chief Executive Officer (who is our principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer (who is our 
principal financial officer and principal accounting officer), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2020, the 
end of our fiscal year. In designing and evaluating disclosure controls and procedures, we recognize that any disclosure 
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving the 
desired control objective. 

  
In connection with the audit of our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we 

identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we did 
not effectively apply the Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or the COSO framework, due primarily to an insufficient complement of 
personnel possessing the appropriate accounting and financial reporting knowledge and experience. Additionally, we did not 
maintain effective controls relating to reconciliation of and recording of revenue. Our management is working to remediate 
the material weakness by hiring additional qualified accounting and financial reporting personnel, and further evolving our 
accounting processes and systems. 

  
Based on their evaluation and in light of the material weakness discussed above, our Chief Executive Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31, 2020, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective at 
the reasonable assurance level in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit 
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s 
rules and forms. 
  
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
  

This Report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial 
reporting or an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of 
the SEC for newly public companies. 
  
Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting 
  

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2020 
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
  
Item 9B. Other Information.  
  

None. 
PART III 

  
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 
  

We have adopted a code of ethics relating to the conduct of our business by all of our employees, officers, and 
directors, as well as a code of conduct specifically for our principal executive officer and senior financial officers. We intend 
to disclose any amendments to, or waivers from, our codes of ethics that are required to be publicly disclosed pursuant to 
rules of the SEC by filing such amendment or waiver with the SEC. Each of these policies is posted under the “Investors - 
Governance” section of our website, www.fathomrealty.com. 
  

The other information required by this Item concerning our directors is incorporated by reference to the section 
captioned “Election of Directors” and “Corporate Governance Matters” to be contained in our proxy statement related to the 
2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the “Proxy Statement”), which information is expected to be filed with the SEC 
within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K. The information required by 
this Item concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act by our directors, executive officers and persons who 
own more than 10% of our outstanding common stock is incorporated by reference from the section captioned “Delinquent 
Section 16(a) Reports” to be contained in the Proxy Statement, if required. 

  
The information required by this Item concerning our executive officers is set forth at the end of Part I of this 

Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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Item 11. Executive Compensation. 
  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the sections captioned 
“Executive Compensation,” and “Director Compensation” in the Proxy Statement. 
  
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 
  

The following table sets forth the indicated information as of December 31, 2020 with respect to our equity 
compensation plans: 

  

Plan Category   

Number of  
securities  

to be issued 
upon  

exercise of  
outstanding 

options,  
warrants  
and rights     

Weighted- 
average  
exercise  
price of  

outstanding 
options, 

warrants  
and rights     

Number of  
securities  
remaining  

available for  
future  

issuance 
under equity 
compensation 

plans   
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders                        

2017 Stock Plan     3,182,335      $ 4.71        2,739,261   
2019 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan   1,060,778      $ 20.10        586,604   

Total     4,243,113      $ 8.03        3,325,865   
  

Our equity compensation plans consist of the Fathom Holdings Inc. 2017 Stock Plan and 2019 Omnibus Stock 
Incentive Plan, which were all approved by our shareholders. We do not have any equity compensation plans or arrangements 
that have not been approved by our shareholders. 
  

We no longer plan to grant awards under the 2017 Stock Plan. 
  

The other information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section 
captioned “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” contained in the Proxy Statement. 
  
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 
  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section captioned 
“Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” and “Corporate Governance Matters” in the Proxy Statement. 
  
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 
  

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the information under the section captioned 
“Audit Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement. 
  

PART IV 
  

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 
  
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report: 
  
(1) Financial Statements 
  

The financial statements and report of the independent registered public accounting firm are filed as part of this 
Report (see “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” at Item 8). 
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(2) Financial Statement Schedules 
  

The financial statements schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown 
in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto. 

  
(b) Exhibits. 
  
        Incorporated by Reference 

(Unless Otherwise Indicated)  
Exhibit 
Number 

  
Exhibit Title 

 
Form 

  
File 

  
Exhibit 

  
Filing Date  

                     
2.1   Stock Purchase Agreement, dated 

November 4, 2020, by and among Fathom 
Holdings Inc., Verus Title Inc., and the 
sellers named therein. 

  8-K   —   2.1   November 5, 2020 

                      
3.1   Restated Articles of Incorporation of 

Fathom Holdings Inc. 
  S-1   333-235972   3.1   January 17, 2020 

                      
3.1.1   Articles of Amendment to the Restated 

Articles of Incorporation of Fathom 
Holdings Inc., effective July 27, 2020. 

  8-K   —   3.1   August 4, 2020 

                      
3.2   Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of 

Fathom Holdings Inc. 
  S-1/A   333-235972   3.2   July 16, 2020 

4.1   Underwriter Warrant issued August 4, 
2020. 

  8-K   —   4.1   August 4, 2020 

                      
4.2   Description of Securities.   —   —   —   Filed herewith 
                      
10.1   Fathom Holdings Inc. 2017 Stock Plan. #   8-K   —   10.1   August 4, 2020 
                      
10.2   Fathom Ventures, Inc. 2017 Stock Plan 

Form of Restricted Stock Award 
Agreement. # 

  S-1   333-235972   10.2   January 17, 2020 

                      
10.3   Fathom Holdings Inc. 2019 Omnibus 

Stock Incentive Plan. # 
  8-K   —   10.2   August 4, 2020 

                      
10.4   Contribution and Exchange Agreement, 

dated August 31, 2018, by and between 
Fathom Ventures, Inc. and intelliAgent, 
LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.4   January 17, 2020 

                      
10.5   Contribution and Exchange Agreement, 

dated August 31, 2018, by and between 
Fathom Realty Holdings LLC and Fathom 
Realty Group Inc. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.5   January 17, 2020 

                      
10.6   Contribution and Exchange Agreement, 

dated September 4, 2018, by and between 
Fathom Holdings Inc. and Fathom Realty 
Holdings LLC.  

  S-1   333-235972   10.6   January 17, 2020 
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        Incorporated by Reference 
(Unless Otherwise Indicated)  

Exhibit 
Number 

  
Exhibit Title 

 
Form 

  
File 

  
Exhibit 

  
Filing Date  

10.7   Form of Fathom Agent Agreement. #   S-1   333-235972   10.7   January 17, 2020 
10.8   Commercial Lease Agreement, dated 

October 12, 2015, by and between Powell 
Commonwealth Associates, LLC and 
Fathom Realty, LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.8   January 17, 2020 

                      
10.9   Commercial Lease Agreement, entered 

into on November 21, 2017, by and 
between King Commercial Properties, 
LLC and Fathom Realty, LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.9   January 17, 2020 

                      
10.10   Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 2015, 

by and between Henderson & Murphy 
LLC and Fathom Realty Holdings, LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.10   January 17, 2020 

                      
10.11   Customer Subscription Agreement, dated 

May 1, 2018, by and between InsideRE, 
LLC and Fathom Realty, LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.11   January 17, 2020 

                      
21.1   Fathom Holdings Inc. Subsidiaries.   —   —   —   Filed herewith 
                      
23.1   Consent of BDO USA, LLP.   —   —   —   Filed herewith 
                      
31.1   Certification of the President and Chief 

Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  —   —   —   Filed herewith 

31.2   Certification of the Chief Financial 
Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  —   —   —   Filed herewith 

                      
32.1   Certification of the President and Chief 

Executive Officer, and the Chief Financial 
Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  —   —   —   Filed herewith 

                      
101.INS   XBRL Instance Document.   —   —   —   Filed herewith 
                      
101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 

Document. 
  —   —   —   Filed herewith 

                      
101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 

Linkbase Document. 
  —   —   —   Filed herewith 

                      
101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition 

Linkbase Document. 
  —   —   —   Filed herewith 

                      
101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label 

Linkbase Document. 
  —   —   —   Filed herewith 

                      
101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 

Linkbase Document. 
  —   —   —   Filed herewith 
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# Management contract or compensatory plan. 
  
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary. 
  

Registrants may voluntarily include a summary of information required by Form 10-K under this Item 16. We have 
elected not to include such summary information. 
  



 

SIGNATURES 
  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
  
  FATHOM HOLDINGS INC. 
      
Date: March 24, 2021 By: /s/ Joshua Harley 
    Joshua Harley 
    Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 
  
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
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/s/ Joshua Harley   Chief Executive Officer and Director   March 24, 2021 
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/s/ Marco Fregenal   President, Chief Financial Officer and Director   March 24, 2021 
Marco Fregenal   (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting 

Officer) 
  

          
/s/ Christopher Bennett   Director   March 24, 2021 
Christopher Bennett         
          
/s/ Jeffrey H. Coats   Director   March 24, 2021 
Jeffrey H. Coats         
          
/s/ Ravila Gupta   Director   March 24, 2021 
Ravila Gupta         
          
/s/ David Hood   Director   March 24, 2021 
David Hood         
          
/s/ Glenn Sampson   Director   March 24, 2021 
Glenn Sampson         
          
/s/ Jennifer Venable   Director   March 24, 2021 
Jennifer Venable         
  
  

 

Exhibit 4.2 
  

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 
  

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
  

The following description summarizes the material terms of our capital stock. Because it is only a summary, it does 
not contain all the information that may be important to you. For a complete description of our capital stock, you should refer 
to our Restated Articles of Incorporation and our Amended and Restated Bylaws, and to the provisions of applicable North 
Carolina law. 

  
General  
  

Our authorized capital stock consists of 100,000,000 shares of common stock with no par value, of which 
13,830,351 shares were issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020. Our common stock may be issued from time to 
time without prior approval by our shareholders. Our common stock may be issued for such consideration as may be fixed 
from time to time by our Board. 

  
Common Stock  
  

Our company, a North Carolina corporation, is authorized to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock with no par 
value per share. Each share of common stock shall have one vote per share for all purposes. The holders of a majority of the 
shares entitled to vote, present in person or represented by proxy shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of our 
shareholders. Our common stock does not provide preemptive, subscription or conversion rights and there are no redemption 
or sinking fund provisions or rights. Our common stock holders are not entitled to cumulative voting for election of our 
Board. In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our Company, holders of common stock are entitled to share 
ratably in all of our assets remaining after payment of liabilities. Holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably such 
dividends as may be declared by our Board out of funds legally available therefor as well as any distributions to the security 
holder. We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock, and do not expect to pay such dividends in the foreseeable 
future. 

  
Options  
  

As of December 31, 2020, we had outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 47,332 shares of our common 
stock, with a weighted average exercise price of $8.03 per share, under our 2017 Stock Plan and 2019 Stock Plan. 

  
Charter, Bylaw and Statutory Provisions Having Potential “Anti-takeover” Effects  
  

The following paragraphs summarize certain provisions of our articles of incorporation, bylaws and North Carolina 
law that may have the effect, or be used as a means, of delaying or preventing attempts to acquire us take control of our 
company, or to remove or replace incumbent directors, that are not first approved by our Board, even if those proposed 
actions are favored by our shareholders. 

  
 · Authorized Shares. Our amended and restated articles of incorporation currently authorize the issuance of 

100,000,000 shares of common stock. Our Board is authorized to approve the issuance of shares of our 
common stock from time to time. This provision gives our Board flexibility to effect, among other 
transactions, financings, acquisitions, stock dividends, stock splits and grants of stock options. However, 
our Board’s authority also could be used, consistent with our Board’s fiduciary duty, to deter future 
attempts to gain control of the Company by issuing additional common stock to persons friendly to 
management in order to attempt to block a tender offer, merger or other transaction by which a third party 
seeks to gain control. 
  

 · Advance Notice of Director Nominations. Our amended and restated bylaws provide for advance notice 
procedures with respect to shareholder proposals and the nomination of candidates for election as directors. 
Pursuant to these provisions, to be timely, a shareholder’s notice must meet certain requirements with 
respect to its content and be received at our principal executive offices, addressed to the secretary of our 
Company, within the proscribed time periods. These provisions may have the effect of precluding the 
conduct of certain business at a meeting if the proper procedures are not followed. These provisions may 
also discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s 
own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company. 



 

 · Special Meetings of Shareholders. Our bylaws provide that special meetings of our shareholders may be 
called only by or at the direction of (a) our Board, (b) the Chairman of our Board, (c) our President of the 
Company or (d) shareholders holding a majority of outstanding common stock.  

  
 · Amendment of Bylaws. Subject to certain limitations under North Carolina law, our bylaws may be 

amended or repealed by either our Board or our shareholders. Therefore, our Board is authorized to amend 
or repeal bylaws without the approval of our shareholders. However, a bylaw adopted, amended or repealed 
by our shareholders might not be readopted, amended or repealed by our Board alone unless our articles of 
incorporation or a bylaw adopted by our shareholders authorizes our Board to adopt, amend or repeal that 
particular bylaw or the bylaws generally.  

  
 · Action by Written Consent. No action by written consent of our shareholders can be taken without a 

meeting. 
  

Choice of Forum 
  

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, 
North Carolina state court is, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for: 

  
 · any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company;  
  
 · any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director or officer or other employee 

of the Company to the Company or the Company’s shareholders;  
  
 · any action asserting a claim against the Company or any director or officer or other employee of the 

Company arising pursuant to any provision of the North Carolina Business Corporation Act or the 
Company’s articles of incorporation or bylaws (as either may be amended from time to time); or  

  
 · any action asserting a claim against the Company or any director or officer or other employee of the 

Company governed by the internal affairs doctrine.  
  
The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ organizational documents has been 

challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any action, a court could find the choice of forum 
provisions contained in our bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in such action. These provisions would not apply to 
suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act, Securities Act or any other claim for which the 
federal courts have exclusive or concurrent jurisdiction. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest 
in our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to these provisions. Our exclusive forum provision will not 
relieve us of our duties to comply with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder, and our 
shareholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with these laws, rules and regulations. 

  
This provision of our bylaws could have the effect of discouraging others from attempting hostile takeovers and may 

also have the effect of preventing changes in our management. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult 
to accomplish transactions that shareholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests. 

  
Trading Market  
  

Our shares are listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “FTHM”. 
  

Transfer Agent  
  

The transfer agent of our common stock is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. Their address is 1 State 
Street Plaza, 30th Floor, New York, NY 10004. 

  
  

  

 

Exhibit 31.1 
  

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE 

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
  
I, Joshua Harley, certify that: 
  

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fathom Holdings Inc.; 
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, 
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report; 

  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 

controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 
  

  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared; 

  
  b) (Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313); 
  

  
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

  

  

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting; and 

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 

control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

  

  
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and 

  b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

  
March 24, 2021 By: /s/ Joshua Harley 

  

Joshua Harley 
Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer) 

  
   
   



 

Exhibit 31.2 
CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER 

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE 
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

  
 I, Marco Fregenal, certify that: 
  

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fathom Holdings Inc.; 
  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, 
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report; 

  
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 

controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 
  

  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared; 

  
  b) (Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238/34-47986 and 33-8392/34-49313); 
  

  
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

  

  

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal 
control over financial reporting; and 

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 

control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

  

  
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and 

     

  b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

  
March 24, 2021 By: /s/ Marco Fregenal 
  Marco Fregenal 
  President and Chief Financial Officer 
  (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) 
  
  
  

 

Exhibit 32.1 
  

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER 
PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
   

In connection with the Annual Report of Fathom Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Joshua 
Harley, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Marco Fregenal, President and Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge: 

  
  (1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934; and 
  

  (2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company. 

  
Date: March 24, 2021 By: /s/ Joshua Harley 
  Joshua Harley 
  Chief Executive Officer 
  (Principal Executive Officer) 

  
  By: /s/ Marco Fregenal 
  Marco Fregenal 
  President and Chief Financial Officer 
  (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) 
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 
  

FORM 10-K/A 
(Amendment No. 1) 

  

 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
  

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2020 
  

 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 
1934 

  

Commission File Number 001-39412 
  

FATHOM HOLDINGS INC. 
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its Charter) 

  

North Carolina   82-1518164 
(State or other jurisdiction of 
incorporation or organization) 

  (I.R.S. Employer 
Identification No.) 

  

2000 Regency Parkway Drive, Suite 300, Cary, North Carolina 27518 
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) 

  

(888) 455-6040 
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code) 

  

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act: 
  

Title of Each Class   Trading Symbol(s)   
Name of Each Exchange on 

Which Registered 
Common Stock, No Par Value   FTHM   The NASDAQ Capital Market 

  

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act: None 
  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes  
No  
  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Act. 
Yes  No  
  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such 
reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  Yes  No 
  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be 
submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the 
registrant was required to submit such files).  Yes  No 
  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a 
smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated 
filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. 
  

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer 
Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company 
  Emerging growth company 
  

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period 
for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange 
Act.  
  



 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the 
effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act by the registered 
public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.  
  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes  No 
 

  

As of June 30, 2020, the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter, there was no 
established public market for the registrant’s common stock and, therefore, the registrant cannot calculate the aggregate 
market value of its common stock held by non-affiliates as of such date. The aggregate market value of the registrant’s 
common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on December 31, 2020 (based on the closing sale price of $36.04 on 
that date), was approximately $178,084,452. Common stock held by each officer and director and by each person known to 
the registrant who owned 10% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be 
deemed to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes. 
  

As of March 31, 2021, there were approximately 13,979,556 shares of the registrant’s common stock outstanding. 
  

Documents Incorporated by Reference: None. 
  
  

  

 

EXPLANATORY NOTE 
  
This Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A (this “Amendment”) to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fathom Holdings Inc. 
(the “Company, “Fathom,” “we,” “us” or “our”) for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 24, 2021 (the “Original 10-K”), is being filed for the purposes of including the 
information required by Part III (Items 10-14) of Form 10-K. The Company omitted the information required by Part III in 
the Original 10-K in reliance on General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, which provides that such information may be either 
incorporated by reference from the registrant’s definitive proxy statement or included in an amendment to Form 10-K, in 
either case filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year. The Company will not file its definitive 
proxy statement within such 120 day period. Accordingly, this Amendment is being filed solely to: 
  
 • amend Part III, Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of the Original 10-K to include the information required by such items; 
  
 • delete the reference on the cover of the Original 10-K to the incorporation by reference of portions of our proxy 

statement into Part III of the Original 10-K; and 
  
 
 

• file new certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer as exhibits to this Amendment 
under Item 15 of Part IV hereof, pursuant to Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 
(the “Exchange Act”). Because no financial statement are contained within this Amendment, we are not including 
certifications pursuant to Section 906 of The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  
Except as described above, this Amendment does not modify or update disclosure in, or exhibits to, the Original 10-K, and 
such disclosure in, or exhibits to, the Original 10-K remain unchanged and speak as of the date of the filing of the Original 
10-K. In particular, the Amendment does not change any previously reported financial results, nor does it reflect events 
occurring after the date of the Original 10-K. Accordingly, this Amendment should be read in conjunction with the Original 
10-K and the Company’s filings made with the SEC subsequent to the filing of the Original 10-K. 
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PART III 
  
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 
  
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
  
The Board currently consists of eight members, each of which serve for a one-year term or until a successor has been elected 
and qualified. Vacancies on the Board may be filled only by persons elected by a majority of the remaining directors in 
office. A director elected by the Board to fill a vacancy, including vacancies created by an increase in the number of 
directors, shall serve for the remainder of the year term and until the director’s successor is duly elected and qualified. 
  
Name  Age   Director Since   Position with Fathom 
Joshua Harley  43   2009   Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Director 
             
Marco Fregenal  56   2019   President and Chief Financial Officer, Director 
             
Christopher Bennett   39   2019   Director 
             
Jeffrey Coats   62   2019   Director 
              
David C. Hood  58   2019   Director 
              
Ravila Gupta   57   2021   Director 
             
Glenn Sampson   79   2019   Director 
              
Jennifer Venable  49   2019   Director 
  
The following is a brief biography of each current director. 
  
Executive Officers 
  
Joshua Harley — Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Director 
  
Joshua Harley, our founder, has been our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since 2009. From 2007 to 2009, Mr. Harley 
served as Chief Executive Officer and Founder of Texas Home Central. Prior to that, Mr. Harley was an Internet Manager at 
Highland Homes from 2005 to 2007. From 2003 to 2005, Mr. Harley served as Founder and President of Everdrive 
Solutions, assisting automotive dealerships with outsourced internet sales and training. From 1995 until 2003, Mr. Harley 
served in the United States Marine Corps as an Infantry Sergeant, Instructor at the School of Infantry, and a Hand-to-Hand 
Combat Instructor. 
  
Among other experience, qualifications, attributes and skills, we believe Mr. Harley’s perspective as a large shareholder, his 
extensive leadership and experience as our Chief Executive Officer, his knowledge of our operations, and oversight of our 
business bring to our Board critical strategic planning and operational leadership that qualify him to serve as one of our 
directors. 
  
Marco Fregenal — President and Chief Financial Officer, Director 
  
Marco Fregenal has been our Chief Financial Officer since 2012 and has been a member of our Board since February 2019. 
He has also served as our President since January 1, 2018. Prior to this, Mr. Fregenal served as our Chief Operating Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer from May 1, 2012 to December 31, 2017. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Fregenal served as 
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of EvoApp Inc, a provider of social media business intelligence, from 
2009 to 2012. He was also the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial officer of Carpio Solutions, an information 
technology solutions company, from 2007 to 2009. Mr. Fregenal received a B.S. in economics from Rutgers University and a 
Masters in Econometrics and Operations Research from Monmouth University. 
  
We believe Mr. Fregenal’s extensive financial experience, his knowledge of our operations and oversight of our business 
qualify him to serve as one of our directors. 
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Non-Employee Directors 
  
Christopher Bennett — Director 
  
Christopher Bennett has served on our Board since February 2019. From September 2005 to the present, Mr. Bennett has 
served as Chief Executive Officer and Founder of 97th Floor, a marketing agency that focuses on search, content, social, paid 
media and digital marketing. From April 2017 to the present, Mr. Bennett has been the managing partner of 7Sixty Ventures, 
a partnership acting as angel investors in start-up companies. 
  
We believe Mr. Bennett’s extensive management and marketing skills qualify him to serve as one of our directors. 
  
Jeffrey H. Coats — Director 
  
Jeffrey Coats has served on our Board since February 2019. Mr. Coats was the Chief Executive Officer of AutoWeb, Inc. 
(formerly Autobytel, Inc.), an online automotive sales company, from December 2008 until his retirement in April 2018. 
Prior to this, he served as Managing Director of Southgate Alternative Investments from April 2006 to December 2008. 
Mr. Coats served as Chief Executive Officer of Mikronite Technologies Group Inc. from March 2002 to April 2006. 
Mr. Coats served on the board of directors of Autoweb from August 1996 to September 2018, and Tell on Demand since 
September 2014. Mr. Coats received a B.A. from the University of Georgia and an MBA from the American Graduate 
School of International Management. 
  
We believe Mr. Coats’ experience as a director of various companies, and his management experience, qualify him to serve 
as one or our directors. 
  
David C. Hood — Director 
  
David Hood has served on our Board since May 2019. Mr. Hood served as audit partner at Ernst & Young in Raleigh from 
2005 until his retirement in 2015. Prior to that, Mr. Hood was the Vice President, Finance at Quintiles Americas, currently 
known as IQVIA Holdings Inc, a leading global provider of contract research services, from 1993 to 2000, where he helped 
take the company public. Mr. Hood received a B.S. in accounting from Guilford College and is a Certified Public 
Accountant. 
  
We believe Mr. Hood’s experience in taking organizations public, capital raises, merger and acquisition transactions and 
financial acumen, qualify him to serve as one of our directors. 
  
Ravila Gupta — Director 
  
Ravila Gupta has served on our Board since March 2021. Ms. Gupta has over 10 years of executive experience in corporate 
managerial roles. Since April 2020, Ms. Gupta has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Bagchi Group, Inc., a 
private company providing business strategy, financial services, and board and executive coaching support to businesses. 
From April 2017 to April 2020, Ms. Gupta served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Council for Entrepreneurial 
Development, a non-profit organization dedicated to the development of entrepreneurs and their businesses, and from 
July 2012 to April 2017, Ms. Gupta served as President of Umicore USA Inc, a global materials technology and recycling 
group. Ms. Gupta currently serves in an advisory board role at Primo Partners LLC, a real estate and Ben & Jerry’s franchise 
development company, and previously served in an advisory role from October 2019 to December 2020 at Bennett 
Aerospace, Inc., an engineering and development company. Ms. Gupta received a B.E. in 1985 and a M.E. in 1987 from 
McGill University. She received her J.D. from North Carolina Central in 2000. 
  
We believe that Ms. Gupta’s background in executive management qualifies her to serve as one of our directors. 
  
Glenn A. Sampson — Director 
  
Glenn Sampson has served on our Board since February 2019. Mr. Sampson served in various positions at Exxon Mobil 
Corporation from 1965 until his retirement in 2000, with his most recent position being Manager, Data Management, in the 
Controller’s Department. Since retirement he has served in various volunteer roles. Mr. Sampson received his B.S. from 
Stanford University and a M.B.A. from Northwestern University. Mr. Sampson is the father-in-law of Joshua Harley. 
  
We believe Mr. Sampson’s more than five decades of general and financial management experience qualify him to serve as 
one of our directors. 
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Jennifer B. Venable — Director 
  
Jennifer Venable has served on our Board since February 2019. From April 2013 to the present, Ms. Venable has served as 
Vice President and General Counsel at Capitol Broadcasting Company, Inc. From September 2009 to April 2013, 
Ms. Venable was General Counsel at Alfresco Software, Inc. Prior to that, Ms. Venable served as Commercial Counsel and 
as Senior Partner Manager of Red Hat, Inc. from September 2002 to July 2009 and as in-house counsel for an internet start-
up and in private practice. Ms. Venable received her BA in Government and Sociology from The College of William and 
Mary and her JD from The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill. 
  
We believe Ms. Venable’s experience with complex legal issues, corporate governance, international business, and project 
management qualify her to serve as one of our directors. 
  
INFORMATION REGARDING COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD 
  
The Board has three committees: an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee and a Nominating and Governance 
Committee. The following table provides the current membership for each of the Board committees: 
  

    
Audit  

Committee   
Compensation 

Committee   
Nominating & 

Governance Committee 
Christopher Bennett         
              
Jeffrey H. Coats       
              
Marco Fregenal             
              
Joshua Harley             
              
David C. Hood         
              
Ravila Gupta             
              
Glenn Sampson             
              
Jennifer Venable         

  
= Committee Chair 

  
= Member 

  
Audit Committee 
  
Our audit committee consists of Messrs. Hood (Chair), Coat, and Ms. Venable. Each of Messrs. Hood, Coats and 
Ms. Venable satisfy the independence requirements of Rules 5605(a)(2) and 5605(c)(2) of the NASDAQ Stock Market 
listing rules and Section 10A(m)(13) of the Exchange Act. 
  
The Board has affirmatively determined that Mr. Hood is designated as the “audit committee financial expert” and that he 
meets the definition of an “independent director” for purposes of serving on an audit committee under the NASDAQ Stock 
Market listing rules. The designation does not impose on Mr. Hood any duties, obligations or liabilities that are greater than 
those generally imposed on members of our audit committee and our Board. 
  
Compensation Committee 
  
Our compensation committee consists of Messrs. Coats (Chair), Bennett and Hood. Each of Messrs. Coats, Bennett and Hood 
satisfy the independence requirements of Rules 5605(a)(2) and 5605(d)(2) of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules. 
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Nominating and Governance Committee 
  
Our nominating and governance committee consists of Ms. Venable (Chair) and Messrs. Bennett and Coats. Each of 
Ms. Venable and Messrs. Bennett and Coats satisfy the independence requirements of Rule 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ 
Stock Market listing rules. 
  
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
  
Name  Age  Position(s) with Fathom Holdings Inc. 
Joshua Harley  43   Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 
Marco Fregenal  56  President and Chief Financial Officer 
Samantha 
Giuggio  51   Chief Broker Operations Officer 
  
The biographies for Joshua Harley and Marco Fregenal, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, are located 
in “Board of Directors” above. 
  
Samantha Giuggio — Chief Broker Operations Officer 
  
Samantha Giuggio, age 51, has served as our Chief Broker Operations Officer since June 2019. Prior to this, she served as 
Senior Vice President from October 2015 to June 2019. From April 2014 to October 2015, Ms. Giuggio served as our 
Regional Vice President and Vice President of Operations. She also served as our District Director RDU from February 2013 
to April 2014. She served as an Agent and Group Leader Training Coordinator with us prior to this. Ms. Giuggio received an 
associate’s degree in hospitality management from Holyoke Community College. 
  
CODE OF CONDUCT 
  
We adopted a code of ethics relating to the conduct of our business by all of our employees, officers, and directors, as well as 
a code of conduct specifically for our principal executive officer and senior financial officers. We also adopted a corporate 
communications policy for our employees and directors establishing guidelines for the disclosure of information to the 
investing public, market analysts, agents, dealers, investment advisors, the media, and any persons who are not our 
employees or directors. Additionally, we adopted an insider trading policy to establish guidelines for our employees, officers, 
directors, and consultants regarding transactions in our securities and the disclosure of our material nonpublic information. 
Each of these policies is posted on our website, https://www.FathomRealty.com. 
  
Item 11. Executive Compensation. 
  
DIRECTOR COMPENSATION FOR 2020 
  
Our directors who are employed by us do not receive any additional compensation for serving on our Board, and our non-
employee directors receive cash and equity compensation as described below. 
  
During our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, each non-employee director received an annual retainer of $15,000 per year 
in cash compensation, as well as $25,000 in one-year time-vesting stock options. In addition, we paid the Audit and 
Compensation Committee chairs the following cash and equity fees for serving in such position: 
  
Compensation Committee Chair 
  
$10,000 per year in cash, paid quarterly; and 
  
$15,000 in one-year time-vesting stock options. 
  
Audit Committee Chair 
  
$15,000 per year in cash, paid quarterly; and 
  
$15,000 in one-year time-vesting stock options. 
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Effective February 2, 2021, each non-employee director will receive an annual retainer of $50,000 per year in cash 
compensation, as well as $100,000 in one-year time-vesting stock options. In addition, we increased the amount of cash 
compensation our chairs will receive each quarter they serve in such position to: (i) $30,000 per year in cash, paid quarterly 
for the Audit Committee Chair; and (ii) $15,000 per year in cash, paid quarterly for our Compensation Committee and 
Nominating and Governance Committee Chairs. 
  
We cover the travel costs for Board members to attend four in-person Board meetings a year, or any additional in-person 
Board meetings duly called by the Chairman of the Board. 
  
The following table sets forth the total compensation earned by each of our non-employee directors serving in 2020. 
  

Name  

Fees Earned or 
Paid in Cash 

($)     

Option 
Awards 
($)(1)(2)     

Total 
($)   

Christopher Bennett $ 26,250     $ 11,705     $ 37,955  
Jeffrey H. Coats $ 38,500     $ 21,458     $ 59,958  
David C. Hood $ 47,500     $ 23,410     $ 70,910  
Glenn Sampson $ 26,250     $ 11,705     $ 37,955  
Jennifer Venable $ 26,250     $ 11,705     $ 37,955  
  
 * Ravila Gupta was appointed to our Board in March 2021, and therefore did not receive any compensation in 2020. 
  
 (1) The amounts shown in this column represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options computed in accordance 

with ASC 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation. The amount represents the grant date fair value of the stock 
options granted. 

  
 (2) At December 31, 2020, each of Mr. Bennett, Mr. Sampson and Ms. Venable had 6,797 options outstanding, of which 

5,304 were exercisable. Mr. Coats had 11,224 options outstanding, of which 8,487 were exercisable. Mr. Hood had 
11,473 options outstanding, of which 8,487 were exercisable. 

  
Messrs. Fregenal and Harley are both named executive officers, and both also serve as director, and neither received 
additional compensation for service provided as a director in 2020. 
  
DELINQUENT SECTION 16(a) REPORTS 
  
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers, directors, and persons who beneficially own more than 
10% of a registered class of our common stock or other equity securities to file with the SEC certain reports of ownership and 
reports of changes in ownership of our securities. Executive officers, directors, and stockholders who hold more than 10% of 
our outstanding registered common stock are required by the SEC to furnish us with copies of all required forms filed under 
Section 16(a). Based solely on a review of this information and written representations from these persons that no other 
reports were required, we believe that, during the prior fiscal year all of our executive officers, directors, and, to our 
knowledge, 10% shareholders complied with the filing requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, except Samantha 
Giuggio who filed a Form 4 on April 29, 2021 to report the October 19, 2020 grant of 6,974 shares of the Company’s 
common stock, and the grant of 3 shares of the Company’s common stock issued to her husband, Nicholas Giuggio, and filed 
another Form 4 on April 29, 2021, to report the December 24, 2020 grant of 1 share of the Company’s common stock issued 
to her husband, Nicholas Giuggio. 
  
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
  
The following discussion of compensation arrangements should be read with the compensation tables and related disclosures 
set forth below. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on our current plans and expectations 
regarding future compensation programs, see “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Actual compensation 
programs that we adopt may differ materially from the programs summarized in this discussion. 
  
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 
  
The following table shows for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, compensation awarded to or paid to, or 
earned by, anyone serving as principal executive officer during the most recently completed fiscal year and our next two most 
highly compensated executive officers who were serving as executive officers during the year ended December 31, 2020 (the 
“Named Executive Officers”). 
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Our Named Executive Officers for fiscal year 2020 were: 
  
 • Joshua Harley, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer; 
 • Marco Fregenal, President and Chief Financial Officer; and 
 • Samantha Giuggio, Chief Broker Operations Officer. 
  
Name and Principal  
Position   Year   Salary(1)     Bonus     

Option  
Awards     

Stock 
Awards     

All Other 
Compensation     Total   

Joshua Harley   2020   $ 350,000     $ 271,150     $ -     $ -    $ 6,292 (2)   $ 627,442  
Chief Executive Officer, 
Principal Executive Officer   2019   $ 350,000     $ 176,050     $ -     $ -     $ 11,112 (3)   $ 537,162  
                                                    
Marco Fregenal   2020   $ 335,417     $ 283,865     $ -     $ -    $ 15,900 (4)   $ 635,182  
Chief Financial Officer and 
Principal Financial Officer   2019   $ 350,000     $ 151,050     $ -     $ -     $ 16,300 (5)   $ 517,350  
                                                    
Samantha Giuggio   2020   $ 191,584     $ 1,500     $ -     $ 150,011 (6)   $ 20,372 (7)   $ 363,467  
    2019   $ 177,000     $ -     $       -     $ 75,000 (8)   $ 11,850 (9)   $ 263,850  
  

 

(1) Reflects base salary earned during the fiscal year covered. 
  
 (2) Includes $6,292 in medical insurance premiums. 
  
 (3) Includes $9,983 in medical insurance premiums and $1,129 attributable to use of a Company automobile. 
  
 (4) Includes $15,900 attributable to an automobile allowance. 
  
 (5) Includes $2,000 in medical insurance premiums and $14,300 attributable to an automobile allowance. 
  
 (6) Represent the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock awards computed in accordance with ASC 718, 

Compensation — Stock Compensation. Ms. Giuggio received a restricted stock award on October 19, 2020 in the 
amount of 6,974 shares, which vests in full on October 18, 2023. 

  
 (7) Includes $8,503 in medical insurance premiums, $12,858 attributable to an automobile allowance, and $7,463 in real 

estate commissions. 
  
 (8) Represent the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock awards computed in accordance with ASC 718, 

Compensation — Stock Compensation. Ms. Giuggio received a restricted stock award on January 2, 2019 in the amount 
of 15,912 shares, which vested immediately. 

  
 (9) Includes $11,850 in medical insurance premiums. 
  
Narrative to Summary Compensation Table 
  
We review compensation annually for all employees, including our Named Executive Officers. In setting annual base salaries 
and bonuses and granting equity incentive awards, we consider compensation for comparable positions in the market, 
individual performance as compared to our expectations and objectives, our desire to motivate our employees to achieve 
short- and long-term results that are in the best interests of our stockholders, and a long-term commitment to our Company. 
  
Our Board determines our executives’ compensation based on the recommendations of our Compensation Committee, which 
typically reviews and discusses management’s proposed compensation with the Chief Executive Officer or Executive Chair 
of the Board for all executives other than the Chief Executive Officer or Executive Chair of the Board. Based on those 
discussions and its discretion, the Compensation Committee then recommends the compensation for each executive officer. 
Our Board, without members of management present, discusses the Compensation Committee’s recommendations and 
ultimately approves the compensation of our executive officers. 
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Outstanding Equity Awards as of December 31, 2020 
  
The following table shows outstanding equity awards as of December 31, 2020. 
  
   Stock Awards   

Name  
Number of Shares or units of 
stock that have not vested (#)     

Market Value of shares or units 
of stock that have not vested ($)   

Joshua Harley    __     __ 
Marco Fregenal    __     __ 
Samantha Giuggio    6,974 (1)   $ 251,343 (2)

  
 (1) The shares were granted on October 19, 2020 and are restricted and vest in full on October 18, 2023. 
  
 (2) Based on $36.04 per share which was the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2020, the last trading 

day of that fiscal year. 
  
Employment Agreements 
  
We have not entered into employment agreements with any of our Named Executive Officers. 
  
Annual Base Salary 
  
Base salaries for our Named Executive Officers have generally been set at levels deemed necessary to attract and retain 
individuals with superior talent. The following table presents the annual base salaries for each of our Named Executive 
Officers for 2020, as determined by the Board and the Compensation Committee. 
  

Name   
2020 Base 

Salary   
Joshua Harley   $ 350,000   
Marco Fregenal   $ 350,000   
Samantha Giuggio   $ 225,000   

  
Annual Bonus 
  
Our discretionary bonus plan motivates and rewards our Named Executive Officers for achievements relative to our goals and 
expectations for each fiscal year. Our Named Executive Officers are eligible to receive discretionary annual bonuses based on 
our Compensation Committee and Board’s assessment of their individual performance and our Company’s results of 
operations and financial condition. 
  
In 2020, as recommended by the Compensation Committee and approved by the Board, our Named Executive Officers 
employed with the Company at end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 earned a bonus relative to achievement of 
goals for fiscal year 2020. 
  
Equity-Based Awards 
  
Our equity-based incentive awards are designed to align our interests with those of our employees and consultants, including 
our Named Executive Officers. Our Compensation Committee is generally responsible for approving equity grants. Vesting 
of equity awards is generally tied to continuous service with us and serves as an additional retention measure. Our executives 
generally are awarded an initial new hire grant upon commencement of employment. Additional grants may occur 
periodically in order to specifically incentivize executives. 
  
Our Board adopted, and our stockholders approved, our 2019 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the "2019 Plan"), which 
replaced our 2017 Stock Plan. The 2017 Plan became effective on May 11, 2017. The 2019 Plan became effective on 
August 9, 2019. 
  
The purpose of our 2019 Plan is to attract and retain employees, non-employee directors and consultants and advisors. Our 
2019 Plan authorizes us to make grants to eligible recipients of non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, restricted 
stock awards, restricted stock units and stock-based awards. 
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Other Compensation 
  
Our Named Executive Officers did not participate in, or otherwise receive any benefits under, any pension or deferred 
compensation plan sponsored by us during 2020 or 2019. 
  
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters. 
  
EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS 
  
The following table sets forth the indicated information as of December 31, 2020 with respect to our equity compensation 
plans: 
  

Plan Category   

Number of securities 
to 

be issued upon 
exercise 

of outstanding 
options, 

warrants and rights     

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights     

Number of 
securities 

remaining available 
for future issuance 

under equity compensation
plans   

Equity compensation plans approved by 
security holders                        

2017 Stock Plan    3,182,335     $ 4.71       2,739,261   
2019 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan    1,060,778     $ 20.10       586,604   

         
                

Total    4,243,113     $ 8.03       3,325,865   
  
Our equity compensation plans consist of the Fathom Holdings Inc. 2017 Stock Plan and the 2019 Omnibus Stock Incentive 
Plan, which were each approved by our shareholders. We do not have any equity compensation plans or arrangements that 
have not been approved by our shareholders. 
  
We no longer plan to grant awards under the 2017 Stock Plan. 
  

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
  
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 31, 
2021 unless otherwise noted below for the following: 
  
 • each person or entity known to own beneficially more than 5% of our outstanding common stock as of the date 

indicated in the corresponding footnote; 
 • each of our Named Executive Officers; 
 • each director; and 
 • all current directors and executive officers as a group. 
  
Applicable percentage ownership is based on 13,979,556 shares of our common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2021, 
unless otherwise noted below, together with applicable options for each shareholder. Beneficial ownership is determined in 
accordance with the rules of the SEC, based on factors including voting and investment power with respect to shares. 
Common stock subject to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days after March 31, 2021 are deemed 
outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of the person holding those securities, but are not deemed 
outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each 
listed shareholder is c/o Fathom Holdings Inc., 2000 Regency Parkway Drive, Suite 300, Cary, North Carolina 27518. 
  

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner   

Shares 
Beneficially 

Owned     

Percentage 
Beneficially 

Owned   
5% Shareholders                
Patrick Lee(1)     862,890       6.17%
                 
Directors and Named Executive Officers                
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Name and Address of Beneficial Owner   

Shares 
Beneficially 

Owned     

Percentage 
Beneficially 

Owned   
Joshua Harley(2)     4,969,708       35.55%
Marco Fregenal(3)     1,325,709       9.48%
Samantha Giuggio(4)     41,374       *  
Christopher Bennett(5)     5,304       *  
Jeffrey H. Coats(6)     8,487       *  
David C. Hood(6)     8,487       *  
Ravila Gupta     0       *  
Glenn Sampson(5)     2,356,834       16.85%
Jennifer Venable(5)     5,304       *  
All current directors and executive officers as a group (9 individuals)     8,721,207       62.24%
  
  

*      Represent beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the shares of common stock outstanding. 
  
 (1) Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on March 29, 2021. Patrick Lee’s address reported in his Schedule 13G is 

PO Box 274, Brea, CA 92822. 
  
 (2) Includes an aggregate of 1,700,000 shares held by three trusts for which Mr. Harley serves as a trustee and one of which 

he is a beneficiary. Also includes 9,558 shares under a restricted stock award that will vest on March 4, 2024. 
  
 (3) Includes 8,359 shares under a restricted stock award that will vest on March 4, 2024. Does not include 150,000 shares 

held by a trust for the benefit of the reporting person’s children. The reporting person’s spouse is trustee of the trust. 
Also, does not include 329 shares of restricted stock held by the reporting person’s spouse, which will vest on March 4, 
2024. The reporting person disclaims beneficial ownership of these securities. 

  
 (4) Includes 4,837 shares owned by Ms. Giuggio’s husband. Also includes 3,043 shares under a restricted stock award that 

will vest on March 4, 2024. 
  
 (5) Consists of options to purchase 5,304 shares of common stock that have vested in full. 
  
 (6) Consists of options to purchase 8,487 shares of common stock that have vested in full. 
  
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence. 
  

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
  
Set forth below is a description of certain relationships and related person transactions since January 1, 2019 between us or 
our subsidiaries, and our directors, executive officers and holders of more than 5% of our voting securities that involve the 
lower of  $120,000 or 1% of the average of total assets in the last two fiscal years. We believe that all of the following 
transactions were entered into with terms as favorable as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties. 
  
Hometown Heroes Holdings, LLC 
  
Hometown Heroes Holdings, LLC (“HTH”) is a real estate portal that generates real estate leads. HTH is fully-owned by 
Joshua Harley, Marco Fregenal, and Glenn Sampson. Messrs. Harley and Fregenal currently serve as our officers and all 
three individuals are directors and shareholders of our company. 
  
During the period between September 2013 through March 2019, we loaned a total of $609,408 to HTH. 
  
HTH paid the full balance of its loan in July of 2019. 
  
We also contract with HTH for generated real estate leads. For each of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020, HTH 
paid us a total of $467,000 and $287,000, respectively, for these leads. 
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Real Deal Branding LLC 
  
In the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company paid Real Deal Branding LLC approximately $175,000 for agent 
marketing materials. Real Deal Branding LLC is a marketing firm which is co-owned by Jennifer Stertz and Geoffrey Stertz, 
Mr. Harley’s sister and brother-in-law. Mr. Stertz is also the Company’s current Director of Marketing. Previously, the 
disinterested members of the Board, after discussion and review of the material facts, approved entering into a contract with 
Real Deal Branding LLC, and believed it to be in the best interests of the Company. 
  
Director Independence 
  
The Board has established an audit committee, compensation committee, and nominating and governance committee. Our 
audit committee consists of independent directors Messrs. Hood (Chair), Coats and Ms. Venable. Our compensation 
committee consists of independent directors Messrs. Coats (Chair), Bennett, and Hood. Our nominating and governance 
committee consists of independent directors Ms. Venable (Chair) and Messrs. Bennett and Coats. The audit committee, 
compensation committee, and nominating and governance committee were established in February 2019 in anticipation of 
our initial public offering. 
  
The Board has undertaken a review of the independence of our directors and has determined that Messrs. Bennett, Coats, 
Hood, Ms. Gupta and Ms. Venable are independent within the meaning of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules. In 
addition, the board has determined that Mr. Hood meets the additional test for independence for audit committee members 
and Messrs. Bennett, Coats and Hood meet the additional test for independence for compensation committee members 
imposed by SEC regulation and the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules. 
  
Family Relationships 
  
There is no family relationship between any director, executive officer or person nominated to become a director or executive 
officer of our Company other than Mr. Sampson who is Mr. Harley’s father-in-law. 
  
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 
  
BDO USA, LLP (“BDO”) has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since 2018 and audited our 
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2018 through December 31, 2020. 
  
Summary of Fees 
  
Our audit committee has adopted a policy for the pre-approval of all audit and permitted non-audit services that may be 
performed by our independent registered public accounting firm. Under this policy, each year, at the time it engages an 
independent registered public accounting firm, our audit committee pre-approves the engagement terms and fees and may 
also pre-approve detailed types of audit-related and permitted tax services, subject to certain dollar limits, to be performed 
during the year. All other permitted non-audit services are required to be pre-approved by our audit committee on an 
engagement-by-engagement basis. 
  

The following table summarizes the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered to us by BDO in 2020 and 2019. 
A description of these various fees and services follows the table. 
  

    2020     2019   
Audit Fees   $ 410,638     $ 327,138  
Audit-Related Fees     —      —  
Tax Fees     27,850       27,850  
All Other Fees     —      —  
  

All fees described above were pre-approved by the Audit Committee. 
  

Audit Fees 
  

The aggregate fees billed to us by BDO in connection with the annual audit of our financial statements, for the review of our 
financial statements included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Annual Report on Form 10-K and for other services 
normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings, were $410,638 and $327,138 for the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The increase in audit fees in 2020 relates primarily to additional Audit Fees 
incurred for the review of our financial statements and the related notes thereto included in our Form S-1 for our initial public 
offering and increased fees related to being a public company. 
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Audit-Related Fees 
  
No aggregate audit-related fees were billed to us by BDO for the years ended December 31, 2020 or 2019. 
  
Tax Fees 
  
Tax fees billed to us by BDO for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning were $27,850 and 
$24,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
  
All Other Fees 
  
There were no other fees billed to us by BDO for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
  
PRE-APPROVAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES\ 
  
Our audit committee has adopted a policy for the pre-approval of all audit and permitted non-audit services that may be 
performed by our independent registered public accounting firm. Under this policy, each year, at the time it engages an 
independent registered public accounting firm, our audit committee pre-approves the engagement terms and fees and may 
also pre-approve detailed types of audit-related and permitted tax services, subject to certain dollar limits, to be performed 
during the year. All other permitted non-audit services are required to be pre-approved by our audit committee on an 
engagement-by-engagement basis. 
  
The Audit Committee has determined that the rendering of services other than audit services by BDO is compatible with 
maintaining the principal accountant’s independence. 
  

PART IV 
  
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules. 
  
(a)    The following documents are filed as part of this report: 
  
(1) Financial Statements 
  

The financial statements and report of the independent registered public accounting firm are filed as part of this 
Report (see “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” at Item 8). 
  
(2) Financial Statement Schedules 
  

The financial statements schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is shown 
in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto. 
  
(b)    Exhibits. 
  
      Incorporated by Reference 

(Unless Otherwise Indicated) 
Exhibit 
Number 

   
Exhibit Title 

    
Form 

    
File 

    
Exhibit 

    
Filing Date 

                   
2.1  Stock Purchase Agreement, dated 

November 4, 2020, by and among Fathom 
Holdings Inc., Verus Title Inc., and the sellers 
named therein.*  

  8-K   —   2.1   November 5, 2020

                   
3.1  Restated Articles of Incorporation of Fathom 

Holdings Inc. 
  S-1   333-235972   3.1   January 17, 2020

3.1.1  Articles of Amendment to the Restated 
Articles of Incorporation of Fathom Holdings 
Inc., effective July 27, 2020. 

  8-K   —   3.1   August 4, 2020
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      Incorporated by Reference 
(Unless Otherwise Indicated) 

Exhibit 
Number 

   
Exhibit Title 

    
Form 

    
File 

    
Exhibit 

    
Filing Date 

                   
3.2  Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of 

Fathom Holdings Inc. 
  S-1/A   333-235972   3.2   July 16, 2020

      
4.1  Underwriter Warrant issued August 4, 2020.   8-K   —   4.1   August 4, 2020
                   
4.2(1)  Description of Securities.   10-K   —     4.2   March 24, 2021
                   
10.1  Fathom Holdings Inc. 2017 Stock Plan. #   8-K   —   10.1   August 4, 2020
                   
10.2  Fathom Ventures, Inc. 2017 Stock Plan 

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement. 
# 

  S-1   333-235972   10.2   January 17, 2020

                   
10.3  Fathom Holdings Inc. 2019 Omnibus Stock 

Incentive Plan. # 
  8-K   —   10.2   August 4, 2020

                   
10.4  Contribution and Exchange Agreement, dated 

August 31, 2018, by and between Fathom 
Ventures, Inc. and intelliAgent, LLC.  

  S-1   333-235972   10.4   January 17, 2020

                   
10.5  Contribution and Exchange Agreement, dated 

August 31, 2018, by and between Fathom 
Realty Holdings LLC and Fathom Realty 
Group Inc.  

  S-1   333-235972   10.5   January 17, 2020

                   
10.6  Contribution and Exchange Agreement, dated 

September 4, 2018, by and between Fathom 
Holdings Inc. and Fathom Realty Holdings 
LLC.  

  S-1   333-235972   10.6   January 17, 2020

                   
10.7  Form of Fathom Agent Agreement. #   S-1   333-235972   10.7   January 17, 2020
      
10.8  Commercial Lease Agreement, dated 

October 12, 2015, by and between Powell 
Commonwealth Associates, LLC and Fathom 
Realty, LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.8   January 17, 2020

                   
10.9  Commercial Lease Agreement, entered into 

on November 21, 2017, by and between King 
Commercial Properties, LLC and Fathom 
Realty, LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.9   January 17, 2020

                   
10.10  Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 2015, by 

and between Henderson & Murphy LLC and 
Fathom Realty Holdings, LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.10   January 17, 2020

                   
10.11  Customer Subscription Agreement, dated 

May 1, 2018, by and between InsideRE, LLC 
and Fathom Realty, LLC. 

  S-1   333-235972   10.11   January 17, 2020

                   
21.1(1)  Fathom Holdings Inc. Subsidiaries.   10-K   001-39412   21.1   March 24, 2021
                   
23.1(1)  Consent of BDO USA, LLP.   10-K   001-39412   23.1   March 24, 2021
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      Incorporated by Reference 
(Unless Otherwise Indicated) 

Exhibit 
Number 

   
Exhibit Title 

    
Form 

    
File 

    
Exhibit 

    
Filing Date 

                   
31.1(1)  Certification of the President and Chief 

Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

  10-K   001-39412   31.1   March 24, 2021

      
31.2(1)  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer 

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 

  10-K   001-39412   31.2   March 24, 2021

                   
31.3  Certification of the President and Chief 

Executive Officer  pursuant to Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  —   —   —   Filed herewith

                   
31.4  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer 

pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002. 

  —   —   —   Filed herewith

                   
32.1(1)  Certification of the President and Chief 

Executive Officer, and the Chief Financial 
Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

  10-K   —   32.1   March 24, 2021

                   
101.INS(1)  XBRL Instance Document.   10-K   —   101.INS   March 24, 2021
                   
101.SCH(1)  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema 

Document. 
  10-K   —   101.SCH   March 24, 2021

                   
101.CAL(1)  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation 

Linkbase Document. 
  10-K   —   101.CAL   March 24, 2021

                   
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition 

Linkbase Document. 
  10-K   —   101.DEF   March 24, 2021

                   
101.LAB(1)  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase 

Document. 
  10-K   —   101.LAB   March 24, 2021

                   
101.PRE(1)  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation 

Linkbase Document. 
  10-K   —   101.PRE   March 24, 2021

  
 (1) Previously filed with our Original 10-K. 

* The schedules to the Purchase Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The 
Company agrees to furnish a copy of any schedule omitted from the Purchase Agreement to the SEC upon request. 
# Management contract or compensatory plan. 

  

 

SIGNATURES 
  
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 
this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
  
  FATHOM HOLDINGS INC. 
      
Date: April 29, 2021 By: /s/ Joshua Harley 
    Joshua Harley 
    Chief Executive Officer 

(Principal Executive Officer) 
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Exhibit 31.3 
  

CERTIFICATION 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

  
I, Joshua Harley, certify that: 
  
1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fathom Holdings Inc.; and 
    
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report. 

  
Date: April 29, 2021 /s/ Joshua Harley 
  Joshua Harley 

Chief Executive Officer 
(Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer and Principal Executive 
Officer) 

  
  



 

Exhibit 31.4 
  

CERTIFICATION 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

  
I, Marco Fregenal, certify that: 
  
1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Fathom Holdings Inc.; and 
    
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 

fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report. 

  
Date: April 29, 2021 /s/ Marco Fregenal 
  Marco Fregenal 

Chief Financial Officer 
(Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer and Principal Financial 
Officer) 
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Board of Directors 

Joshua Harley, Chairman 
Founder and Chief Executive Officer, Fathom Holdings Inc. 

Marco Fregenal, Director 
President and Chief Financial Officer, Fathom Holdings Inc. 

Christopher Bennett, Director 
Founder and Chief Executive Officer, 97th Floor 

Jeffrey Coats, Director 
Former Chief Executive Officer, AutoWeb, Inc.

Ravila Gupta, Director 
President and Chief Executive Officer, Bagchi Group 

David C. Hood, Director 
Former Audit Partner, Ernst & Young

Glenn A. Sampson, Director 
Former Manager, Data Management, Exxon Mobil 

Jennifer B. Venable, Director 
Vice President and General Counsel, Capitol Broadcasting Company, Inc. 

Financial Reports 

Copies of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as amended, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission are available at www.fathomrealty.com or on
request, free of charge, by calling (888) 455-6040 or emailing 
investorrelations@fathomrealty.com. 
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